Polyatomic Logics and Generalised Blok-Esakia Theory with Applications to Orthologic and KTB

MSc Thesis (Afstudeerscriptie)

written by

Rodrigo Nicolau Almeida (born November 5 1995 in Tomar, Portugal)

under the supervision of **dr. Nick Bezhanishvili** and **dr. Tommaso Moraschini**, and submitted to the Examinations Board in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MSc in Logic

at the Universiteit van Amsterdam.

Date of the public defense:	Members of the Thesis Committee:
September 20 2022	prof. dr. Yde Venema (chair)
	dr. Nick Bezhanishvili (co-supervisor)
	dr. Tommaso Moraschini (co-supervisor)
	prof. dr. Wesley Holliday
	dr. Johannes Marti



INSTITUTE FOR LOGIC, LANGUAGE AND COMPUTATION

Abstract

This thesis presents a study of translations, special "hybrid" logical systems developed on the basis of these translations, and general Blok-Esakia theory. This is done on two levels: the development of a theoretical framework for analysing such questions, as well as an analysis of the special case of orthologic.

On the first front, inspired by the Kolmogorov Double Negation Translation, and DNA-Logics, we develop a general notion of "Polyatomic Logics", which can be studied for a wide class of translations. These logics serve as "hybrids", between the two logical systems being translated, which can assist in applications, as well as in the study of the interrelations between the translated systems. We develop the basic theory of Polyatomic Logics, and prove algebraic completeness, and Birkhoff-style definability theorems of such systems.

We then develop a theory connecting such logics with "generalised modal companions" – abstracting from the classic Blok-Esakia isomorphism, and taken to mean a strong and propertypreserving connection between the extensions of two logical systems. This is contrasted with the famous Gödel-McKinsey-Tarski situation, where we show that many of the motivating results of that theory can be recovered for a class of translations we call "sober translations". Our main contribution in this respect is the introduction of the notion of a "Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism", which is shown to hold for any sober translation, and which provides a new natural correspondence between logical systems.

As a case study, we provide an analysis of the logic of ortholattices, and the Goldblatt translation of Orthologic into KTB modal logic. Our results show that many natural invariance conditons, including the Polyatomic Blok-Esakia introduced, fail for this setting. We undertake a study of the reasons for this failure, and analyse whether restricted versions of it might hold. With this goal in mind, we introduce a new duality between a subcategory of the category of ortholattices, and a subcategory of the category of orthospaces. This representation is shown to have desirable category-theoretic properties, which we use to identify appropriate expansions of orthologic and KTB. With these tools, we prove the existence of a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism between "Orthoimplicative Logic" and "Sober KTB".

Keywords: Polyatomic Logics, Blok-Esakia theory, Orthologic

Acknowledgements

I am grateful first and foremost to both of my supervisors, Nick and Tommaso, for all their support through writing this document and bringing it to light. Thank you for bearing with me through so many different project ideas, and for the slow process which eventually coalesced many of them into this work. Your insight and ideas was invaluable to me, even as some parts of this thesis began to look more and more unruly, and your comments and feedback really shaped the thesis into the way it looks now. I have learned immensely from you, in your courses as in our discussions, and hope to continue to do so for years to come.

I would also like to thank Wesley Holliday, Johannes Marti and Yde Venema for joining my thesis defence, for their insightful questions and comments on this work. I am especially grateful to Wesley for the insights into possible future developments of this work.

I also wanted to thank the whole of the ILLC community for being so welcoming and acommodating in these past few years. I especially thank Bahareh Afshari for being an invaluable source of support and advice, and for encouraging me every step of the way. I thank my friends at the ILLC – Soren, Tibo, Bobby, to name a few – for their help and their friendship. A special word for Anton, who endured my greatest doubts as to the success of all of this, and was a constant source of support. I thank my family – my parents and my brother – who supported me at all turns of this. Finally, I thank Marta – for your love, your patience, and your constant source of support, even as we were both struggling. I could not imagine any of this without you.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	5
2	Pre	liminaries	10
	2.1	Lattices and Ordered Sets	10
	2.2	Duality Theory	14
	2.3	Universal Algebra	16
	2.4	Logical Preliminaries	19
	2.5	Algebraic Logic	22
3	Tra	nslations, Adjunctions and Polyatomic Logics	25
	3.1	Classical Translations and DNA-Logics	25
	3.2	Algebraic Translations and Adjunctions	31
	3.3	Conditions on Adjunctions	34
	3.4	PAt-Logics and Quasivarieties	36
	3.5	Dual equivalence between PAt-logics and quasivarieties	44
	3.6	Chapter Summary	46
4	Ger	ieral Blok-Esakia Theory	47
	4.1	The GMT Translation and Classic Blok-Esakia Theory	47
	4.2	Sober Translations	51
	4.3	Polyatomic Logics as Generalised Companions	55
	4.4	Connecting Companions and Variants	57
	4.5	Chapter Summary	61
5	Tra	nslations of Orthologic	63
	5.1	Orthologics and Ortholattices	63
	5.2	Orthospaces and Duality	65
	5.3	Orthologic and KTB	69
	5.4	Chapter Summary	78
6	Sob	er Representations and Orthoimplicative Logic	79
	6.1	Admissible joins and Quasi-Prime Filters	79
	6.2	Orthoimplicative Systems	89
	6.3	Orthoimplicative Logic and Sober KTB	96
	6.4	The Goldblatt Translation Revisited	101
	6.5	Chapter Summary	105

7	Conclusions and Further Work	106
Bi	ibliography	108
8	Appendix	112
	8.1 Slim Orthospace Duality	. 112
	8.2 Axiomatisation of Orthoimplicative Systems	. 114
	8.3 Compatibility of Products	. 122

Chapter 1

Introduction

In the 20th century, classical logic, intuitionistic logic, modal logic, provability logic, and quantum logic, were some of many logical calculi introduced to solve questions such as what counts as a valid proof, or a valid inference in an experimental setting. Rather than wholly independent formalisms, it was noted soon after their creation that many of these systems were intimately related. Early examples included:

- Double Negation Translations, introduced by Kolmogorov [45], and developed by Gödel and Gentzen [31], which we refer to as the Kolmogorov-Gödel-Gentzen translation (KGG) which translated classical logic, CPC into intuitionistic logic, IPC.
- The *Gödel-McKinsey-Tarski translation* (GMT) [33], which translated intuitionistic logic into S4 modal logic.
- The *Goldblatt translation* [35], which translated orthologic into KTB modal logic.

All of these share the fact that they are sound and faithful translations, and that they contain a syntactic part - the actual translation - coupled with a semantic part - a transformation of the underlying models. For instance, in the KGG translation, given a Heyting algebra **H**, one considers those elements $a = \neg \neg a$, called *regular elements*. Then we can look at the set

$$\mathbf{H}^{\neg} = \{ a \in H : a = \neg \neg a \}.$$

When equipped with the meet, implication and bounds of H, as well as the operation $x \lor y := \neg \neg (x \lor y)$, yields a Boolean algebra. We call Heyting algebras **H** such that **H** is generated by its regular elements *regularly generated*.

Such translations have found applications in logic, mathematics, philosophy and linguistics, through their capacity to hybridise different domains. In this setting, the KGG translation appears as a paradigmatic example. The key idea in applications (see e.g. [43] or [16]) is that one has a set of "constructive worlds", which should be run with intuitionistic principles, together with a set of "ideal worlds", which should be run with classical principles. Thus, the double negation serves as a way to go from constructive to ideal worlds.

Motivated by this interpretation, Ciardelli et al. [16] introduced a specific logic to model questions, where the prototypical model was a regularly generated Heyting algebra. Its success later lead to the development of a general analysis of such models [5], and *DNA-logics* (named for "Double

Negation on Atoms") in [5, 6], which vastly abstract this situation: given any superintuitionistic logic L, one can take the Heyting algebras validating L and consider:

 $\operatorname{RegVar}(L) = \{H : H \text{ is a regularly generated Heyting algebra and } H \models L\}.$

Then consider the formulas, φ , such that: whenever $H \in \mathsf{RegVar}$, and $v : \mathsf{Prop} \to H$ is a valuation taking values in regular elements, $H, v \models \varphi$. Such a collection of formulas is called the *DNA-variant* of *L*. Such "logics" have the feature that they are not closed under uniform substitution, and can be axiomatised over *L* by closing under Modus Ponens the logic *L* together with the axiom on propositional variables:

$$\neg \neg p \rightarrow p.$$

The intuition behind this is worthwhile to spell out. Intuitionistic models have the property that each world sees a classical world. If $\neg \neg p$ holds in a world, this means that each classical world it sees is p – even if at the present world, p cannot be asserted. To say that one takes values in regular models, means that whenever $\neg \neg p$ holds, then p holds already. However, more complex statements such as $p \lor q$ might not be settled yet, as we can still conceive of worlds where p and not q holds and worlds where q and not p holds.

Such logics provide new domains for analysing the relationship between classical and intuitionistic logic, as well as influence new potential applications. However, through consideration of this discussion, one can be lead to conclude that this structure does not depend entirely on properties of Heyting algebras and the KGG translation. Indeed, the work was further extended to other translations by Grilletti and Quadrellaro [38], and similar subjects, aiming towards more general classes of logics, have been explored in unpublished work by Quadrellaro.

To see the breadth of these ideas, let us quickly turn to the GMT translation. We recall the semantic transformation in the GMT translation: here, given S4 algebra (B, \Box) , an element *a* is called *open* if $a = \Box a$. Then we consider:

$$B_{\Box} := \{a : a = \Box a\}.$$

Equipping this set with the induced operations from the distributive lattice as well as $a \Rightarrow b := \Box(\neg a \lor b)$, we obtain a Heyting algebra. In analogy with the situation above, given a normal extension of S4, M, we consider the set of formulas which are valid on all openly generated M-algebras, when the atomic propositions are sent to open elements. We could call this logic M^{\Box} the \Box -variant of M. Such logics might be naturally considered under a provability interpretation: one could think of hybridising contextual facts, as the domain of S4, with provable facts, as the domain of IPC. The fact that $p \to \Box p$ should be added as an axiom on atomic propositions would mean that our basic sentences (e.g., axioms), should all be provable, whereas their interrelations might not be immediately provable. For example, the sentence $p \to q$ might be true, meaning that whenever we observe p we obtain q, without $\Box(p \to q)$ being so.

As we will have opportunity to see, similar arguments can be made for the Goldblatt translation, since it works semantically by taking the \Box (\diamond -fixed points. Translations with a similar selector term are ubiquitous: we have translations from orthomodular lattices to residuated ortholattices [27]; reflexivisation translations [14, Chapter 4] in modal logic; as well as numerous substructural logics into modal systems [40]. For a great number of these, as we will see, an appropriate notion of a "hybrid" logic could be developed, but it certainly does not seem reasonable to do it one-by-one.

Hence, a natural question arises as to what conditions are needed on a translation to ensure that one can construct such a logic, and how this can be developed in general.

One of the contributions of this thesis lies in developing a theory of "Polyatomic Logics". This provides a broad generalisation of DNA-logics, to the setting of many naturally ocurring translations. This is done in Chapter 3, inspired by the work of Moraschini [53], which identifies the concept of a translation with categorical adjunction. In it, we identify the class of *selective translations* as the appropriate setting for Polyatomic logics (PAt-logics). In this sense, and in analogy with [6], we prove algebraic completeness and definability theorems for these logics with respect to appropriate (quasi-)equational classes and (quasi-)varieties. In analogy with the above situation, we also obtain completeness of these logics with respect to regularly generated algebras. We then turn to one of the interesting applications of such a theory, which takes up the rest of the thesis – the development of a general Blok-Esakia theory.

To understand this, let us return to the GMT translation. Gödel established that this translation was sound and faithful. Later work proved that the same translation also translated IPC into extensions of S4, namely the system S4.Grz. This lead to the idea of a "modal companion": given a normal extension of S4, $M \in \mathbf{NExt}(S4)$, and L a superintuitionistic logic, we say that M is a modal companion of L iff:

$$\varphi \in L \iff GMT(\varphi) \in M$$

where $GMT(\varphi)$ is the translation of φ under the GMT translation. Developments of these ideas eventually lead to the celebrated Blok-Esakia theorem, proved independently by Blok ([10]) and Esakia ([24], see also [23]). This result establishes an *isomorphism* between the lattice of superintuitionistic logics, and the lattice **NExt**(S4.Grz) of normal extensions of S4.Grz. Relevantly, this isomorphism carries with it explicit maps transforming the semantic models of the respective systems. This allows one to transfer a number of properties - such as FMP, tabularity, Kripke completeness, decidability, canonicity, amongst many others - from axiomatic extensions of S4.Grz to axiomatic extensions of IPC, and for some of these to be transfered back (see [14] for a survey of these). This further allows a number of methods to be developed uniformly between the two systems, and has highlighted, through what *does not* transfer (e.g., local tabularity, Craig interpolation), the key differences of intuitionistic versus modalised classical logic. This area of research concerning the interplay between S4.Grz and IPC can be generally described as "Blok-Esakia theory".

Given the success and acclaim of this theory, it would be desirable to understand whether, and when, one can expect similar results in the interplay between two systems. In Chapter 4, we explore this question, armed with the tools developed before. In this sense, we outline the natural generalisations of the concepts present in Blok-Esakia theory, and prove some basic properties of these. We then make use of our PAt-logics to give meaning to these concepts, and show that the study of Blok-Esakia theory can be appropriately conducted through looking at Polyatomic logics. This is done by showing that the general concepts of Blok-Esakia theory – such as greatest or least companions – correspond exactly with natural concepts from Polyatomic logic. Additionally, we introduce the concept of a PAt-Blok Esakia isomorphism, which holds when the lattice of logics of the translated system is isomorphic to the lattice of Polyatomic logics in the other system.

This approach thus bypasses the famous "Blok's lemma", which establishes that every S4.Grz logic is sound and complete with respect to its openly generated algebras, and which establishes the isomorphism in full. In fact, via these tools, all Polyatomic logics are sound and complete with respect to their regularly generated algebras; hence, from the point of view of two systems for which a PAt-Blok Esakia theorem holds, the analogue of Blok's Lemma becomes a question of axiomatising

the greatest logic having the same Polyatomic variant. This explains both its importance and its general difficulty: for instance, the greatest logic having the same DNA-variant as IPC is the well-known Medvedev Logic, a logic which is not known to have a recursive axiomatisation.

As an illustration of these methods, in Chapter 5 we take up orthologic and the Goldblatt translation. This seems like a natural use case, since it fits pretty closely to the other translations in its style, and relates systems which have long been known, but not extensively studied. A recent revival of interest in questions related to ortholattices as related to residuated structures [27] as well as modal logics [41] makes this a timely addition to studies of the topic. And importantly, this is a case which has a long history of having been signalled as potentially having some analogue of the Blok-Esakia theory [35, 18, 52, 17, 49]. Making use of the tools developed in Chapter 4, we thus proceed to investigate this case, and prove that all currently considered types of Blok-Esakia isomorphisms fail for this setting. Not only is an isomorphism impossible between "orthologics" and KTB logics, but the Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism also fails.

This raises further questions about the ways in which systems can fail to be structurally similar, even when their semantics are superficially very similar. This theme is taken up in Chapter 6. Whereas in the IPC and S4 case, the key difficulties have solely to do with regular generation of algebras, and the underlying axiomatisation, the Goldblatt translation faces other issues which we deem *sobriety problems*. In an abstract way, this can be seen as a mismatch between a more restrictive semantics of orthologic, and a broader semantics of KTB, which requires the models to be violently transformed in order to witness the translation. To fix this situation, we propose two new classes, to feature in an adapted Goldblatt translation:

- A new class of algebraic structure of ortholattices, called orthoimplicative systems, and a new logic system, called *Orthoimplicative Logic*, which is a conservative extension of Orthologic.
- A suitable fragment of KTB, called *sober* KTB, which includes an additional non-standard Π_2 -rule [2, 3] which is admissible for many interesting cases.

These developments allow us to prove a PAt Blok-Esakia isomorphism between these logical systems, which vindicate the stated intuitions that orthologics and KTB-logics should be related in a deeper manner than simply through a translation. The latter theorem requires the development of a number of topological, logical and algebraic tools, which might have independent interest.

In Chapter 7 we conclude the work, providing a brief summary of the findings as well outlining some further work. We also include some some remarks regarding work that, for reasons of space and coherence, we could not include here.

Our main contributions in this thesis can be summarised as follows:

- We introduce the notion of "selective translation", "strongly selective translation", and "sober translations", and study their basic properties;
- We introduce the concept of PAt-logics and prove algebraic completeness for them;
- We develop a generalised Blok-Esakia theory for strongly selective and sober translations, and show that PAt-logics are adequate structures for the development of such a theory;
- We introduce the concept of a "Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism";
- We prove that no isomorphism can hold between the lattices of Orthologics and KTB modal logic can hold, and the Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism fails;

- We introduce the notion of "slim orthospace", and provide a duality between a subcategory of the category of ortholattices and the category of slim orthospaces;
- We show that the above duality realises in the ortholattice case the "Distributivisation" functor;
- We introduce the concept of "Orthoimplicative System", and "Sober KTB algebra", providing a non-standard axiomatisation of them;
- We translate these results into logic, obtaining Orthoimplicative Logics and Sober KTB logics, and showing that these are logically conservative over orthologics and KTB logics for a variety of cases;
- We prove that a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism holds between the lattices of extensions of Orthoimplicative Logic and Sober KTB logic.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter we fix notation, and discuss some essential concepts that will be needed throughout the thesis. Basic mathematical terminology, as well as familiarity with first order logic is assumed throughout.

2.1 Lattices and Ordered Sets

In this chapter we present a number of different lattice-based algebras.

Definition 2.1.1. Let (X, R) be a set with a relation $R \subseteq X \times X$. We say that (X, R) is a *quasi-ordered set* if R is:

- Reflexive: for all $a \in X$, aRa
- Transitive: for all $a, b, c \in X$, aRb and bRc implies aRc.

We say that (X, R) is partially ordered (a poset) if in addition, R is antisymmetric:

• Antisymmetric: for all $a, b \in X$ if aRb and bRa then a = b.

When (X, R) is a partially ordered set, we often write \leq instead of R. We also use < and \geq as abbreviations with their usual meaning.

Definition 2.1.2. Let (X, \leq) be a poset. Given a subset $\{a, b\} \subseteq X$, we say that $c \in X$ is a *lower* bound of $\{a, b\}$ if $c \leq a$ and $c \leq b$. We say that c is a greatest lower bound if it is a lower bound of $\{a, b\}$, and whenever $d \leq a$ and $d \leq b$ then $d \leq c$. We define upper bounds and least upper bounds dually.

Definition 2.1.3. Let (X, \leq) be a poset. We say that (X, \leq) is a *lattice* if for every pair $a, b \in X$, $\{a, b\} \subseteq X$ has a greatest lower bound and a least upper bound. In this case we denote:

 $a \wedge b :=$ greatest lower bound of $\{a, b\}$ and $a \vee b :=$ least upper bound of $\{a, b\}$.

We say that furthermore (X, \leq) is *bounded* if it has a least element (which we denote by 0) and a greatest element (which we denote by 1). We say that (X, \leq) is a *complete lattice* if for each subset $A \subseteq X$, A has a greatest lower bound in X, denoted by $\bigwedge A$.

It is a general fact that lattices can be given an equational presentation (see for instance [19, Chapter 2]). In this case, a lattice **L** is understood as an algebraic structure $\mathbf{L} = (L, \wedge, \vee)$, in the language with \wedge, \vee , which satisfies the following for each $a, b, c \in L$:

- (Idempotence) $a \wedge a = a$ and $a \vee a = a$;
- (Commutativity) $a \wedge b = b \wedge a$ and $a \vee b = b \vee a$;
- (Associativity) $(a \land b) \land c = a \land (b \land c)$ and $(a \lor b) \lor c = a \lor (b \lor c)$;
- (Absorption) $a \land (b \lor a) = a$ and $a \lor (b \land a) = a$.

Definition 2.1.4. Let $\mathbf{L} = (L, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice. We say that *L* is *distributive* if for each $a, b, c \in L$:

$$(a \lor b) \land c = (a \land c) \lor (b \land c).$$

A majority of lattices that appear in studies related to algebraic logic tend to be distributive. In this thesis, however, one of the main objects of study will be a kind of lattice which is not in general distributive:

Definition 2.1.5. An algebra $\mathbf{O} = (O, \land, \lor, \downarrow, 0, 1)$ is said to be an *ortholattice* when $(O, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$ is a bounded lattice, and \bot satisfies the following properties for every $a, b \in O$:

- 1. $(a \wedge b)^{\perp} = a^{\perp} \vee b^{\perp}$ and $(a \vee b)^{\perp} = a^{\perp} \wedge b^{\perp}$;
- 2. $a \wedge a^{\perp} = 0$ and $a \vee a^{\perp} = 1$
- 3. $(a^{\perp})^{\perp} = a$.

Notice that distributive ortholattices coincide with *Boolean algebras* (see below). However, Figure 2.1, depicts an ortholattice which is not a Boolean $algebra^{1}$.



Figure 2.1: Example of an ortholattice

We also consider classes of lattices with various kinds of implications:

Definition 2.1.6. An algebra $\mathbf{H} = (H, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$ is said to be a *Weak Heyting algebra* when $(H, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$ is a bounded distributive lattice, and \rightarrow satisfies, for each $a, b \in H$:

^{1.} $a \rightarrow a = 1;$

¹Simply note that the Pentagon lattice N_5 embeds into the lattice, which means the lattice is not distributive.

2. $(a \lor b) \to c = a \to c \land b \to c;$ 3. $a \to (b \land c) = a \to b \land a \to c;$ 4. $a \to b \land b \to c \leq a \to c.$

A special class of Weak Heyting algebras are their namesake:

Definition 2.1.7. An algebra $\mathbf{H} = (H, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$ is said to be a *Heyting algebra* if it is a Weak Heyting algebra, and additionally it satisfies, for each $a, b \in H$:

- 1. $a \land (a \rightarrow b) \leq b;$
- 2. $a \leq 1 \rightarrow a$.

The former are more usually presented through the so-called *residuation laws*: Heyting algebras are bounded distributive lattices with a binary implication operation \rightarrow satisfying, for each $a, b, c \in H$:

 $c \land a \leq b \iff c \leq a \to b.$

A special class of Heyting algebras which has a ubiquitous presence in logic is that of *Boolean* algebras:

Definition 2.1.8. An $\mathbf{B} = (B, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$ is said to be a *Boolean algebra* if it is a Heyting algebra which additionally satisfies for every $a \in B$, $a \lor (a \to 0) = 1$.

The following is a well-known equivalence;

Proposition 2.1.9. Let $\mathbf{B} = (B, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$ be a Heyting algebra. Then the following are equivalent:

- **B** is a Boolean algebra;
- $\mathbf{B} = (B, \land, \lor, \neg, 0, 1)$, where $\neg a \coloneqq a \to 0$, is a distributive ortholattice.

Hence, we have that Heyting algebras and ortholattices constitute distinct generalisations of Boolean algebras, emphasising different phenomena. We usually present Boolean algebras in the language of ortholattices.

Intimately related to Weak Heyting algebras are specific classes of Boolean algebras with operators:

Definition 2.1.10. An algebra of type $\mathbf{B} = (B, \land, \lor, \neg, \Box, 0, 1)$ is said to be a *modal algebra* if $(B, \land, \lor, \neg, 0, 1)$ is a Boolean algebra, and \Box satisfies, for each $a, b \in B$:

- 1. $\Box 1 = 1;$
- 2. $\Box (a \land b) = \Box a \land \Box b.$

We additionally say that \mathbf{B} is a:

- 1. *T*-algebra, if it satisfies for $a \in B$, $\Box a \leq a$;
- 2. Transitive modal algebra if it satisfies for $a \in B$, $\Box a \leq \Box \Box a$;

3. Symmetric modal algebra if it satisfies for $a \in B$, $a \leq \Box \Diamond a$.

Where $\Diamond a = \neg \Box \neg a$. We say that **B** is an *interior algebra* or an *S4 algebra*, if it is both a *T*-algebra and a transitive modal algebra. We say that **B** is a *KTB*-algebra if it is both a *T*-algebra and a symmetric modal algebra.

We conclude this section by discussing some concepts that appear naturally when discussing lattices:

Definition 2.1.11. Let L be a lattice, and $F \subseteq L$ a subset. We say that F is:

- Upwards closed if whenever $x \in F$ and $x \leq y$ then $y \in F$;
- Downwards closed if whenever $y \in F$ and $x \leq y$ then $x \in F$;
- \bigcirc -closed for $\bigcirc \in \{\land,\lor\}$ if whenever $x, y \in F$ then $x \bigcirc y \in F$;
- A *filter* if it is non-empty, upwards closed and \wedge -closed;
- An *ideal* if it is non-empty, downwards closed and \lor -closed;
- A prime filter if it is a filter, and whenever $a \lor b \in F$, then either $a \in F$ or $b \in F$;
- A prime ideal if it is an ideal, and whenever $a \wedge b \in F$ then either $a \in F$ or $b \in F$.

We note that given a bounded lattice \mathbf{L} , the set of downwards closed sets on \mathbf{L} , the set of filters on \mathbf{L} , and the set of ideals on \mathbf{L} are all closed under arbitrary intersection. Hence, given $S \subseteq L$, we write:

- $\downarrow S \subseteq L$ for the smallest downwards closed set containing S. It is known that $\downarrow S = \{a \in L : \exists b \in S, a \leq b\};$
- $\uparrow S \subseteq L$ for the smallest upwards closed set containing S. It is known that $\uparrow S = \{a \in L : \exists b \in S, b \leq a\};$
- $\operatorname{Fil}(S) \subseteq L$ for the smallest filter containing S. It is known that $\operatorname{Fil}(S) = \{a \in L : \exists b_0, ..., b_n \in S, b_0 \land ... \land b_n \leq a\};$
- $\mathsf{Id}(S) \subseteq L$ for the smallest ideal containing S. It is known that $\mathsf{Id}(S) = \{a \in L : \exists b_0, ..., b_n \in S, a \leq b_0 \lor ... \lor b_n\}$

In Boolean algebras, due to the presence of a negation, one can also consider the following:

Definition 2.1.12. Let *B* be a Boolean algebra. We say that $F \subseteq B$ is an *ultrafilter* if for all $a \in B$, either $a \in F$ or $\neg a \in F$.

As is well-known, in Boolean algebras, ultrafilters are exactly the maximal filters, and also the prime filters.

2.2 Duality Theory

In this section we briefly recall Stone, Priestley and Esakia dualities. We assume the reader is familiar with the notion of a topological space, and basic concepts of general topology. For references on general topology see [22]. For specific references on these dualities, see [19].

Definition 2.2.1. Let (X, τ) be a topological space. We say that (X, τ) is zero-dimensional if τ has a basis of clopen sets.

Definition 2.2.2. Given (X, τ) a topological space, we say that it is a *Stone space*, or a *Boolean* space, if it is a *Hausdorff*, compact and zero-dimensional space.

Denote by $\mathsf{Clop}(X)$ the collection of clopen sets. Then we have:

Proposition 2.2.3. If X is a topological space, then the structure $(\mathsf{Clop}(X), \cap, \cup, -, \emptyset, X)$ is a Boolean algebra.

Given a Boolean algebra, we can look at its *spectrum*, that is, the set of its ultrafilters, Spec(B). On the spectrum we can define a topology by declaring the following sets to be subbasic opens:

$$\varphi(a) = \{x \in \mathsf{Spec}(B) : a \in x\} \text{ for } a \in B$$

Call the resulting topology τ_B . Then:

Proposition 2.2.4. If B is a Boolean algebra, the structure $(Spec(B), \tau_B)$ is a Boolean space.

These transformations are moreover inverse of one another. This is captured by the following duality result:

Theorem 2.2.5. (Stone Duality) The category **BA** of Boolean algebras with Boolean homomorphisms, and the category **BS** of Boolean spaces with continuous maps, are dually equivalent.

As a development of this, Priestley found a similar representation for the wider class of *bounded* distributive lattices. To see this, recall that we say that a structure (X, \leq, τ) is an ordered topological space if (X, \leq) is a partially ordered set, and (X, τ) is a topological space. Denote by $\mathsf{ClopUp}(X)$ the class of clopen upwards closed sets.

Definition 2.2.6. Let (X, \leq, τ) be an ordered topological space. We say that X is totally orderdisconnected if it satisfies the Priestley Separation Axiom: whenever $x \leq y$, there is some $U \in \mathsf{ClopUp}(X)$ such that $x \in U$ and $y \notin U$.

We say that (X, \leq, τ) is a *Priestley space* if it is a compact totally order-disconnected space.

Similar to before, given such a space, we have that:

Proposition 2.2.7. If (X, \leq, τ) is a Priestley Space, the structure $(\mathsf{ClopUp}(X), \cap, \cup, \emptyset, X)$ is a bounded distributive lattice.

Given a bounded distributive lattice L, we can likewise look at Spec(L) the space of *prime filters* of L, which come equipped with the natural inclusion order, and consider the subbasis induced by:

$$\{\varphi(a): a \in L\} \cup \{\operatorname{Spec}(L) - \varphi(a): a \in L\} \text{ for } a \in L\}$$

Denote again the resulting topology by τ_L :

Proposition 2.2.8. Given a bounded distributive lattice L, $(Spec(L), \subseteq, \tau_L)$ is a Priestley space.

Hence we obtain the following (see [19, pp.262]):

Theorem 2.2.9. (Priestley Duality) The categories **DLat**, of bounded distributive lattices and bounded lattice homomorphisms, and **Pries**, of Priestley spaces and order preserving continuous functions are dually equivalent.

Note that Priestley duality specialises to Stone duality on Boolean algebras. There, the order becomes the identity, since as noted above, in Boolean algebras, prime filters are exactly the ultrafilters. A special case of Priestley duality is that which covers Heyting algebras:

Definition 2.2.10. Let (X, \leq, τ) be a Priestley space. We say that X is an *Esakia space* if whenever U is a clopen set, then $\downarrow U$ is also clopen.

Given an Esakia space, we define the Heyting implication using the downwards closure operator. Define the following for U a subset of (X, \leq) :

$$\Box_{\downarrow} U \coloneqq \{ x : \forall y \text{ if } x \leqslant y \text{ then } y \in U \}$$

Then define for two such subsets:

$$U \implies V \coloneqq \Box_{\downarrow}(X - U \cup V)$$

Then we have:

Proposition 2.2.11. If (X, \leq, τ) is an Esakia space, then $(\mathsf{ClopUp}(X), \cap, \cup, \implies, \emptyset, X)$ is a Heyting algebra.

If H is a Heyting algebra, $(\mathsf{Spec}(H), \subseteq, \tau_H)$ is an Esakia space.

The final piece of structure concerns the morphisms of Esakia spaces:

Definition 2.2.12. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a map between two ordered sets. We say that f is a p-morphism if:

- Whenever $x \leq y$ then $f(x) \leq f(y)$;
- If $f(x) \leq y$ then there exists some z such that $x \leq z$ and f(z) = y.

Then we have (see [23, Corollary 3.4.8]):

Theorem 2.2.13. (Esakia duality) The categories **HA**, of Heyting algebras and Heyting algebra homomorphisms, and **ES**, of Esakia spaces and continuous p-morphisms, are dually equivalent.

A final natural duality we will have to discuss is that between modal algebras and so called *modal spaces*. This is a topological extension of Jonsson-Tarski duality, and is discussed extensively in [9, Chapter 5].

Definition 2.2.14. Let $X = (X, R, \tau)$ be a Stone space equipped with a relation R satisfying:

- (Point-Closedness) R[x] is closed for each $x \in X$.
- (Clopen Closure) Whenever U is a clopen, then $R^{-1}(U)$ is clopen.

The key idea to obtain this is extending Stone duality with a relation R_{\Box} induced on the ultrafilters as follows:

$$xRy \iff \Box a \in x \implies a \in y$$

In such a situation, recall that we denote by \Box_R the following naturally induced operator:

$$\square_R U = \{ x : \forall y, \text{ if } xRy \text{ then } y \in U \}$$

Then we have:

Proposition 2.2.15. Given a modal algebra (B, \Box) , we have that (X_B, R_{\Box}, τ) is a modal space, and $(\mathsf{Clop}(X_B), \cap, \cup, \neg, \Box_{R_{\Box}}, \emptyset, X_B)$ is isomorphic to (B, \Box) .

2.3 Universal Algebra

For general references on universal algebra the reader can consult [12, 1].

Definition 2.3.1. We say that $\mathcal{L} = (F, ar)$ (also sometimes denoted as σ) is a *language* if F is a collection of symbols, and $ar : F \to \omega$ is a function, called the *arities* of F.

Given a language $\sigma = (F, ar)$, we say that a structure $\mathbf{A} = (A, \sigma)$ is an algebra of type σ if for each $g \in F$, such that ar(g) = n, there is a function $g : A^n \to A$.

We say that two structures **A** and **B** are *similar* if they have the same type.

Definition 2.3.2. Let $\mathbf{A} = (A, \sigma)$ and $\mathbf{B} = (B, \sigma)$ be two algebras. A map $f : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ is called a *homomorphism* if for each *n*-ary function symbol $g(x_0, ..., x_n) \in \sigma$, and $a_0, ..., a_n \in A$

$$f(g(a_0, ..., a_n)) = g(f(a_0), ..., f(a_n))$$

We say that an injective homomorphism is an *embedding*.

Definition 2.3.3. Given two algebras **A** and **B** of type σ , and a homomorphism $f : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ we say that:

- A is a subalgebra of **B** if $A \subseteq B$ and the inclusion map $i : A \to B$ is a homomorphism; we denote this by $\mathbf{A} \leq \mathbf{B}$.
- **B** is a *homomorphic image* of **A** if *f* is surjective.
- **B** is *isomorphic* to **A** if *f* is injective and surjective.

Definition 2.3.4. Let **A** be an algebra of type σ . Let θ be an equivalence relation $\theta \subseteq A \times A$. We say that θ is a *congruence* if for all *n*-ary function symbols $g(x_0, ..., x_n) \in \sigma$, and $(a_0, b_0), ..., (a_n, b_n) \in \theta$:

$$(g(a_0, ..., a_n), g(b_0, ..., b_n)) \in \theta$$

We denote by $\mathsf{Con}_{\mathbf{A}}$ the set of congruences of an algebra \mathbf{A} .

We recall the following fact about congruences:

Definition 2.3.5. Given an algebra **A** in the language σ , Con_A forms a complete lattice, where meets are given by intersection.

Given an algebra **A**, and a collection $S \subseteq A \times A$, we denote by $\mathsf{Cg}(S)$ the smallest congruence containing S.

Definition 2.3.6. Given an algebra **A** and a congruence θ , we say that (\mathbf{B}, σ) is the quotient algebra of A under θ if:

- $B = A/\theta$, i.e., the carrier set of B is the quotient set under θ .
- For each $g \in \sigma$, and $a_0, ..., a_n \in A$, $g^{\theta}(a_0/\theta, ..., a_n/\theta) = g(a_0, ..., a_n)/\theta$

Definition 2.3.7. Let $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of algebras. We say that an algebra **B** is the *direct* product of the family $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ if:

- $B = \prod_{i \in I} A_i$, i.e., the carrier set of B is the cartesian product
- For each $g \in \sigma$, and each *i*:

$$g(a_0, ..., a_n)(i) = g(a_0(i), ..., a_n(i))$$

Definition 2.3.8. Let $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of algebra of type σ , and \mathbf{B} an algebra of type σ . We say that \mathbf{B} is a *subdirect product* of the family $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i \in I}$ if there is an embedding $f : B \to \prod_{i \in I} A_i$ which additionally satisfies: for each $i, \pi_i \circ f$ is surjective, i.e., f is surjective on factors.

Especially important in the theory of quasivarieties is the notion of reduced product:

Definition 2.3.9. Let $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of algebras. Let F be a filter on $\mathcal{P}(I)$, the power set algebra of I. Define an equivalence relation, \sim_F , by saying that given $a, b \in \prod_{i \in I} A_i$, $a \sim_F b$ if and only if:

$$[\![a = b]\!] = \{i \in I : a(i) = b(i)\} \in F$$

Then \sim_F is a congruence on $\prod_{i \in I} A_i$. We denote by $\prod_{i \in I} A_i/F$ the quotient algebra $\prod_{i \in I} A_i/\sim_F$. We call this algebra the *reduced product* via F of the $(A_i)_{i \in I}$.

Definition 2.3.10. Let **A** be an algebra. We say that **A** is *subdirectly irreducible* if for all families $(\mathbf{B}_i)_{i \in I}$ such that **A** is a subdirect embedding of this collection, there is some *i* such that $\mathbf{A} \cong \mathbf{B}_i$.

The following is known as Birkhoff's Subdirect Decomposition Theorem (see [12, Chapter 2, Theorem 8.6]):

Theorem 2.3.11. Every algebra **A** is isomorphic to a subdirect product of subdirectly irreducible algebras.

Definition 2.3.12. Let \mathbf{A} be an algebra. We say that \mathbf{A} is *trivial* if A is a singleton.

Definition 2.3.13. We say that an algebra \mathbf{A} is *simple* if whenever \mathbf{B} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{A} , then \mathbf{B} is isomorphic to \mathbf{A} .

For a class of similar algebras \mathbf{K} , we recall the following monotone and idempotent operators:

- 1. $\mathbb{I}(\mathbf{K})$ isomorphic copies of algebras in \mathbf{K} ;
- 2. $\mathbb{H}(\mathbf{K})$ homomorphic images of algebras in \mathbf{K} ;

- 3. $S(\mathbf{K})$ subalgebras of algebras in \mathbf{K} ;
- 4. $\mathbb{P}(\mathbf{K})$ direct products of algebras in \mathbf{K} ;
- 5. $\mathbb{P}_U(\mathbf{K})$ ultraproducts of algebras in \mathbf{K} ;
- 6. $\mathbb{P}_R(\mathbf{K})$ reduced products of algebras in \mathbf{K} .
- 7. $\mathbb{P}_{S}(\mathbf{K})$ subdirect products of algebras in **K**.

Definition 2.3.14. Let **K** be a class of algebras. Then we say that **K** is:

- 1. A variety if it is closed under subalgebras, homomorphic images and direct products;
- 2. A *quasi-variety* if it is closed under isomorphisms, subalgebras, direct products and ultraproducts; equivalently, if it is closed under isomorphic images, subalgebras, and reduced products.

We denote by \mathbb{V} , respectively \mathbb{Q} , the variety/quasivariety generator operator. The following are sometimes referred to respectively as *Tarski's HSP* and *Mal'tsev's ISP_R* theorems (see respectively [12, Chapter 2, Theorem 9.5], [12, Chapter 5, Theorem 2.25]):

Theorem 2.3.15. For every class K of algebras we have:

- **K** is a variety if and only if $\mathbf{K} = \mathbb{HSP}(\mathbf{K}')$ for some class \mathbf{K}' of similar algebras.
- **K** is a quasivariety if and only if $\mathbf{K} = \mathbb{ISP}_R(\mathbf{K}')$

We also recall the following, sometimes called Hall's Theorem (see for instance [12, Theorem 11.12]):

Theorem 2.3.16. A class **K** is a variety if and only if $\mathbb{HP}_{s}(\mathbf{K}) = \mathbf{K}$.

One of the early achievements of universal algebra was to relate the above "mathematical" notions, with purely logical ones, finding a connection between syntactic presentations and semantic operations. These are captured in the ideas of *equations* and *quasi-equations*.

Definition 2.3.17. Let \mathcal{L} be an algebraic language. An *equation* is a positive atomic formula of the form:

 $\lambda \approx \gamma$

where λ, γ are terms in the language \mathcal{L} . A quasi-equation is an implication of the form:

$$\lambda_0 \approx \gamma_0 \& \dots \& \lambda_n \approx \gamma_n \to \lambda \approx \gamma$$

where λ_i, γ_i are terms in the language.

Definition 2.3.18. We say that an algebra **A** satisfies an equation $\lambda(x_0, ..., x_n) \approx \gamma(x_0, ..., x_n)$, in symbols, $\mathbf{A} \models \lambda \approx \gamma$, if for each $a_0, ..., a_n \in A$, we have that $\lambda(a_0, ..., a_n) = \gamma(a_0, ..., a_n)$, i.e., interpreting the term in the algebra with those elements yields equality.

We say that an algebra **A** satisfies a quasi-equation $\lambda_0(\overline{x}) \approx \gamma_0(\overline{x}) \& \dots \& \lambda_n(\overline{x}) \approx \gamma_n(\overline{x}) \rightarrow \lambda(\overline{x}) \approx \gamma(\overline{x})$, in symbols $\mathbf{A} \vdash \lambda_0 \approx \gamma_0 \& \dots \& \lambda_n \approx \gamma_n \rightarrow \lambda \approx \gamma$ if for each $a_0, \dots, a_m \in A$, if $\lambda_i(a_0, \dots, a_m) = \gamma(a_0, \dots, a_m)$ for each $i \leq n$, then $\lambda(a_0, \dots, a_m) = \gamma(a_0, \dots, a_m)$.

Definition 2.3.19. Let V be a class of algebras. We say that V is an equational class (resp. quasi-equational class) if there exists some set of equations S (resp., quasi-equations) such that for each algebra $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{A} \in V$ if and only if $\mathbf{A} \models \varphi$ for each $\varphi \in S$.

Theorem 2.3.20. Let **K** be a class of algebras. Then:

- (Birkhoff) **K** is an equational class if and only if **K** is a variety;
- (Mal'tsev) **K** is a quasi-equational class if and only if **K** is a quasivariety.

Proof. See [12, Chapter 2, Theorem 11.9, Chapter 5, Theorem 2.25].

The following is a particularly useful tool developed by Jónsson, which we will use occasionally (noting that virtually all varieties we will be dealing with are congruence distributive):

Lemma 2.3.21. (Jónssons' Lemma) Let K be a set of algebras such that $\mathbb{V}(\mathbf{K})$ is congruence distributive. Then the subdirectly irreducible elements of \mathbf{K} are in:

 $\mathbb{HSP}_{U}(\mathbf{K})$

Proof. See [12, Corollary 6.10].

$\mathbf{2.4}$ Logical Preliminaries

Throughout we denote some well-known logical systems as follows:

- CPC Classical Propositional logic;
- IPC Intuitionistic Propositional Logic;
- K Minimal Normal modal logic;
- S4 S4 modal logic;

We assume the reader is familiar with classical and intuitionistic logic. We briefly recall the notion of a *normal modal logic* (for a detailed discussion on this see [9]):

Definition 2.4.1. Let \mathcal{L} be the language of classical logic together with a unary operator \Diamond . A collection of formulas $L \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ is called a *normal modal logic* if:

- $CPC \subseteq L$, i.e., L extends classical logic;
- L contains the following axioms (called the normality axioms):

$$\Box \top \leftrightarrow \top$$
$$\Box (\varphi \land \psi) \leftrightarrow \Box \varphi \land \Box \psi.$$

• L is closed under Modus Ponens, Unifrom Substitution and Necessitation: if $\varphi \in L$ then $\Box \varphi \in L.$

It follows straightforwardly from the definitions that the arbitrary intersection of normal modal logics is again a normal modal logic. This implies that the collection of normal modal logics forms a complete lattice. We denote by K the minimal normal modal logic. Moreover, given an axiom φ , we denote by $\mathsf{K} \oplus \varphi$ the smallest normal modal logic containing φ . Given a normal modal logic L, we denote by $\mathsf{NExt}(L)$ the complete lattice of normal extensions of L.

Important both in the theory of modal and intuitionistic logics is the concept of Kripke completeness:

Definition 2.4.2. Given a class **K** of Kripke frames, and φ a formula (in the language of intuitionistic or modal logic), we write $\mathbf{K} \models \varphi$ to mean that for each $\mathfrak{F} \in \mathbf{K}$ where $\mathfrak{F} = (X, R)$, and each model v over \mathfrak{F} , and each $w \in X$, $(\mathfrak{F}, v), w \Vdash \varphi$. A logic $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$ (resp. $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{K})$) is said to be *Kripke complete* if there exists a class **K** of Kripke frames such that $\mathbf{K} \models L$.

Equally relevant are the concepts of *FMP* and *tabular* logics:

Definition 2.4.3. Let L be superintuitionistic or modal. We say that L has the *FMP* if L is Kripke complete with respect to a class **K** of finite frames. We say that L is *tabular* if L is Kripke complete with respect to a single finite Kripke frame.

We let HA and BA denote the classes of Heyting and Boolean algebras respectively. We assume familiarity with the algebraic completeness of the respective logical systems with respect to these classes of algebras. Moreover we also have the following well-known facts:

Definition 2.4.4. For each Heyting algebra $\mathbf{H} = (H, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$, consider the collection $\mathbf{H}^{\neg} = \{a : a = \neg \neg a\}$. Then this forms a Boolean algebra with the induced operations:

- $\dot{0} = 0$ and $\dot{1} = 1$
- $a \dot{\wedge} b = a \wedge b$
- $a \rightarrow b = a \rightarrow b$
- $a \dot{\lor} b = \neg \neg (a \lor b)$

Definition 2.4.5. Let **A** be an algebra of type σ . We say that a map $v : \mathcal{VAR} \to H$ is a *assignment* of variables on H. Given an assignment v, we extend this to a valuation \overline{v} on H recursively, by defining:

- $\overline{v}(p) = v(p)$
- $\overline{v}(0) = 0$ and $\overline{v}(1) = 1$;
- $\overline{v}(\varphi \wedge \psi) = \overline{v}(\varphi) \wedge \overline{v}(\psi);$
- $\overline{v}(\varphi \lor \psi) = \overline{v}(\varphi) \lor \overline{v}(\psi);$
- $\overline{v}(\varphi \to \psi) = \overline{v}(\varphi) \to \overline{v}(\psi);$

where the symbols on the right hand side are computed inside of H. We write $H \models \varphi$ to mean that whenever v is a valuation on H, $v(\varphi) = 1$.

We remark that the former is the understood meaning, whenever we take any algebra such as a Boolean algebra, Heyting algebra or a bounded distributive lattice.

Theorem 2.4.6. (Glivenko Theorem) For each φ , a formula in the language of classical logic, we have that $\varphi \in CPC$ if and only if $\neg \neg \varphi \in IPC$.

Proof. To establish this, assume that $\varphi \in \mathsf{CPC}$, and **H** is a Heyting algebra. We will show that $H \models \neg \neg \varphi$. To see this, note that by completeness of CPC with respect to Boolean algebras, we have that $H^{\neg} \models \varphi$. Now suppose that v is a valuation on H. Define a valuation $w : \mathsf{Prop} \to H^{\neg}$ by letting $w(p) = \neg \neg v(p)$. This is well-defined, since as is known, for all $a \in H$:

$$\neg \neg a \leftrightarrow \neg \neg \neg \neg a$$

Then by induction, we can see that for each formula ψ in the language of CPC:

$$w(\psi) = \neg \neg v(\psi).$$

Indeed, the base case is given by hypothesis, and the remaining cases follow by well-known properties of intuitionistic calculus. Hence, by hypothesis, $w(\varphi) = 1$, which means that $\neg \neg v(\varphi) = 1$, i.e., $v(\neg \neg \varphi) = 1$.

Conversely, if $\varphi \notin CPC$, then $\neg \neg \varphi \notin CPC$. Since IPC $\subseteq CPC$ (since all Boolean algebras are Heyting algebras, and the mentioned completeness theorem), so $\neg \neg \varphi \notin IPC$, which gets us completeness.

The classes we just met of Heyting algebras and S4 algebras are also intimately related. To see why note the following:

Proposition 2.4.7. Let **B** be an S4 algebra. Then the bounded sublattice $\mathbf{B}_{\Box} := \{a \in B : a = \Box a\}$ is a Heyting algebra when equipped with the induced meet and join and $a \Rightarrow b := \Box (a \to b)$.

Moreover, it is also possible to have a weak inverse to this operation. This latter transformation will play an important role in our investigations, and is frequently called *Booleanisation* (see for instance [30, pp.25]):

Definition 2.4.8. Let D be a bounded distributive lattice, B a Boolean algebra, and $e: D \to B$ a bounded lattice embedding. We say that (B, e) is the *Booleanisation* of D if for each Boolean algebra C, and bounded lattice homomorphism $f: D \to C$, there is a unique map $h: B \to C$ such that $f = h \circ e$.

Proposition 2.4.9. Let D be a bounded distributive lattice, and X_D the dual Priestley space. Then $Clop(X_D)$, the class of all clopens of D is the Booleanisation of D.

Denote by B(D) the Booleanisation of D.

Proposition 2.4.10. Let $f: D \to C$ be an injective bounded lattice homomorphism, where C is a Boolean algebra. Then the unique map $\overline{f}: B(D) \to C$ is also injective.

Proof. Suppose that f(a) = f(b). Suppose that these are:

$$\bigvee_{i=1} f(a_i) - f(c_i) = \bigvee_{j=1} f(b_j) - f(d_j)$$

Using distributivity, we can rewrite the latter into $\bigwedge_{m=1}^{k} f(k_m) \vee \neg f(l_m)$. Now since these are equal we have that:

$$f(a_i) - f(c_i) \leq f(k_m) \lor \neg f(l_m)$$

Then $f(a_i) \leq f(k_m) \vee \neg f(l_m) \vee f(c_i)$, and in turn, then, $f(a_i) \wedge f(l_m) \leq f(k_m) \vee f(c_i)$. Now since f is a homomorphism, and injective, this means that:

$$a_i \wedge l_m \leqslant k_m \vee c_i$$

Operating the same transformations backwards, we have that $a_i - c_i \leq k_m \vee \neg l_m$. Since this is true of arbitrary such elements, then $a \leq b$. By a similar argument, then $b \leq a$. So a = b as intended.

Moreover, the following holds:

Proposition 2.4.11. The Booleanisation B(H) of a Heyting algebra H, admits an S4 structure: for each $a \in B(H)$, we let:

$$\Box a \coloneqq \bigvee \{c \in H : c \leqslant a\}$$

Proof. See [23, Construction 2.5.7].

2.5 Algebraic Logic

Throughout, if **K** is a class of similar algebras, we denote by \mathcal{L}_K the algebraic language of **K**; when the subscript is understood we drop it. Given a set X, we denote by $T_{\mathcal{L}}(X)$ the set of terms constructed in the language \mathcal{L} with variables from X, and by $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(X)$ the corresponding absolutely free algebra. Let $\mathsf{Eq}_{\mathcal{L}}(X)$ be the set of equations built from this language, with variables from X.

We begin by recalling the concept of a consequence relation and of a logic.

Definition 2.5.1. Let X be a set. A *consequence relation* over X is a relation $\vdash \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X) \times X$ such that:

- (Reflexivity) If $a \in X$ then $(X, a) \in \vdash$
- (Cut) If $(X, y) \in \vdash$ for every $y \in Y$, and $(Y, z) \in \vdash$, then $(X, z) \in \vdash$

Notation 2.5.1. Throughout, whenever $\Vdash \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X) \times X$ is a consequence relation, $Y \subseteq X$, $a \in X$ we write $Y \Vdash a$ to mean that $(Y, a) \in \Vdash$. We write $\Vdash a$ to mean $(\emptyset, a) \in \Vdash$. Given $Y, Z \subseteq X$, we write $Y \vdash Z$ to mean that $Y \vdash a$ for each $a \in Z$.

In this thesis, all consequence relations are assumed to be finitary, that is, if $X \vdash a$, then there is some finite $Y \subseteq X$ such that $Y \vdash a$. This is not necessary for most results, but it makes the presentation simpler, and avoids complications with respect to infinitary axiomatisations.

We note that consequence relations on X form a complete lattice:

Lemma 2.5.2. The collection Con(X) of consequence relations on a set X forms a complete lattice, where arbitrary meets are given by intersections.

This entitles us to the following definition:

Definition 2.5.3. Let X be a set, and $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X) \times X$. We denote by $\vdash_S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X) \times X$ the smallest consequence relation on X such that $S \subseteq \vdash_S$.

Definition 2.5.4. Given $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X) \times X$, define S^r as:

$$Ref = \{ (A, a) : A \subseteq X, a \in A \}.$$

Also, define S° as:

 $S^{\circ} = \{(A, c) : \text{There exists some } (B, c) \in S, \text{ such that for all } b \in B (A, b) \in S \}.$

We then define S°_n} as follows: $S^{\circ_0} = Ref, S^{\circ_{n+1}} = (S^{\circ_n})^{\circ}$.

Then it is not difficult to see that:

Lemma 2.5.5. For any $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X) \times X$:

$$\vdash_S = \bigcup_{n \in \omega} S^{\circ_n}.$$

A special kind of consequence relation we will be interested are *logics*. Throughout let \mathcal{VAR} be a fixed but arbitrary set of variables.

Definition 2.5.6. Given an algebraic language \mathcal{L} over \mathcal{VAR} , a given consequence relation $\vdash \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ is called a *logic* if \vdash is substitution invariant: for every homomorphism $\sigma : \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR}) \to \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$, and every $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$:

$$\Gamma \vdash \varphi \text{ implies } \sigma[\Gamma] \vdash \sigma(\varphi)$$

In other words, logics are consequence relations where uniform substitutions are precisely the endomorphisms of the set $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$. Similarly to above, we also have:

Lemma 2.5.7. Given a logic \vdash , the collection $\Lambda(\vdash)$ of finitary extensions of \vdash forms a complete lattice with meet as intersection.

And similar to before, if $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$, we denote by Log(S) the smallest logic generated by S. Then it is clear that given \vdash_i a collection of finitary logics, then $\bigvee_{i \in I} \vdash_i = Log(\bigcup_{i \in I} \vdash_i)$. Moreover, we get that the former description of the generated consequence relation in fact captures the generated logic in this particular case:

Lemma 2.5.8. If $(\vdash_i)_{i \in I}$ is a collection of finitary logics, then:

$$\bigvee_{i\in I}\vdash_i=\vdash_{\left(\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash_i\right)}$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.5.5, if we show that $\vdash_{\left(\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash i\right)}$ is already a logic, it will surely be the smallest. Hence it suffices to check closure under substitution of that consequence relation. Suppose that $(X,\varphi) \in \vdash_{\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash i}$. By the same Lemma, we get that then $(X,\varphi) \in (\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash i)^{\circ_n}$. So by induction we can show that for any substitution σ , $(\sigma[X], \sigma(\varphi))$ also belongs there: for the base case, this follows by reflexivity and the fact that the logics are closed under substitution, whilst for the inductive case this follows by induction hypothesis and cut. We now turn to a related concept, stemming from algebra:

Definition 2.5.9. Let **K** be a class of algebras and \mathcal{L} its language, and $\mathsf{Eq}(\mathcal{VAR})$ the set of equations built over \mathcal{VAR} . We say that $\models_{\mathsf{K}} \subseteq \mathsf{Eq} \times \mathsf{Eq}$ is the *equational consequence relative to* **K** if it satisfies the following properties: for $\Theta \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}$ and $\gamma(\overline{x}), \delta(\overline{y}) \in Tm_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$:

$$\Theta \models_{\mathsf{K}} \gamma(\overline{x}) \approx \delta(\overline{y}) \iff \text{For every } \mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K} \text{ and } h : \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(X) \to \mathbf{A}$$

if for all $\varphi \approx \psi \in \Theta$ $h(\varphi) = h(\psi)$, then $h(\gamma) = h(\delta)$

The equational consequence relative to a class of algebras is very often used as the semantics for specific logics. This is boiled down to the property of having a completeness theorem:

Definition 2.5.10. Let \mathcal{L} be a language, and \vdash be a logic in this language, and $\mu(x)$ a set of equations in one variable. We say that a class **K** of algebras is a μ -algebraic semantics for \vdash if for all $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$:

$$\Gamma \vdash \varphi \iff \mu[\Gamma] \models_{\mathbf{K}} \mu(\varphi)$$

We say that **K** is an algebraic semantics if it is a μ -algebraic semantics for some μ .

Most of the logics we will deal with in this thesis will have an algebraic semantics. Examples are CPC, which has **BA** and the set $\mu(x) = \{x \approx 1\}$, and IPC, which has **HA** with the same set of equations. However, consider for instance the set:

$$\{\neg \neg x \approx 1\}$$

This set makes **HA** into an algebraic semantics for CPC by Theorem 2.4.6. This means that one logic can have multiple algebraic semantics. Nevertheless, for some logics, there is a way to determine a "canonical choice":

Definition 2.5.11. Let \mathcal{L} be a language, and \vdash a finitary logic for this language. We say that \vdash is *algebraizable* if there are a quasivariety \mathbf{K} , $\mu(x)$ a set of equations in one variable, and $\Delta(x, y)$ a set of formulas in two variables, such that for all formulas $\Gamma \cup \{\varphi\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ and $\Theta \cup \{\gamma \approx \delta\} \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathcal{L}}$:

- 1. $\Gamma \vdash \varphi$ if and only if $\mu[\Gamma] \models_{\mathbf{K}} \mu(\varphi)$
- 2. $\Theta \models_{\mathbf{K}} \gamma \approx \delta$ if and only if $\Delta[\Theta] \vdash \Delta(\gamma, \delta)$
- 3. $x \rightarrow \vdash \Delta(\mu(x))$
- 4. $x \approx y \dashv \models_{\mathbf{K}} \mu[\Delta(x, y)]$

In this case, \mathbf{K} is said to be an *equivalent algebraic semantics*.

And indeed, we have:

Theorem 2.5.12. [25, Theorem 3.17] Each algebraizable logic has a unique equivalent algebraic semantics.

Chapter 3

Translations, Adjunctions and Polyatomic Logics

The purpose of the present chapter is to introduce the general aspects of the theory of Polyatomic Logics.

We begin by taking a close look at several translations which bear some resemblance to the KGG one. This is done to emphasise the similarities in them, and the way in which they allow for similar completeness theorems. We then embark on the general theory, abstracting from this situation. We recall the definition of a translation and its relation to right adjoints, as detailed in [53]. Building on that work, we introduce the notion of a *selective translation*, abstracting from some desirable properties present in the most salient examples. This allows us to provide an abstract framework to discuss semantically rich relationships between distinct logical contexts. Building on this, we introduce the idea of a PolyAtomic Logic (so named because atoms are sent to elements covered by a given term, in analogy with the naming convention of DNA-logics [6]), which blend properties of different logical settings into the same models.

In analogy with the setting of [6], we develop the theory of PAt-Logics and PAt-Quasivarieties, and establish a connection between these concepts, proving analogues of the Birkhoff theorem and algebraic completeness. This is then used to develop a basic abstract theory of "companionship" holding between logics under a selective translation¹.

3.1 Classical Translations and DNA-Logics

In the introduction and preliminaries we discussed several translations. Here we briefly recall them and discuss their similarities as respects the structure of their completeness theorems. We begin with the Double negation translation:

Definition 3.1.1. The Kolmogorov-Gödel-Gentzen Double Negation Translation (KGG)², denoted $K_{\neg\neg}$, maps $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{BA}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ to $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{HA}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ through the following assignment:

 $^{^{1}}$ A quick technical note: throughout we focus on the setting of *quasivarieties*, which is more natural from an algebraic-logical perspective. However, throughout, all results restrict to the setting of varieties unless otherwise specified.

²We note that this translation, as noted in the introduction, is originally due to Kolmogorov; however, his translation applies the $\neg \neg$ -operation to every formula. The specific version outlined is due to Gödel, Gentzen and Glivenko.

- 1. $K_{\neg\neg}(p) = \neg\neg p$ 2. $K_{\neg\neg}(\top) = \top$ and $K_{\neg\neg}(\bot) = \bot$
- 3. $K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi \land \psi) = K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi) \land K_{\neg\neg}(\psi)$
- 4. $K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi \to \psi) = K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi) \to K_{\neg\neg}(\psi)$

5.
$$K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi \lor \psi) = \neg\neg K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi \lor \psi)$$

As we mentioned in the Introduction, and showed in the preliminaries, we have that given a Heyting algebra **H**:

$$\mathbf{H}^{\neg} = \{ a \in H : a = \neg \neg a \}$$

Is a Boolean algebra with the induced operations. Hence we have the following, which straightforwardly implies Theorem 2.4.6 once one accounts for the algebraizability of the systems at hand:

Theorem 3.1.2. For each formula φ in the language of classical logic, and each Heyting algebra **H**:

$$\mathbf{H}^{\neg} \vDash \varphi \iff \mathbf{H} \vDash K_{\neg \neg}(\varphi)$$

Proof. First assume that $\mathbf{H} \not\models K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi)$. Let $v : \operatorname{Prop} \to H$ be a valuation witnessing this. Construct a valuation $v' : \operatorname{Prop} \to H^{\neg}$ by defining $v'(p) = \neg \neg v(p)$. Then by induction on construction of terms $\varphi \in \operatorname{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{BA}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ we can prove that:

$$v'(\varphi) = v(K_{\neg\neg}(\varphi))$$

Hence, $\mathbf{H}^{\neg} \neq \varphi$. The converse is wholly similar.

As discussed in the introduction, one of the important applications of this translation was the development of inquisitive logic [16]. We recall here its development as DNA-logic, as presented in [6]:

Definition 3.1.3. Let $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$ be an intermediate logic. We consider:

$$L^{\neg} = \{\varphi : \varphi[\neg \neg p/p] \in L\}$$

where $\varphi[\neg p/p]$ is the result of substituting $\neg p$ for p in the term φ . Then we say that L^{\neg} is the *DNA-variant* of *L*.

DNA-logics are thus defined as the DNA-variants of some intermediate logic. More explicitly, they are collections S of formulas such that:

- IPC \subseteq S;
- $\neg \neg p \rightarrow p \in S;$
- S is closed under Modus Ponens.

This is the origin of the name DNA – short for "double negation on atoms". Note that such structures are not closed under uniform substitution. As algebraic models, one takes structures of the form:

 (H, V^{\neg})

where H is a Heyting algebra, and V^{\neg} is a valuation taking values in the regular elements of H, i.e., those $a \in H$ such that $a = \neg \neg a$. Similar to what we did above, given any valuation V one can produce a regular valuation by regularising the value of the atoms. Given this role of regular elements, given any Heyting algebra H, we denote by:

 $\langle H^{\neg} \rangle$

The Heyting subalgebra of H generated by the regular elements. Those Heyting algebras H such that $H = \langle H^- \rangle$ are called *regularly generated*, and they are especially important due to carrying the essential properties of a logic. To correspond to this, a notion of *DNA-variety* was introduced in [6]:

Definition 3.1.4. Let H and H' be two Heyting algebras. We say that H' is a *core superalgebra* of H if $H \leq H'$ and $H^{\neg} = H'^{\neg}$.

One fact which can be noted is that core superalgebras are the operator which binds the least:

Proposition 3.1.5. For each variety of Heyting algebras K, the class of algebras obtained by taking core-superalgebras of $K^{\uparrow} := \{ \langle B^{\neg} \rangle : B \in K \}$, is a DNA-variety.

Definition 3.1.6. Let K be a family of Heyting algebras. We say that K is a *DNA-variety* if it is closed under homomorphic images, subalgebras, products and core-superalgebras.

In [6] the following facts about these logics and varieties were established:

- DNA-logics form a complete lattice under inclusion;
- DNA-varieties form a complete lattice under inclusion;
- The lattices of DNA-logics and DNA-varieties are dually isomorphic.

These facts are enough to show soundness and completeness of DNA-logics with respect to Heyting algebra models as defined above, and moreover, completeness with respect to regularly generated Heyting algebras.

The reader will notice that in some respects it seems to be the main properties of the $\neg\neg$ -operator, and the structure of the translation, which allow the above construction. However, many other translations exist which are of a very similar nature. Let us recall three of these:

Definition 3.1.7. The *Gödel-McKinsey-Tarski* (GMT) translation maps the set $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{HA}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ to $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{S4}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ through the following assignment:

- 1. $GMT(\top) = \top$
- 2. $GMT(\perp) = \perp$
- 3. $GMT(\varphi \land \psi) = GMT(\varphi) \land GMT(\psi)$

- 4. $GMT(\varphi \lor \psi) = GMT(\varphi) \lor GMT(\psi)$
- 5. $GMT(\varphi \rightarrow \psi) = \Box(\neg GMT(\varphi) \lor GMT(\psi))$

As mentioned also in the preliminaries and introduction, we have that given an S4-algebra $\mathbf{B} = (B, \Box)$:

$$\mathbf{B}_{\square} = \{a \in B : a = \square a\}$$

Is a Heyting algebra with the induced operations:

- $\hat{0} = 0$ and $\hat{1} = 1$
- $a \wedge b = a \wedge b$
- $a \hat{\lor} b = a \lor b$
- $a \hookrightarrow b = \Box (\neg a \lor b)$

Definition 3.1.8. The *Goldblatt translation* between the language of ortholattices and KTB logic is defined recursively as follows:

- 1. For each propositional variable $p, G(p) = \Box \Diamond p;$
- 2. $G(\psi \land \varphi) = G(\psi) \land G(\varphi)$
- 3. $G(\varphi^{\perp}) = \Box \neg G(\varphi)$

As in the other cases, given a KTB algebra (B, \Box) we can consider the set:

$$\mathbf{B}_{\Box\Diamond} = \{a \in B : a = \Box\Diamond a\}$$

And equip this with the following operations: $a \wedge b = a \wedge b$ and $a^{\perp} = \Box \neg a$. It can be straightforwardly verified that this yields an ortholattice.

For the last example, we need some definitions. These follow the terminology of [56].

Definition 3.1.9. Let $G = (G, \neg, \sqcup, \otimes, \neg 0, 1)$ be a structure where:

- $(G, \Box, \sqcup, 0, 1)$ is a bounded lattice.
- $(G, \otimes, 1)$ is a commutative monoid.
- For all $x, y, z \in P$:

$$x \otimes y \leqslant z \iff x \leqslant y \multimap z$$

• For all a, b, a', b': $a \leq a'$ and $b \leq b'$ implies $a \otimes a' \leq b \otimes b'$ and $a \multimap b \leq a' \multimap b'$.

We call this an *intuitionistic linear algebra* (ILA)³. Furthermore, we call an ILA a *ILS*-algebra if there is a modality $!: L \to L$ such that for all $a, b \in L$:

• The operation ! is a normal S4-modality: $!!a = !a \leq a, a \leq b$ implies $!a \leq !b, !\top = 1$, and furthermore, $!(a \sqcap b) = !a \otimes !b$.

³These are more frequently called today *commutative residuated lattices*, see for example [28]

The former structures are models of *Intuitionistic Linear Logic*. The specific details of this system are not important, but the reader is invited to consult [56] for a detailed exposition. Our concern will be with a translation of intuitionistic logic into this system:

Definition 3.1.10. The *Girard call-by-value* [32] C_v translation from intuitionistic logic IPC to Intuitionistic Linear Logic is defined as follows:

- $C_v(p) = !p;$
- $C_v(\varphi \wedge \psi) = C_v(\varphi) \otimes C_v(\psi);$
- $C_v(\varphi \lor \psi) = C_v(\varphi) \sqcup C_v(\psi);$
- $C_v(\varphi \to \psi) = !(C_v(\varphi) \multimap C_v(\psi)).$

The following is discussed in Troelstra [56, Chapter 8]:

Definition 3.1.11. Let G be an ILS-algebra. Define:

$$!G \coloneqq \{a : a = !a\}$$

And equip !G with the following operations $0 \coloneqq 0$, and $1 \coloneqq 1$; $a \land b \coloneqq a \otimes b$, $a \lor b \coloneqq (a \sqcup b)$ and $a \to b \coloneqq !(a \multimap b)$.

Proposition 3.1.12. Given an ILS-algebra, the structure $!G = (!G, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$ is a Heyting algebra.

In all of these cases, we are translating the algebraic languages, and transforming algebras of one similarity type into algebras of another. Hence, we may ask whether this transformation witnesses the translation, i.e., for instance, whether for an S4-algebras we have:

$$\mathbf{M}_{\square} \vDash \varphi \iff \mathbf{M} \vDash GMT(\varphi).$$

This is indeed true, and for all of the translations we have discussed, the proof goes through similarly. Namely, we can additionally show for \mathbf{G} an ILS-algebra:

$$\mathbf{M}_{\Box} \models \varphi \iff \mathbf{M} \models GMT(\varphi)$$
$$!\mathbf{G} \models \varphi \iff \mathbf{G} \models C_v(\varphi),$$

and for \mathbf{B} a KTB algebra:

$$\mathbf{B}_{\Box\Diamond} \models \varphi \land \psi = \varphi \iff \mathbf{B} \models G(\varphi) \to G(\psi).$$

Let us sketch this in the case of ILS-algebras. Given a valuation $v : \mathcal{VAR} \to G$, we can construct a valuation $v' : \mathcal{VAR} \to !G$ such that v'(p) = !v(p). Then this valuation will take values in the !-fixed points, and it can be shown by induction on the construction that:

$$v'(\varphi) = C_v(v(\varphi)).$$

Similarly, given such a valuation $v' : \operatorname{Prop} \to !G$, we can construct a valuation $v : \operatorname{Prop} \to G$ by letting v(p) = v'(p). Then again by induction on construction we can show that:

$$v(\varphi) = C_v(v'(\varphi)).$$

Hence, assuming in turn that $G \not\models C_v(\varphi)$ and $!G \not\models \varphi$ will get us the result. It should be obvious that similar arguments will work for all other translations.

To obtain results similar to the Glivenko theorem, one also needs that, given any algebra from the system being translated, there exists some algebra of the target system of which it is the "skeleton" (e.g., the set of open elements, of $\Box\Diamond$ -fixed points, of !-fixed points, etc). This can be less obvious to establish, but as we will see in the next sections, it is true in all the cases at hand.

Together, these two facts allow us a result analogous to Glivenko's theorem, with respect to the equational consequence relation, in total analogy with the KGG case.

To pursue this analogy further, let us now quickly sketch what a hypothetical \square -logic could look like:

Definition 3.1.13. Let $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(S4)$ be a normal extension of S4. Consider:

$$L^{\square} = \{\varphi : \varphi[\square p/p] \in L\}$$

where $\varphi[\Box p/p]$ is the resulting of replacing p with $\Box p$ in φ . Then we call L^{\Box} the \Box -variant of L.

Just like in the DNA case, one can argue, analogously to Proposition 3.3 in [6], that adding:

$$p \rightarrow \Box p$$

and closing under Modus Ponens, Necessitation, but not uniform substitution, would yield precisely a \Box -variant of any given logic, and that all of them arise this way. Moreover, given an S4-algebra B, we say that B is *openly generated* if $B = \langle B_{\Box} \rangle$. We can then take models of the form (B, V^{\Box}) , where V^{\Box} takes values only on open elements.

What about \Box -varieties? Just like in the DNA-case, one can show that core superalgebras bind the least, and hence, a class of algebras is a \Box -variety if and only if it is the closure of a variety of S4 algebras.

The facts mentioned above can also be carried out for this setting:

- -logics form a complete lattice under inclusion;
- -varieties form a complete lattice under inclusion
- The lattices of \Box -logics and \Box -varieties are dually isomorphic.

However, the reader might now be persuaded that there is also nothing special about the GMTtranslation. The Girard call-by-value translation or the Goldblatt translation would just as well yield hybridised logics. Hence two natural questions arise:

- What kinds of properties must a translation have in order for it to enjoy the sort of completeness theorem we found above;
- How can one develop a theory which generalises the DNA-logic structure to other such translations.

We will take on these tasks in the next sections.

3.2 Algebraic Translations and Adjunctions

In [53], the concept of a contextual translation was introduced with the goal of providing a characterisation of adjunctions between generalised quasivarieties. This is inspired by work of McKenzie [50] and Dukarm [21], and related to work by Freyd [26], which describes categorical equivalence through two "deformations" of the categories. The key idea of this approach is that right adjoints correspond to translations between the equational consequence relations of the categories of algebras. Below we present this concept, recalling its definition according to the presentation of [53], as well as some key results, which we provide without proof. We note that as previously noted, our discussion remains within a finitary context even though the results cited are proved in the broader setting of generalised quasivarieties. We also focus only on unary translations, though all of the results in this section could be proved for arbitrary κ -ary translations.

Definition 3.2.1. Let **X** and **Y** be classes of algebras. We say that a map $\zeta : \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}} \to \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ is a translation if for each n, ζ sends *n*-ary function symbols to *n*-ary terms.

Given a translation ζ we define a map $\zeta_* : \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}}(\mathcal{VAR}) \to \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ by stipulating that:

- 1. $\zeta_*(x_i) = x_i$ for variables $x_i \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}$;
- 2. $\zeta_*(c) = \zeta(c)$ for constants $c \in \mathcal{L}$;
- 3. For complex terms $\varphi_0, ..., \varphi_n$, and n-ary operation ψ , such that $\zeta(\psi) = f$, where each f is a term of the form $f(x_0, ..., x_k)$. Then:

$$\zeta_*(\psi(\varphi_0,...,\varphi_n)) = f(\zeta_*(\varphi_0),...,\zeta_*(\varphi_n))$$

Moreover, we denote by ζ^* the natural lifting of ζ_* to sets of equations: let $\mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ be the set of equations of the language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$. We define $\zeta^* : \mathcal{P}(\mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \to \mathcal{P}(\mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{VAR}))$ by setting, for $\Phi \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathcal{VAR})$:

$$\zeta^*(\Phi) = \{\zeta_*(\delta) \approx \zeta_*(\gamma) : \delta \approx \gamma \in \Phi\}$$

In other words, a translation for our purposes consists of an assignment of logical symbols, preserving arities, which recursively induces an assignment of formulas. We note that whilst this leaves out many notable translations - for instance, most instances of "standard translations" occurring in the modal logic literature do not conform in an obvious way to this shape, despite their relevance and uses - translations of this kind occur quite frequently in various natural logical frameworks.

More than a merely syntactic assignment, though, we want our semantics to reflect this translation in some sense. Hence we will need the notion of a *contextual translation*.

Definition 3.2.2. Let **X** and **Y** be two classes of algebras. We say that a pair (ζ, Θ) , where ζ is a translation, and $\Theta \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ a finite subset of equations written over a variable x, is a *contextual translation* if the following holds:

1. For every set $\Phi \cup \{\lambda \approx \gamma\} \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{X}}$, written in variables $\{x_i : i \in \omega\}$, we have:

if
$$\Phi \models_{\mathsf{X}} \lambda \approx \gamma$$
, then $\zeta^*(\Phi) \cup \bigcup_{i \in \omega} \Theta(x_i) \models_{\mathsf{Y}} \zeta^*(\lambda \approx \gamma)$

2. For every k-ary operation $f(y_0, ..., y_n) \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}$, we have:

$$\Theta(x_0) \cup \ldots \cup \Theta(x_n) \models_{\mathbf{Y}} \Theta(\zeta^*(f(x_0, \ldots, x_n)))$$

In this case we refer to the set of equations Θ as the *context* of the translation.

Example 3.2.3. (KGG and GMT translations) The KGG and GMT translations we met in Definition 3.1.1 and Definition 3.1.7 are contextual translations: for the first, take a modification of the function $K_{\neg\neg}$ which maps proposition variables to themselves, and takes the context:

$$\Theta = \{ x \approx \neg \neg x \}.$$

For the latter, take in addition to the function GMT, with the same modification, the context:

$$\Theta = \{ x \approx \Box x \}.$$

In both cases, these translations were shown to be contextual in [53].

Looking at these examples, we see that the introduction of a context has the following effect: we take the equations we are interested in, when looking at a given algebra, and we interpret these equations in a smaller algebra, comprised only of the elements satisfying the equations in the context. We generically refer to these as *regular elements*. Algebraically, this corresponds to the following:

Definition 3.2.4. Let **Y** be a class of similar algebras, and \mathcal{L} its language. Let θ be a set of equations of $\mathsf{Eq}_{\mathcal{L}'}$ in one variable, where $\mathcal{L}' \subseteq \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ (i.e., *n*-ary terms are read as *n*-ary functions), and where θ is *compatible* with the operations of \mathcal{L}' , i.e., for each *n*-ary operation $t \in \mathcal{L}'$:

$$\theta(x_0) \cup \ldots \cup \theta(x_n) \models_{\mathsf{X}} \theta(t(x_0, \ldots, x_n)).$$

Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{Y}$ be some algebra. Then we let $\theta(\mathbf{A})$ be the following structure:

$$\theta(\mathbf{A}) \coloneqq \{a : \mathbf{A} \models \theta(a)\}$$

equipped with the operations in \mathcal{L}' (note that compatibility of θ allows this). We call this the algebra of θ -regular elements of \mathbf{A} .

If **Y** is a class of all similar algebras in the language \mathcal{L} , and **X** is the class of all algebras in the language \mathcal{L}' , this provides a map $\theta : \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{X}$, sending **A** to $\theta(\mathbf{A})$. Moreover, given a homomorphism of \mathcal{L} -algebras $f : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$, we can define $\theta(f)$ as

$$\theta(f): \theta(\mathbf{A}) \to \theta(\mathbf{B})$$
$$a \mapsto f(a)$$

i.e, as the restriction, and obtain that this is a well-defined homomorphism in the language \mathcal{L}' : it is well-defined since if $\Theta(a)$ holds in **A**, then $\Theta(f(a))$ holds in **B**, since f is a homomorphism. Moreover, it is a \mathcal{L}' -homomorphism since the language is composed of terms in the language \mathcal{L} .

Thus, θ defines a functor. In other words, we have:

Proposition 3.2.5. Let **Y** be some class of algebras, and \mathcal{L} its language, and let $\mathcal{L}' \subseteq \operatorname{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ be the language of **X**. Let θ be a set of compatible equations. Then the assignment:

$$\begin{aligned} \theta : \mathbf{Y} &\to \mathbf{X} \\ \mathbf{A} &\mapsto \theta(\mathbf{A}) \end{aligned}$$

Is a functor, which acts on morphisms by restriction.

Given these definitions, one can see the connection between the notion of a contextual translation and the above functor: if **X** and **Y** are two classes of algebras, and $\langle \zeta, \Theta \rangle$ is a contextual translation between them, consider the following language:

$$\mathcal{L}' \coloneqq \{ \zeta(\psi) : \psi \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}} \}.$$

This will be a language composed of terms from $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$. By definition of being a contextual translation, Θ is a compatible set of equations. Thus, this yields a functor in the manner described above, which we denote by θ_{ζ} . More than that, we have the following characterisation (for a proof see [53], Theorem 5.1 and Lemma 5.4):

Theorem 3.2.6. Let **X** and **Y** be two quasivarieties. If $\langle \zeta, \Theta \rangle$ be a contextual translation between **X** and **Y**. Then $\theta_{\zeta} : \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{X}$ is a right adjoint functor.

The previous theorem establishes a deep connection between translations - an eminently syntactic domain - and adjunctions - which relate the semantic domains of interpretation we care about⁴. Through it we can investigate certain desirable properties of translations through a semantic lens, and seek to impose certain properties through syntactic restrictions.

Before that, we recall the explicit description given of the left adjoint of the functor described above:

Proposition 3.2.7. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta \rangle$ be a contextual translation between $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$. Let θ_{ζ} be the induced right adjoint functor. Then the left adjoint functor, $\mathcal{F} : \mathbf{X} \to \mathbf{Y}$, acts on objects as follows: if $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{Y}$, then let Ψ be a congruence on $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ such that $\mathbf{A} \cong \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}}(\mathcal{VAR})/\Psi$. Then define:

$$\mathcal{F}(A) = \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}'}(X) / \mathsf{Cg}_{\mathbf{Y}}(\zeta^*(\Psi) \cup \bigcup_{i \in \omega} \Theta(x_i))$$

In many cases, more explicit descriptions of left adjoints are available. We also remark that, as we will see throughout the thesis, in the algebra of logic, such explicit descriptions tend to be facilitated by the existence of a topological duality.

Example 3.2.8. (Heyting algebras and S4, continued) As mentioned in the preliminaries, the functor B(-): HA \rightarrow S4 which takes the Booleanisation of a Heyting algebra, and induces the modality \square as the relative complement in the Heyting algebra, is the left adjoint to the functor ρ which selects the open elements. We also note that, dually, σ corresponds to the forgetful functor from the category of Esakia spaces to the category of Boolean spaces which forgets the order.

⁴We remark that Moraschini in fact proved the converse of this Theorem also holds, except the resulting translation might not be unary, but instead, κ -ary.

3.3 Conditions on Adjunctions

For the rest of the chapter, let **X** and **Y** be two quasivarieties, and assume that $\langle \zeta, \Theta \rangle$ is a unary contextual translation, with associated functor θ_{ζ} . Also, for a given $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{X}$, let $\mathfrak{H}(\mathbf{A})$ denote $\theta_{\zeta}(\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}))$.

Notation 3.3.1. We write:

$$\mathbf{A}, \Theta \models \zeta^*(\lambda \approx \gamma)$$

to mean that **A** validates the equation $\zeta^*(\lambda \approx \gamma)$ in the context Θ , that is, in any valuation where all variables ocurring in λ, γ are assumed to satisfy Θ .

We begin by spelling out the structure of interpretations of elements from $\theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A})$. Note that for $a_0, ..., a_n \in \theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A})$, and $\psi(x_0, ..., x_n) \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}$, we have:

$$\psi^{\theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A})}(a_0, ..., a_n) = \zeta(\psi)(a_0, ..., a_n)$$

where the latter is calculated in **A**. Having this in mind, we look at the following:

Proposition 3.3.1. For each $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{Y}$ and $\delta \approx \gamma \in \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathcal{VAR})$,

$$\mathbf{A}, \Theta \vDash \zeta^*(\delta \approx \gamma) \iff \theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A}) \vDash \delta \approx \gamma.$$

Proof. First suppose that $\mathbf{A}, \Theta \models \zeta^*(\delta \approx \lambda)$. Let $v : \mathbf{Tm}(X) \to \theta_{\zeta}(A)$ be an arbitrary valuation. Then define a new valuation:

$$v': \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathbf{Y}}(X) \mapsto A$$
$$x \mapsto v(x)$$

which is defined on variables, and lifted to all terms in X as expected. Note that since v was a valuation taking values in regular elements, then v' will also take values in regular elements. Moreover, we can see by induction on the construction of terms that:

$$v(p(\overline{x})) = v'(\zeta_*(p(\overline{x}))).$$

Indeed, for the base case this holds by assumption. Now assume that $t_0, ..., t_n$ are terms for which this holds. Let ψ be an *n*-ary operation in the language of **X**. Then:

$$v(\psi(t_0, ..., t_n)) = \psi(v(t_0), ..., v(t_n))$$

= $\psi^{\theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A})}(\zeta_*(v'(t_0)), ..., \zeta_*(v'(t_n)))$
= $\zeta_*(\psi)(v'(t_0), ..., v'(t_n))$
= $v'(\zeta_*(\psi(t_0, ..., t_n)))$

where these equalities follow by definition of the translation and our remarks about the explicit shape of operations in the algebra of regular elements. But then, since we have the equality, we obtain that $\theta_{\zeta}(A) \models \delta \approx \gamma$, as intended. The other direction follows by similar arguments.

The former is one of the key results we will need throughout this chapter. An easy consequence of it is a fact relating the structure of the adjunction and the correctness of the translation. First we recall a piece of category theory: **Definition 3.3.2.** Let $F : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{D}$ be a functor. We say that F is *faithful* if for all $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B} \in \mathbb{C}$ and all maps $f, g : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$: if F(f) = F(g) then f = g. We say that it is *full* if whenever $f : F(\mathbf{A}) \to F(\mathbf{B})$ is a map on \mathbb{D} , then there is some map $g : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ such that F(g) = f. We say that F is *fully faithful* if it is both full and faithful. We say that F is *essentially surjective on objects* if for all $\mathbf{C} \in \mathbb{D}$ there is some $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $F(\mathbf{A}) \cong \mathbf{C}$.

Definition 3.3.3. Let $\eta : \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{C}} \implies G(F(-))$ and $\varepsilon : F(G(-)) \implies \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{D}}$ be natural transformations. We say that these are respectively the *unit* and the *counit* if for all $\mathbf{B} \in \mathbb{C}$ we have that the composition,

$$F(\mathbf{B}) \xrightarrow{F(\eta_{\mathbf{B}})} F(G(F(\mathbf{B}))) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon_{F(\mathbf{B})}} F(\mathbf{B})$$

is equal to the identity on **B**, and also, for all $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{D}$ we have that the composition,

$$G(\mathbf{A}) \xrightarrow{\eta_{G(\mathbf{A})}} G(F(G(\mathbf{A}))) \xrightarrow{G(\varepsilon_{\mathbf{A}})} G(\mathbf{A})$$

is equal to the identity on **A**. We say that η is *pointwise injective* (resp. surjective) if for each $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{C}, \eta_{\mathbf{A}}$ is injective (surjective). Similarly we say that ε is pointwise injective/surjective.

Proposition 3.3.4. Let η be the unit of the adjunction $\mathcal{F} \vdash \theta_{\zeta}$. If η is pointwise injective then the translation is *faithful*: for every collection $\Phi \cup \{\lambda \approx \gamma\} \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathbf{X}}$, written in variables $\{x_j : j \in \omega\}$, we have:

$$\Phi \vDash_{\mathsf{X}} \lambda \approx \gamma, \text{ iff } \zeta^*(\Phi) \cup \bigcup_{i \in \omega} \Theta(x_i) \vDash_{\mathsf{Y}} \zeta^*(\lambda \approx \gamma).$$

Proof. Assume that η is pointwise injective. One half of the above condition is true of every contextual translation, so we focus on the other one. Suppose that $\Phi \not\models_{\mathbf{X}} \lambda \approx \gamma$. Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{X}$ be some algebra witnessing this. Then, let v be a valuation, such that $\mathbf{A}, v \models \Phi$ but $\mathbf{A}, v \not\models \lambda \approx \gamma$. Since η is pointwise injective, we have that $\mathfrak{H}(\mathbf{A}), v \models \Phi$ but $\mathfrak{H}(\mathbf{A}), v \not\models \lambda \approx \gamma$ as well. But then using the arguments from Proposition 3.3.1, we get that $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}), v' \models \zeta^*(\Phi)$ whilst $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}), v' \not\models \zeta^*(\lambda \approx \gamma)$. This shows that:

$$\zeta^*(\Phi) \cup \bigcup_{i \in \omega} \Theta(x_i) \not\models_{\mathbf{Y}} \zeta^*(\lambda \approx \gamma)$$

as desired.

We will be interested in translations where not only the unit is injective, but in fact an isomorphism. To work towards that, we need some definitions.

Definition 3.3.5. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a contextual unary translation together with a unary term $f(x) \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$ called the *selector*. We say that the triple $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ is a *selective translation* if:

- 1. ζ is faithful;
- 2. $\models_{\mathsf{Y}} \Theta(f(x))$, i.e., selected elements are regular;
- 3. $\Theta(x) \models_{\mathsf{Y}} f(x) \approx x$.

We say that the translation is *strongly selective* if additionally we have:

4. The unit η of the adjunction is an isomorphism.
Example 3.3.6. The GMT and KGG translations we have encountered are both selective. Let the selector term be $f(x) = \Box x$. Then by the transitivity and reflexivity axioms, for any S4-modal algebra **A**, and $a \in A$, $\Box \Box a = \Box \Box a$. By this fact and given the context is $\Box x$, we have the conditions. The arguments for the KGG translation are similar, using the selector term $\neg \neg x$, and using the fact that on Heyting algebras the equation $\neg \neg \neg \neg x \approx \neg x$ holds.

Also note that they are faithful: we check this for the double negation translation, since the other has been mentioned. Indeed, if $\Phi \not\models \lambda \approx \gamma$, let **B** be a Boolean algebra witnessing this; since we know that **B** is such that $\theta(\mathbf{B}) = \mathbf{B}$, this is enough to prove faithfulness.

Finally, the GMT translation is strongly selective, whereas this is not clear for the double negation translation.

It is a general categorical fact that if the unit is an isomorphism, then the left adjoint is fully faithful and the right adjoint is essentially surjective on objects. We leave open the question of whether this and other sufficient conditions we give are actually necessary.

In addition to being well-behaved, these translations are quite abundant: all four translations we discussed in the previous section are examples of translations that are faithful, and as one can see by their definition, also selective⁵.

We now turn to the selector term. Indeed, in the work of McKenzie [50], categorical equivalences were given by the presence of a unary idempotent and invertible term. The selector term is a similar device. Its role, for our purposes, will be to essentially internalise contexts, and allow the transformation of arbitrary valuations into regular valuations. However, it also has some categorical consequences. The following lemma follows by definition of being a selective translation:

Lemma 3.3.7. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a selective translation, and **A** an algebra. Then whenever $a \in \theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A})$, then f(a) = a.

Proposition 3.3.8. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a selective translation. Then the right adjoint functor, θ_{ζ} , preserves surjective homomorphisms.

Proof. Suppose that $h : A \to B$ is a surjective homomorphism. Let $a \in \theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{B})$ be some regular element. By hypothesis let a' be an element such that h(a') = a, which is possible since h is surjective. Then note that:

$$\theta_{\zeta}(h)(f(a')) = f(h(a')) = f(a) = a,$$

where the second equality follows from Lemma 3.3.7. So $\theta_{\zeta}(h)$ is surjective as intended.

3.4 PAt-Logics and Quasivarieties

The previous section gave us a notion of a selective translation, which was shown to enjoy many of the nice properties of the double negation translation. In this and the following sections we will outline how such translations can be used to develop general "Polyatomic Logics" – so named since the atoms are 'covered' by the selector term.

Since we will be working with logics, we make a few assumptions on the objects at hand. For the following sections, unless specified assume that \vdash is an algebraizable logic, **Y** is its equivalent

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In fact, most unary contextual translations that are considered tend to be of this kind. For a binary example, the reader may want to consider the example, also presented in [53], of the translation from Kleene algebras to distributive lattices, which the reader may find in that paper.

algebraic semantics, $\mu(x)$ and $\Delta(x, y)$ are the two sets witnessing algebraizability. Moreover, denote by $\Lambda(\vdash)$ the lattice of finitary extensions of this logic. We also fix a selective translation $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ between **X** and **Y**, with all previous assumptions made on these classes.

We note that these assumptions are not necessary – indeed, throughout the thesis, namely through the Goldblatt translation, we will encounter examples which do not satisfy them, but are still amenable to the same treatment. The assumptions at hand make, however, for a more transparent read, and in any case, in concrete situations, it will be relatively clear how to overcome the lack of some assumptions.

We will be concerned here with "PAt-variants" of logics:

Definition 3.4.1. Let $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash)$ be a finitary extension of \vdash . We define the PAt-variant of \vdash_* , denoted \vdash^f_* , as follows: for each set $\Gamma \cup \varphi \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$

$$\Gamma \vdash^f_* \varphi \iff \Gamma[f(p)/p] \vdash_* \varphi[f(p)/p].$$

where for each formula, $\chi[f(p)/p]$ is obtained by substituting p by f(p) in χ , and $\Gamma[f(p)/p] = {\chi[f(p)/p] : \chi \in \Gamma}.$

The former abstracts from the idea of a *negative variant* [16].

Definition 3.4.2. Let \vdash_s be an arbitrary subset of $\mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_Y}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_Y}(\mathcal{VAR})$. We say that \vdash_s is a PAt-logic if it is the PAt-variant of a logic $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash)$.

The main notable feature of PAt-logics is that, whilst they are closed under modus ponens, they need not be closed under uniform substitution. We collect some observations about these structures in the next proposition⁶:

Proposition 3.4.3. Let \vdash_s be a PAt-logic, and $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash)$ some logic such that $\vdash_*^f = \vdash_s$. Then \vdash_s is the least set of formulas such that:

- 1. \vdash_s is a consequence relation in the language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$;
- 2. $\vdash_* \subseteq \vdash_s;$
- 3. For all atomic propositions p, we have $\vdash_s \Delta(f(p), p)$.

Proof. To see that \vdash_s is a consequence relation, note this follows from the fact that \vdash_s is one, and the definition of being a PAt variant. If $S \vdash_* \varphi$, then by closure under uniform substitution, $S[f(p)/p] \vdash_* \varphi[f(p)/p]$, so $S \vdash_s \varphi$. The third property follows from the fact that, $\models_Y f^2(p) \approx f(p)$, and hence, $\vdash_* \Delta(f^2(p), f(p))$ by definition of algebraizability, so by definition of being a variant, $\vdash_s \Delta(f(p), p)$.

Now we note that this is least in these conditions: suppose that \Vdash is another consequence relation satisfying the above properties. Suppose that $S \vdash_s \varphi$. By definition, then, $S[f(p)/p] \vdash_* \varphi[f(p)/p]$; hence $S[f(p)/p] \Vdash \varphi[f(p)/p]$) by the second property. Now by assumption, $\Vdash \Delta(f(p), p)$ for all atomic propositions; so by induction on complexity of formulas, and the properties of Δ , we get that:

$$\Vdash \Delta(\varphi[f(p)/p],\varphi)$$

And similar for any formulas in S. So since $S[f(p)/p] \Vdash \varphi[f(p)/p]$, by Δ -Modus Ponens (recalling that $\vdash_* \subseteq \Vdash$, and this is assumed to be algebraizable, hence satisfying $\Delta(x, y), x \vdash_* y$ for any x, y) and the Cut rule, $S \Vdash \varphi$.

⁶In fact, the properties outlined here could have been taken as the definition of PAt-logic.

As examples of the former, we recall from Section 1.1 the cases of DNA-Logics as well as the \square -Logics which we sketched there. The requirement (3) can be seen as an abstract version of requiring that $p \to \square p$ or $\neg \neg p \to p$ hold for atomic propositions. Indeed, in the case of DNA-logics, we have that $p \to \neg \neg p \approx 1$ is a theorem in IPC. Moreover, the set Δ in this case is given by:

$$\Delta(p,q) = \{p \to q, q \to p\}$$

Hence, $\Delta(\neg \neg p, p) = \{p \rightarrow \neg \neg p, \neg \neg p \rightarrow p\}$. Thus, requiring that $\neg \neg p \rightarrow p$ amounts to requiring that $\Delta(\neg \neg p, p) \in \mathsf{IPC}^{\neg}$, the negative variant of intuitionistic logic. The case for \square -logics is wholly similar.

We now turn to showing that PAt-logics relative to a given translation form a complete lattice. Before that, recall from the preliminaries that given a collection $(\vdash_i)_{i\in I}$ of logics, we denote by $\vdash_{(\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash_i)}$ the closure of the union under being a consequence relation.

Proposition 3.4.4. Let $(\vdash_i)_{i \in I}$ be a collection of PAt-logics. Then $\bigcap_{i \in I} \vdash_i$ is a PAt-logic. Moreover:

$$\bigvee_{i\in I}\vdash_{i}=\vdash_{\left(\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash_{i}\right)}$$

where $\bigvee_{i \in I} \vdash_i$ denotes the supremum in the lattice of PAt-logics of \vdash .

Proof. Let $\vdash_i = \Vdash_i^f$. Let $\Vdash^f := \bigcap_{i \in I} \Vdash_i$ Then note that:

$$\bigcap_{i \in I} \vdash_i \coloneqq \bigcap_{i \in I} \{ (\Gamma, \varphi) : \Gamma[f(p)/p] \Vdash_i \varphi[f(p)/p] \}$$
$$= \{ (\Gamma, \varphi) : \Gamma[f(p)/p] \Vdash \varphi[f(p)/p] \}$$
$$= \Vdash^f$$

This follows by definition of being a PAt-variant.

To see that $\bigvee_{i \in I} \vdash_i = \vdash_{\left(\bigcup_{i \in I} \vdash_i\right)}$, we claim that if $\Vdash_i^f = \vdash_i$ for every *i*, then:

$$\left(\bigvee_{i\in I}\Vdash_{i}\right)^{f}=\vdash_{\left(\bigcup_{i\in I}\vdash_{i}\right)}$$

To see this, make some abbreviations: let $\Vdash = \bigvee_{i \in I} \Vdash_i$, and $\vdash_* = \vdash_{(\bigcup_{i \in I} \vdash_i)}$.

Now first, assume that $\Gamma \Vdash^f \varphi$. By assumption, then $\Gamma[f(p)/p] \Vdash \varphi[f(p)/p]$. By definition of being the supremum of a logic (see Proposition 2.5.8), we have that $(\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p])$ belongs to the closure of $\bigcup_{i \in I} \Vdash_i$ under being a consequence relation. So first assume that it belongs to the union; then clearly it belongs to \Vdash_i for some i, hence, $\Gamma \vdash_i \varphi$, as desired. Next, assume that for all $(\Gamma', \psi) \in (\bigcup_{i \in I} \Vdash_i)^{\circ_n}$ this holds. If $(\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p]) \in (\bigcup_{i \in I} \vdash_i)^{\circ_{n+1}}$, then by assumption there is some $(\Gamma', \varphi[f(p)/p]) \in \bigcup_{i \in I} \Vdash_i^{\circ_n}$, and $(\Gamma[f(p)/p], \chi)$ is in the same set for $\chi \in Y$. By closure under uniform substitution, we have that:

$$(\Gamma[f^2(p)/p], \chi[f(p)/p]) \text{ and } (\Gamma'[f(p)/p], \varphi[f^2(p)/p]) \in (\bigcup_{i \in I} \vdash_i)^{\circ_r}$$

Hence, by induction hypothesis, we have that these will be in $\bigcup_{i \in I} \vdash_i$. Hence, in \vdash_* we will have $(\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p])$ which by assumption on some logics means that (Γ, φ) is there as well. The converse inclusion follows by similar arguments.

Hence, we denote by $\Lambda^{f}(\vdash)$ the complete lattice of PAt-variants of the logic \vdash . Moreover, we have the following:

Corollary 3.4.5. The map $f : \Lambda(\vdash) \to \Lambda^{f}(\vdash)$ that assigns to each logic \vdash_{*} its PAt-variant is a complete lattice homomorphism.

Proof. Preservation of bounds is obvious, and we have shown preservation of meets and joins in 3.4.4.

The natural question then is what the appropriate semantics for these logics should be. Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{Y}$ be some algebra. Then define:

$$\mathbf{A}^f := \{ a \in \mathbf{A} : \mathbf{A} \models f(a) = a \}.$$

Note that in light of Lemma 3.3.7, we have:

$$\mathbf{A}^f = \theta(\mathbf{A}).$$

We will use this fact freely in the sequel. We can then define the semantics of our models:

Definition 3.4.6. Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{Y}$. We denote by $\langle A^f \rangle$ the subalgebra of \mathbf{A} generated by regular elements. We say that \mathbf{A} is *regularly generated* if $\mathbf{A} = \langle A^f \rangle$. We say that a pair (\mathbf{A}, v^f) is a *polyatomic model* of the language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}$ if v^f maps propositional variables to regular elements.

We define the semantic clauses for interpreting formulas in a polyatomic model as follows:

- For x a propositional variable, we let $[x] = v^f(x)$
- For any complex terms $\psi(t_0, ..., t_n)$ we have that $\llbracket \psi(t_0, ..., t_n) \rrbracket = \psi^{\mathbf{A}}(\llbracket t_0 \rrbracket, ..., \llbracket t_n \rrbracket)$

Given a model (\mathbf{A}, v^f) , and a set of equations λ, γ we write $(\mathbf{A}, v^f) \models \lambda \approx \gamma$ if for all $x_0, ..., x_n \in \mathcal{VAR}$, $\lambda(v^f(x_0), ..., v^f(x_n)) = \gamma(v^f(x_0), ..., v^f(x_n))$. Given an algebra \mathbf{A} , we write $\mathbf{A} \models_f \varphi \approx \psi$ to mean that for every PAt-model v^f over \mathbf{A} , $(\mathbf{A}, v^f) \models \varphi \approx \psi$; then we say that the equation is PAt-valid in \mathbf{A} . Given a class \mathbb{C} of algebras, we write $\mathbb{C} \models_f \varphi \approx \psi$ to mean that each algebra has the equation as a PAt-validity.

Additionally, we abbreviate what it means to satisfy a sequent: given a pair of the form $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ we write $(\mathbf{A}, v) \models (\Gamma, \varphi)$ to mean that: for all $x_0, ..., x_n \in \mathcal{VAR}$, and each equation $\delta \approx \gamma \in \mu[\Gamma] = \bigcup \{\mu(\varphi) : \varphi \in \Gamma\}$, if $\delta(v(x_0), ..., v(x_n)) = \gamma(v(x_0), ..., v(x_n))$, then $\delta^*(v(x_0), ..., v(x_n)) = \gamma^*(v(x_0), ..., v(x_n))$ for each $\delta^* \approx \gamma^* \in \mu(\varphi)$. We write $\mathbf{A} \models (\Gamma, \varphi)$ to mean that for each valuation $v : \mathcal{VAR} \to \mathbf{A}$, $(\mathbf{A}, v) \models (\Gamma, \varphi)$. We write $\mathbf{A} \models_f (\Gamma, \varphi)$ to mean that for every polyatomic model over $\mathbf{A}, v^f, (\mathbf{A}, v^f) \models (\Gamma, \varphi)$.

Given a family $S \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ we write $\mathbf{A} \models S$ to mean that for each $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in S, \mathbf{A} \models (\Gamma, \varphi)$. Similarly we define $\mathbf{A} \models_f (\Gamma, \varphi)$.

Given an arbitrary v a valuation on **A**, define v^f by letting $v^f(p) = v(f(p))$ and lifting to terms appropriately. Then note that in this situation, for any term χ :

$$v^{f}(\chi) = v(\chi[f(p)/p])$$

Lemma 3.4.7. Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{Y}$ and \vdash_* a finitary extension of \vdash . Then we have:

- 1. $\mathbf{A} \models (\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p]) \text{ iff } \mathbf{A} \models_f (\Gamma, \varphi);$
- 2. If $\mathbf{A} \models \vdash_*$ then $\mathbf{A} \models_f (\vdash_*)^f$
- 3. For any algebra **A**, we have that $\mathbf{A} \models_f (\Gamma, \varphi)$ if and only if $\langle A^f \rangle \models_f (\Gamma, \varphi)$.
- 4. Let **A** be an algebra and \vdash_* an extension of \vdash . Then we have that $\mathbf{A} \models_f (\vdash_*)^f$ implies $\langle A^f \rangle \models \vdash_*$

Proof. (1) Suppose that $\mathbf{A} \neq (\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p])$; then take v a valuation witnessing this, and consider v^{f} ; then since:

$$v^f(\chi) = v(\chi[f(p)/p])$$

We have that $(\mathbf{A}, v^f) \not\models (\Gamma, \varphi)$. The converse is similar.

(2) Suppose that $\mathbf{A} \not\models_f (\Gamma, \varphi)$ where $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in \vdash_*^f$. Then by the previous statement, $\mathbf{A} \not\models (\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p])$; but the latter is by definition in \vdash_* , as desired.

(3) Note that $\langle A^f \rangle^f = A^f$, since the former is a subalgebra of A. Hence a given v is a regular valuation on A if and only if it is a regular valuation on $\langle A^f \rangle$. This yields the result immediately.

(4) Suppose that $\langle A^f \rangle \not\models \vdash_*$. Hence there is a sequent $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in \vdash_*$, and a valuation v, such that:

 $\langle A^f \rangle, v \models \lambda \approx \gamma, \text{ for } \lambda \approx \gamma \in \mu[\Gamma] \text{ and } \langle A^f \rangle, v \not\models \lambda' \approx \gamma' \text{ for } \lambda' \approx \gamma' \in \mu(\varphi)$

Since $\langle A^f \rangle$ is a generated subalgebra, we can express each element as a term over regular elements, say $a = \delta_a(\overline{y})$, for some trm $\delta_a(\overline{y})$. Then for $\lambda \approx \gamma \in \mu[\Gamma]$, we have:

$$[\![\lambda(x_0,...,x_n)]\!]^{\langle A^f\rangle,v} = \lambda(\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})})$$

and similar for γ . Hence consider a regular valuation, say w, on \mathbf{A} , such that $q_i \mapsto v(y_i)$, for each q_i occurring in the above formulas. Then we have that for each λ, γ as noted, $[\lambda[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{x}]]^{\langle A^f \rangle, w} = \lambda(\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})})$ and similar for γ . Hence for each $\lambda \approx \gamma \in \mu[\Gamma]$

$$(\langle A^f \rangle, w) \vDash \lambda(\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}) \approx \gamma(\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})})$$

And likewise, $(\langle A^f \rangle, w) \not\models \lambda'(\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}) \approx \gamma'(\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})})$. Now notice that:

$$\mu[\Gamma[\delta_x(\overline{y})/\overline{x}]] = \{\mu(\chi[\delta_x(\overline{y})]) : \chi \in \Gamma\}$$

and the latter is equal substituting every equation $\lambda \approx \gamma \in \mu[\Gamma]$ using the substitution given. Hence for each equation in $\mu[\Gamma[\delta_x(\overline{y})/\overline{x}]]$, $(\langle A^f \rangle, w)$ satisfies it, and it does not satisfy some equation in $\mu[\varphi[\delta_x(\overline{y})/\overline{x}]]$. Hence $(\langle A^f \rangle, w) \not\models \Gamma[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}], \varphi[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}])$. Hence, since the valuation takes values in regular elements, also $(\langle A^f \rangle, w) \not\models_f \Gamma[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}], \varphi[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}])$.

In light of all of this, by the previous statement, $\mathbf{A} \not\models_f (\Gamma[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{p}], \varphi[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{p}])$. Since \vdash_* is a genuine logic, and thus, is closed under substitution, and since $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in \vdash_*$:

$$(\Gamma[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{p}], \varphi[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{p}]) \in \vdash_* .$$

But then we have by Proposition 3.4.3 that $(\Gamma[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{p}], \varphi[\overline{\delta_x(\overline{y})}/\overline{p}]) \in (\vdash_*)^f$ as well. So we have that $\mathbf{A} \not\models_f (\vdash_*)^f$, as intended.

We further isolate one fact which follows from the previous proof.

Corollary 3.4.8. Suppose that $\langle A^f \rangle \not\models (\Gamma, \varphi)$. Then there is a substitution σ , such that $\mathbf{A} \not\models_f (\Gamma[\sigma(p)/p], \varphi[\sigma(p)/p])$.

These lemmas are needed to establish the connection between PAt-logics and the PAt-quasivarieties, which we turn to now:

Definition 3.4.9. Let $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{Y}$ be algebras. We say that \mathbf{A} is a *core superalgebra* of \mathbf{B} if $\mathbf{A} \leq \mathbf{B}$ and $\mathbf{A}^f = \mathbf{B}^f$.

Definition 3.4.10. Let V be a subquasivariety of Y. We define the PAt-variant of V as:

$$\mathsf{V}^{\uparrow} \coloneqq \{\mathbf{A} : \exists \mathbf{B} \in \mathcal{V}, \mathbf{A}^{f} = \mathbf{B}^{f}, \text{ and } \mathbf{A} \leq \mathbf{B} \}.$$

We say a quasivariety is a PAt-quasivariety, relative to the translation and the quasivariety \mathbf{Y} , if it is the PAt-variant of some subquasivariety of \mathbf{Y} .

Furthermore, we say that a PAt-quasivariety is a PAt-variety, relative to the translation and \mathbf{Y} , if it is the PAt-variant of a subvariety of \mathbf{Y} .

This definition parallels the one for DNA logics, and similar to what is found in that setting, we have:

Proposition 3.4.11. Let **K** be a family of algebras from **Y**. Then:

- 1. **K** is a PAt-quasivariety if and only if it is closed under subalgebras, reduced products and core superalgebras.
- 2. **K** is a PAt-variety if and only if it is closed under subalgebras, homomorphic images, products and core superalgebras.

Proof. The proof is a generalisation of [6, Proposition 3.18], where the role of Heyting algebra regular elements is replaced by that of θ -regular elements. Indeed, we provide only the proof of the first statement, as the second follows by the arguments in that Proposition and the ideas sketched here.

For the right to left direction, we simply note that if V is closed under the specified operations, then it forms a quasivariety; hence if it is further closed under core superalgebras it will be its own PAt-variant.

For the other direction, let V^{\uparrow} be some PAt-variant. We check closure under the operations.

- (Subalgebras): Suppose that A ≤ B and B ∈ V[↑]. By definition, then, there is some C ∈ V such that C ≤ B, with the same set of regular elements. Then consider C ∩ A. We have that this will be a subalgebra of B (since intersections of subalgebras are again subalgebras), so will be in V. Moreover, (C ∩ A)^f = (A)^f: whenever a ∈ A ∩ C, then a ∈ A, so if f(a) = a in A ∩ C, then the same will hold in A; conversely, if a ∈ A, and f(a) = a, then already f(a) = a in B, so by assumption, f(a) ∈ A ∩ C. This then shows that A ∈ V[↑].
- (Reduced Products): Suppose that $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i\in I}$ are a family of algebras all in V^\uparrow , and hence, that $(\mathbf{B}_i)_{i\in I}$ is a family of algebras in V such that $\mathbf{B}_i \leq \mathbf{A}_i$ with the same regular elements. Now consider $\prod_{i\in I} \mathbf{A}_i/R$. By closure of V under reduced products, we obtain that $\prod_{i\in I} \mathbf{B}_i/R \in \mathsf{V}$. Moreover, by Proposition 3.3.8, we have that:

$$\left(\prod_{i\in I}\mathbf{B}_i/R\right)^f = \prod_{i\in I}\mathbf{B}_i^f/R.$$

Hence, we get the latter is equal to $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_i^f / R$, which tells us by the same fact that $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_i / R \in V^{\uparrow}$.

We have that, as expected, PAt quasivarieties and PAt varieties form a complete lattice:

Lemma 3.4.12. Let $(\mathbf{K}_i)_{i \in I}$ be a non-empty collection of PAt-quasivarieties (resp. PAt-varieties). Then $\bigcap_{i \in I} \mathbf{K}_i$ is a PAt-quasivariety (resp. PAt-variety).

Proof. In light of Proposition 3.4.11, we simply note that the intersection will be closed under all the operations.

Indeed, it is not difficult to show that one needs only to look at the composed operator:

$$(\mathbb{ISP}_R)^{\uparrow} =$$

in the sense that whenever **K** is a class of algebras, this is a PAt-quasivariety iff $\mathbf{K} = (\mathbb{ISP}_R)^{\uparrow}(\mathbf{K})$. This follows by the same arguments as presented in [6, Theorem 3.21]. Similarly, a class **K** is a PAt-variety if and only if $\mathbf{K} = \mathbb{V}^{\uparrow}(\mathbf{K})$.

With this we have, denoting by $PAQ(\mathbf{X})$ the class of PAt subquasivarieties of \mathbf{X} . For that we quickly recall the following simple fact:

Lemma 3.4.13. Let $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i \in I}$ and $(\mathbf{B}_{i \in I})$ be two families of algebras, and assume that for each i, $\mathbf{A}_i \leq \mathbf{B}_i$. Then:

- $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_{i \in I} \leq \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{B}_{i \in I}$
- Given a filter F on I, $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_{i \in I} / F \leq \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{B}_{i \in I} / F$

Proof. (1) Is straightforward by the definition: given $a \in \prod_{i \in I} A_i$, $a(i) \in A_i \leq B_i$, hence, $a \in \prod_{i \in I} B_i$; moreover, the operations are computed pointwise.

To see (2), first note that for $a, b \in \prod_{i \in I} A_i$, $a \sim_F b$ implies that $a \sim_F b$ in $\prod_{i \in I} B_i$. Hence we can send the equivalence class $[a]_F \in \prod_{i \in I} A_i/F$ to $[a]_F \in \prod_{i \in I} B_i/F$. It is clear to see that this is then a homomorphism.

Proposition 3.4.14. The map $(-)^{\uparrow} : \Lambda(\mathbf{X}) \to \mathsf{PAQ}(\mathbf{X})$ is a complete lattice homomorphism.

Proof. First let $(\mathbf{K}_i)_{i \in I}$ be a collection of subquasivarieties of **X**. Then we show that:

$$\left(\bigcap_{i\in I}\mathbf{K}_i\right)^{\uparrow} = \bigcap_{i\in I}\mathbf{K}_i^{\uparrow}$$

Indeed, if $\mathbf{A} \in (\bigcap_{i \in I} \mathbf{K}_i)^{\uparrow}$ then \mathbf{A} is the core superalgebra of some \mathbf{B} which is in every subquasivariety; but then clearly \mathbf{A} is in each such subquasivariety. For the converse, if \mathbf{A} is a core superalgebra of \mathbf{B}_i each respectively in \mathbf{K}_i , note that $\bigcap_{i \in I} \mathbf{B}_i$ will be a subalgebra of all \mathbf{B}_i , it will have the same regular elements, and will be in $\bigcap \mathbf{K}_i$, showing the result.

For the preservation of the join, we show that:

$$\left(\bigvee_{i\in I}\mathbf{K}_i\right)^{\uparrow} = \bigvee_{i\in I}\mathbf{K}_i^{\uparrow}$$

Where the left hand side join is taken in the class of quasivarieties, and the left hand side in PAtquasivarieties. Indeed, by our previous remark, and general facts about closure operators, we have that:

$$\bigvee_{i \in I} \mathbf{K}_i^{\uparrow} = (\mathbb{ISP}_R)^{\uparrow} \big(\bigcup_{i \in I} \mathbf{K}_i^{\uparrow}\big)$$

Whereas in turn we have that $\bigvee_{i \in I} \mathbf{K}_i = \mathbb{ISP}_R(\bigcup_{i \in I} \mathbf{K}_i)$. So we show that:

$$\mathbb{ISP}^{\uparrow}_{R}\big(\bigcup_{i\in I}\mathbf{K}_{i}\big)=\mathbb{ISP}^{\uparrow}_{R}\big(\bigcup_{i\in I}\mathbf{K}^{\uparrow}_{i}\big)$$

One inclusion follows from the inflationarity and monotonicity of the \uparrow operator. For the other, assume that **A** is a core superalgebra of **B**, which is a subalgebra of $\mathbf{C} = \prod_{j \in J} \mathbf{D}_j / F$, where for each j, there is some \mathbf{E}_j such that $\mathbf{E}_j \leq \mathbf{D}_j$, and $\mathbf{E}_j \in \mathbf{K}_j$.

Now consider $\prod_{j\in J} \mathbf{E}_j/F$. Then by Lemma 3.4.13, we have that $\prod_{j\in J} \mathbf{E}_j/F \leq \mathbf{C}$. Since $\mathbf{B} \leq \mathbf{C}$, we let $\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{B} \cap \prod_{j\in J} \mathbf{E}_j/F$, which is a subalgebra of both of these algebras. Then we claim that \mathbf{E} is a core subalgebra of \mathbf{B} : indeed, if $a \in B$, and f(a) = a, then surely $a \in \mathbf{C}$, and there f(a) = a. Hence, $a \in \prod_{j\in J} \mathbf{E}_j/F$ since this has the same regular elements as \mathbf{C} . So $a \in \mathbf{G}$ by definition. Thus, we have that \mathbf{A} is a core superalgebra of \mathbf{G} , and \mathbf{G} is in $\mathbb{SP}_R(\bigcup_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i)$. So $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{ISP}_R^{\uparrow}(\bigcup_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i)$, as desired. This shows the other inclusion, and concludes the proof.

We conclude by mentioning some natural facts holding for PAt-Quasivarieties:

Corollary 3.4.15. Every PAt-Quasivariety is generated by its regularly generated algebras.

Proof. Note that if **K** is a PAt-Quasivariety, and $B \in K$ is not regularly generated, then $\langle B^f \rangle \leq B$, and so $\langle B^f \rangle \in \mathbf{K}$ is a regularly generated algebra which moreover has B as its core-superalgebra.

This can be sharpened in the case of PAt-varieties into a Birkhoff-style theorem:

Definition 3.4.16. Let **A** be some algebra. We say that **A** is regular-subdirectly irreducible (RSI) if it is regularly generated and subdirectly irreducible.

Theorem 3.4.17. Every PAt-Variety is generated by its regular-subdirectly irreducible elements.

Proof. Let **K** be a PAt-Variety, and let \mathbf{K}_{SI} be the class of subdirectly irreducible algebras in **K**, and \mathbf{K}_{RSI} the class of regular subdirectly irreducible algebras. Then clearly $\mathbb{V}^{\uparrow}(\mathbf{K}_{RSI}) \subseteq \mathbf{K}$. Conversely, we show that $\mathbf{K} \subseteq \mathbb{V}^{\uparrow}(\mathbf{K}_{RSI})$ by showing that every regularly generated algebra in **K** is in $\mathbb{V}^{\uparrow}(\mathbf{K}_{RSI})$; then the inclusion will follow from the last corollary.

So assume that \mathbf{A} is a regularly generated algebra. By Birkhoff's Subdirect Decomposition Theorem (see Preliminaries), we have that \mathbf{A} is a subdirect product of subdirectly irreducible algebras, i.e:

$$h: A \hookrightarrow \prod_{i \in I} B_i$$

Where the $\mathbf{B}_i \in \mathbf{K}_{SI}$. We will show that in fact $\mathbf{B}_i \in \mathbf{K}_{RSI}$. So let \mathbf{B}_i and $c \in B_i$ be arbitrary. By assumption on the embedding, we have that for some $a \in A$:

$$h(a)(i) = c$$

Since a is regularly generated, there is some term $t(x_0, ..., x_n)$ written over regular elements from A, such that $t(e_0, ..., e_n) = a$ for some $e_0, ..., e_n \in A$. Hence:

$$h(a)(i) = h(t(e_0, ..., e_n))(i) = t(h(e_0)(i), ..., h(e_n)(i)) = c$$

But now notice that $h(e_j)(i)$ is regular: indeed, $f(h(x_j)(i) = h(f(e_j)(i) = h(e_j)(i)$, which follows from h being an embedding, and e_j being a regular element. So we obtain that c is regularly generated. Thus we obtain that A is a subdirect product of regular subdirectly irreducible algebras from \mathbf{K} , i.e, $A \in \mathbb{V}(\mathbf{K}_{RSI})$.

3.5 Dual equivalence between PAt-logics and quasivarieties

As before, let **X** and **Y** be given, and \vdash a logic such that **Y** is its equivalent algebraic semantics. Let $\Lambda(\vdash)$ be the lattice of finitary extensions of \vdash , and $\Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$ the lattice of subquasivarieties of **Y**. Consider the two following maps: for **K** a subquasivariety of **Y**, and \vdash_* a finitary extension. Then first consider the following operators:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*) &\coloneqq \{\mathbf{A} : \forall (\Gamma, \varphi) \in \vdash_*, \mathbf{A} \models (\Gamma, \varphi) \} \\ \mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K}) &\coloneqq \{ (\Gamma, \varphi) : K \models (\Gamma, \varphi) \} \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we define the polyatomic version of these maps:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{QVar}^{f}(\vdash_{*}) &:= \{ \mathbf{A} : \forall (\Gamma, \varphi) \in \vdash_{*}, \mathbf{A} \vDash_{f} (\Gamma, \varphi) \} \\ \mathsf{Log}^{f}(\mathbf{K}) &:= \{ (\Gamma, \varphi) : K \vDash_{f} (\Gamma, \varphi) \} \end{aligned}$$

We will now show that given any such K and \vdash_* , applying these operators yields a PAt-logic and a PAt-quasivariety respectively. First, we show the following, which has the exact same proof as [6, Lemma 3.22].

Proposition 3.5.1. The PAt-validity of a pair (Γ, φ) is preserved under the operations of subalgebras, homomorphic images, products and core superalgebras.

As a corollary, we note it is moreover preserved under reduced products.

Corollary 3.5.2. Given a logic \vdash_* , the class $\mathsf{QVar}^f(\vdash_*)$ is a PAt-quasivariety.

Proof. By Proposition 3.5.1, we have that $(\vdash_*)^f$ is closed under subalgebras, reduced products and core superalgebras. Hence by Proposition 3.4.11, we get the result.

Given a quasivariety $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$, we also denote by $\vdash_{\mathbf{K}}$ the logic $\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K})$, and say this is the logic *dually corresponding* to \mathbf{K} .

Proposition 3.5.3. Given a quasivariety \mathbf{K} , $\mathsf{Log}^{f}(\mathbf{K})$ is the PAt-variant of $\vdash_{\mathbf{K}}$, the finitary extension dually corresponding to \mathbf{K} .

Proof. To see this, note that $\Gamma \not\models_{\mathbf{K}} \varphi$ if and only if there is some $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}$, and $\mathbf{A} \not\models (\Gamma, \varphi)$. By Proposition 3.4.7, this holds iff $(\mathbf{A}, v^f) \not\models (\Gamma[f(p)/p], \varphi[f(p)/p])$. But this holds if and only if $(\Gamma, \varphi) \notin \mathbf{K}^f$.



Figure 3.1: Commuting Diagram of PAt-Logics and Quasivarieties

Denote by $\Lambda(\vdash)^f$ and $\Lambda(\mathbf{Y})^f$ respectively the lattices of PAt-variants of \vdash and PAt-quasivarieties of \mathbf{Y} . Then we have that the diagram in Figure 3.1 commutes:

This follows, exactly as in [6] by observing:

- 1. $\operatorname{\mathsf{QVar}}^f(\vdash^f) = \operatorname{\mathsf{QVar}}(\vdash)^\uparrow$
- 2. $\operatorname{Log}^{f}(\mathbf{K}^{\uparrow}) = (\operatorname{Log}(\mathbf{K}))^{f}$

This follows by the same arguments as those found in the above cited paper, using in an essential fashion Lemma 3.4.7. We extract the consequences of this for our purposes:

Theorem 3.5.4. (Definability Theorem) Every K, a PAt-quasivariety, is defined by its PAtvalidities, i.e for every algebra \mathbf{A} :

$$\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K} \iff \mathbf{A} \models_f \mathsf{Log}^f(\mathbf{K})$$

Proof. If $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}$, then certainly $\mathbf{A} \models_f \mathsf{Log}^f(\mathbf{K})$. Conversely, if $\mathbf{A} \notin \mathbf{K}$, by the above commutativity result, we have that $K = \mathsf{QVar}^f(\mathsf{Log}^f(\mathbf{K}))$, since $\mathsf{QVar}^f(\mathsf{Log}^f(\mathbf{K})) = \mathsf{QVar}^f(\mathsf{Log}(K))^f = \mathsf{QVar}^f(\mathsf{Log}(K))^{\uparrow} = K^{\uparrow} = K$. So $\mathbf{A} \notin \mathsf{QVar}^f(\mathsf{Log}^f(\mathbf{K}))$, hence $\mathbf{A} \nvDash \mathsf{Log}^f(\mathbf{K})$.

As a corollary we have the following Birkhoff theorem analogue:

Theorem 3.5.5. (PAt-Birkhoff) A class \mathbf{K} of algebras is a PAt-quasivariety if and only if it is PAt-definable by a collection of quasi-equations.

Similarly, we have completeness:

Theorem 3.5.6. (Algebraic completeness) Every PAt-logic \vdash_s is complete with respect to its corresponding PAt-quasivariety, i.e., for every pair (Γ, φ) :

$$\Gamma \vdash_{s} \varphi \iff \mathsf{QVar}^{f}(\vdash_{s}) \vDash_{f} (\Gamma, \varphi)$$

Proof. If $\Gamma \vdash_s \varphi$, then certainly $\mathsf{QVar}^f(\vdash_s) \vDash_f (\Gamma, \varphi)$. Now assume that $\Gamma \nvDash_s \varphi$. Then note that:

$$\vdash_s = \operatorname{Log}^f(\operatorname{QVar}^f(\vdash_s))$$

Which follows since $\text{Log}^{f}(\text{QVar}^{f}(\vdash_{s})) = \text{Log}^{f}(\text{QVar}(\vdash_{s})^{\uparrow}) = \text{Log}(\text{QVar}(\vdash_{s}))^{f} = \vdash_{s}$. Hence we obtain the result.

Then in light of this, together with Corollary 3.4.5 and Proposition 3.4.14, we have:

Corollary 3.5.7. The map QVar^f is a dual isomorphism between the complete lattices $\Lambda^f(\vdash)$ and $\Lambda^f(\mathbf{Y})$.

Moreover, in light of Corollary 3.4.15 we have:

Corollary 3.5.8. Every PAt-logic \vdash_f is sound and complete with respect to regularly generated algebras, with respect to PAt-validity.

We thus obtain a completeness theorem for all PAt-logics. We expect that these logics should be ubiquitous, both in light of our examples, and the relative ease of finding selective translations. Given the motivations provided in the introduction, we also hope that they could be useful in applications. For our purposes, we will show in the next chapter that they are intimately related to Blok-Esakia theory.

3.6 Chapter Summary

We summarise our contributions in this chapter as follows:

- We develop the framework proposed in [53], and introduce the concepts of *selective translations*, and prove some basic properties of these translations.
- We generalise the notions introduced in [6] of DNA-logics and varieties to the setting of *Polyatomic* logics and quasivarieties, and prove analogues of Birkhoff's theorem and algebraic completeness for this setting

Chapter 4

General Blok-Esakia Theory

In this chapter we provide a general theoretical application of PAt-logics: the development of a generalised Blok-Esakia theory. This is done by an analysis of the GMT translation, which we carry out in the first sections, in the setting of strongly selective translations. We identify a more specific class of translations called *sober translations* which allow for a Blok-Esakia theory mimicking the GMT case, and note the fact that not all translations we have so far considered are of this kind. We then outline a path to generalising this, making use of natural concepts from DNA-logics which we generalise to Polyatomic Logics. We conclude by showing that these are genuine generalisations of the concepts as they appear in the GMT case.

4.1 The GMT Translation and Classic Blok-Esakia Theory

In this section we recall some known facts from Blok-Esakia theory. For an in-depth reference, we refer the reader to [23], see also [17]. We will provide full proofs of some known facts, as these turn out to have all the relevant ideas which are needed for the general case, and we prefer to outline them in this more concrete setting.

Throughout this and following sections, let $\Lambda(IPC)$ denote the lattice of axiomatic extensions of IPC and NExt(S4) denote the class of normal extensions of S4. Let $\Lambda(IAA)$ and $\Lambda(S4)$ respectively denote the lattices of subvarieties of Heyting algebras and S4-algebras, respectively. Similar notation is used for other systems and varieties.

We begin with the notion of a modal companion which grounds the whole endeavour:

Definition 4.1.1. For $M \in \mathbf{NExt}(S4)$ and $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$, we say that M is a modal companion of L iff:

$$\varphi \in L \iff GMT(\varphi) \in M.$$

It follows by our discussion in Chapter 3 (see the discussion in page 30) and the known algebraic completeness theorems of S4 with respect to S4-algebras and IPC with respect to Heyting algebras, that S4 is a modal companion of IPC. It is however, by far the only one. Another well-known companion is the logic known as Grz: this can be axiomatised as:

$$\mathsf{Grz} := \mathsf{K} \oplus \square(\square(p \to \square p) \to p) \to p.$$

It was shown by Grzegorczyk [39] that this logic is a modal companion of IPC^1 . Given this diversity of companions, one generally makes use of three maps, carrying logics to logics: the first two are denoted by τ and ρ :

$$\tau : \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC}) \to \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{S4})$$
$$L \mapsto \mathsf{S4} \oplus \{GMT(\varphi) : \varphi \in L\}$$

And

$$\tau : \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC}) \to \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{Grz})$$
$$L \mapsto \mathsf{Grz} \oplus \{GMT(\varphi) : \varphi \in L\}$$

By definition, we have that given $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$, $\tau(L)$ and $\sigma(L)$ are logics, though we have no guarantee that they are – as desired – modal companions. In the opposite direction, one defines the following map, from logics $M \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{S4})$ to sets of intuitionistic formulas:

$$\rho(M) = \{\varphi : GMT(\varphi) \in M\}$$

The definition is suggested by the notion of modal companion, and one would want to say that $\rho(M)$ is a logic in $\Lambda(IPC)$, but this is again not immediate. A way to prove these facts goes by looking at the algebraic semantics of these logics, and corresponding to these syntactic assignments some semantic ones.

Let $(-)_{\Box} : \mathbf{S4} \to \mathbf{HA}$ be the functor which maps an S4-algebra **B** to B_{\Box} , and which, for every homomorphism of S4-algebras $f : B \to B'$ maps this to $f \upharpoonright_{\Box} : B_{\Box} \to B'_{\Box}$, the restriction of f. This is well-defined: if $a \in B_{\Box}$, then $\Box a = a$, so $\Box f(a) = f(\Box a) = f(a)$. As it turns out, this functor has some additional nice properties:

- It is a *right adjoint* functor, and hence, preserves all limits (including injective homomorphisms and products, which are specific kinds of limits);
- The right adjoint functor preserves surjective homomorphisms.

Its corresponding left adjoint functor B(-): **HA** \rightarrow **S4**, assigns to each Heyting algebra H its Boolean envelope B(H) (see Preliminaries), together with a \square -modality defined as follows:

$$\Box a = \bigvee \{c \in H : c \leqslant a\}$$

This is well-defined [23, Construction 2.4.7]. On maps, given $f : \mathbf{H} \to \mathbf{H}'$ a Heyting algebra homomorphism, we let $B(f) : B(\mathbf{H}) \to B(\mathbf{H}')$ be the unique lift of this map, which can be shown to preserve the modality. Then we have that:

• The functor B(-) is a left adjoint, and hence preserves all colimits (including surjective homomorphisms, which are coequalizers in the case of varieties) and also preserves finite products and injective homomorphisms.

Finally, the adjunction of these two functors has two very desirable properties:

¹We note however that the current axiomatisation is, as far as we are aware, due to Segerberg [55], who noted Grzegorczyk's original axiom was equivalent to the present simpler one.

- The unit map η is an isomorphism.
- The counit map ε is pointwise injective.

Using these functors one can define appropriate maps on varieties. Given a variety $\mathbf{V} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{HA})$, consider:

$$\tau(\mathbf{V}) = \{ \mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{S4} : \mathbf{B}_{\square} \in \mathbf{V} \}.$$

The ambiguity in denoting this as τ is intentional, and is motivated by the following proposition:

Proposition 4.1.2. Let $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$ and $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathsf{HA})$. Then:

- 1. $\tau(\mathbf{K})$ is a variety, and τ is a complete homomorphism on the lattice of varieties.
- 2. $\tau(Var(L)) = Var(\tau(L))$. Hence $\tau(Log(\mathbf{K})) = Log(\tau(\mathbf{K}))$ and τ is a complete homomorphism on the lattice of logics.
- 3. $\tau(L)$ is the least modal companion of L;

Proof. To see (1), suppose that $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\mathbf{K})$. By Tarski's HSP theorem, assume that \mathbf{A} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{B} , which is a subalgebra of $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{B}_i$, and $(\mathbf{B}_i)_{\Box} \in K$. Since $(-)_{\Box}$ commutes with all limits and surjective homomorphisms, then \mathbf{A}_{\Box} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{B}_{\Box} which is a subalgebra of $\prod_{i \in I} (\mathbf{B}_i)_{\Box}$. Hence $\mathbf{A}_{\Box} \in K$, and thus, $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(K)$.

To see that τ is a homomorphism on the lattice of varieties, notice that $\tau(\bigcap_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i) = \bigcap_{i\in I} \tau(\mathbf{K}_i)$ by definition: $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\bigcap_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i)$ if and only if $\mathbf{A}_{\Box} \in \bigcap_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i$, if and only if $\mathbf{A}_{\Box} \in \mathbf{K}_i$ for each *i*, if and only if $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\mathbf{K}_i)$ for each *i*, if and only if $\mathbf{A} \in \bigcap_{i\in I} \tau(\mathbf{K}_i)$. Moreover, if $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\bigvee_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i)$, then $\mathbf{A}_{\Box} \in \bigvee_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i$; hence \mathbf{A}_{\Box} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{B} , which is a subalgebra of $\prod_{i\in I} \mathbf{C}_i$, where the factors are from the \mathbf{K}_i . Then because the unit is an isomorphism, $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}'_{\Box}$ and $\prod_{i\in I} \mathbf{C}_i = \prod_{i\in I} (\mathbf{C}'_i)_{\Box}$, and $\mathbf{C}'_i \in \tau(\mathbf{K}_i)$ surely. Hence $\mathbf{A} \in \bigvee_{i\in I} \tau(\mathbf{K}_i)$. For the converse, suppose that $\mathbf{A} \in \bigvee_{i\in I} \tau(\mathbf{K}_i)$; then \mathbf{A} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{B} , a subalgebra of $\prod_{i\in I} \mathbf{C}_i$, and $(\mathbf{C}_i)_{\Box} \in$ \mathbf{B}_i ; then \mathbf{A}_{\Box} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{B}_{\Box} , a subalgebra of $\prod_{i\in I} (\mathbf{C}_i)_{\Box}$. Hence $\mathbf{A} \in \bigvee_{i\in I} \mathbf{B}_i$, so $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\bigvee_{i\in I} \mathbf{K}_i)$.

To see (2), we see that for each **S4**-algebra **B**, $\mathbf{B} \in \tau(\mathsf{Var}(L))$ if and only if $\mathbf{B}_{\Box} \in \mathsf{Alg}(L)$, if and only if $\mathbf{B}_{\Box} \models L$ if and only if $\mathbf{B} \models \{GMT(\varphi) : \varphi \in L\}$, if and only if $\mathbf{B} \in \mathsf{Var}(\tau(L))$. Hence by algebraic completeness:

$$\begin{split} \tau(\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K})) &= \mathsf{Log}(\tau(\mathbf{K})) \iff \mathsf{Var}(\tau(\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K})) = \mathsf{Var}(\mathsf{Log}(\tau(\mathbf{K}))) = \tau(\mathbf{K}) \\ \iff \tau(\mathsf{Var}(\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K}))) = \tau(\mathbf{K}). \end{split}$$

With this it is straightforward to see that τ is also a complete homomorphism on logics.

To see (3), notice that by definition if $\varphi \in L$ then $GMT(\varphi) \notin \tau(L)$. Conversely, if $\varphi \notin L$, let $\mathbf{H} \in \mathsf{Var}(L)$ be such that $\mathbf{H} \not\models \varphi$; because η is an isomorphism, we know that there is some \mathbf{B} such that $\rho(\mathbf{B}) = \mathbf{H}$; hence, $\mathbf{B} \in \tau(\mathsf{Alg}(L))$. By (2), then $\mathbf{B} \in \mathsf{Alg}(\tau(L))$, i.e, $\mathbf{B} \models \tau(L)$, and $\mathbf{B} \not\models GMT(\varphi)$. This proves that $\tau(L)$ is a modal companion. It is clear to see that it must be least.

We now turn to the other direction. Paralleling the assignment ρ above, we can define:

$$\rho(\mathbf{K}) \coloneqq \{\mathbf{B}_{\square} : \mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{K}\}.$$

The following proposition also establishes that this indeed gives us a well-defined map, and also that the map ρ on logics does give us genuine modal companions. We call the attention to the reader to the different properties of the adjunctions we will use here, compared to τ :

Proposition 4.1.3. Let $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(S4)$. Then:

- 1. $\rho(\mathbf{K})$ is a variety, and ρ is a surjective complete homomorphism on the lattice of varieties.
- 2. The map $\rho : \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{S4}) \to \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$ defined as $\rho(L) = \{\varphi : GMT(\varphi) \in L\}$ is a complete lattice homomorphism.
- 3. For all $N \in \mathbf{NExt}(S4)$, and $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$, N is a modal companion of L if and only if $\rho(N) = L$. Hence, for all $\mathbf{K} \in \mathsf{Var}(S4)$ and $\mathbf{P} \in \mathsf{Var}(\mathsf{HA})$ we have that if $\mathsf{Log}(K)$ is a modal companion of $\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{P})$ then $\rho(\mathbf{K}) = \mathbf{P}$.

Proof. (1) Suppose that $\mathbf{A} \in \rho(\mathbf{K})$. By Tarski's HSP theorem, \mathbf{A} is a homomorphic image of \mathbf{B} , which is a subalgebra of $\prod_{i \in I} (\mathbf{C}_i)_{\Box}$, where $\mathbf{C}_i \in \mathbf{K}$. Note that since $(-)_{\Box}$ preserves products, the latter is $(\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{C}_i)_{\Box}$. Hence, since B(-) preserves homomorphic images, $B(\mathbf{A})$ is a homomorphic image of $B(\mathbf{B})$ which is a subalgebra of $B((\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{C}_i)_{\Box})$; since the counit is an injective homomorphism, $B((\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{C}_i)_{\Box})$ is a subalgebra of $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{C}_i$, and so $B(\mathbf{B})$ is as well. Thus, $B(\mathbf{A}) \in \mathbf{K}$, since the latter is a variety. Since $(B(\mathbf{A}))_{\Box} \cong \mathbf{A}$, we have that $\mathbf{A} \in \rho(\mathbf{K})$. We leave the verification that this is a complete homomorphism to the reader. To see that it is surjective, simply note that if \mathbf{K} is any variety of Heyting algebras, then $\tau(\mathbf{K}) = \{\mathbf{B} : \rho(\mathbf{B}) \in \mathbf{K}\}$ is such that $\rho\tau(\mathbf{K}) = \mathbf{K}$.

To see (2), first note that if $\mathbf{H} \in \rho(\mathsf{Var}(M))$ then $\mathbf{H} = \rho(\mathbf{B})$ where $\mathbf{B} \models M$; hence, if $GMT(\varphi) \in M$, then $\mathbf{H} \models \varphi$, so $\mathbf{H} \models \rho(M)$. Thus $H \in \mathsf{Var}(\rho(M))$. Conversely, assume that $\varphi \in \rho(M)$, and let \mathbf{H} be such that $\rho(\mathbf{B}) = \mathbf{H}$ and $\mathbf{B} \models M$; since $\varphi \in \rho(M)$, then $GMT(\varphi) \in M$, so $\mathbf{B} \models GMT(\varphi)$, and hence, $\mathbf{H} \models \varphi$ so:

$$\rho(M) \subseteq \mathsf{Log}(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M))$$

Hence by algebraic completeness, and the fact that $\rho(Var(M))$ is a variety:

$$\mathsf{Var}(\rho(M)) \subseteq \mathsf{Var}(\mathsf{Log}(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M)))) = \rho(\mathsf{Var}(M))$$

This shows the other inclusion. Hence we have that $\rho(Var(M)) = Var(\rho(M))$.

Thus, given $M \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{S4})$, $\mathsf{Log}(\mathsf{Var}(\rho(M))) = \mathsf{Log}(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M)))$. We will show that the latter is simply $\rho(M)$. Indeed, if $\varphi \in \rho(M)$, then $GMT(\varphi) \in M$; if $\mathbf{A} \in \rho(\mathsf{Var}(M))$, then for some $\mathbf{B} \in \mathsf{Var}(M)$, $\mathbf{B}_{\Box} = \mathbf{A}$. Since $GMT(\varphi) \in M$, by the results of 30, $\mathbf{A} \models \varphi$, so $\mathbf{A} \in \mathsf{Log}(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M)))$. Conversely, if $\varphi \notin \rho(M)$, then $GMT(\varphi) \notin M$, so let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathsf{Var}(M)$ be such that $\mathbf{A} \nvDash GMT(\varphi)$; we have that $\mathbf{A}_{\Box} \nvDash \varphi$ by the same result, and since $\mathbf{A}_{\Box} \in \rho(\mathsf{Var}(M))$, this shows that $\varphi \notin \mathsf{Log}(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M)))$. By arguments analogous to those above, we can show that ρ is a complete homomorphism.

(3) Note that given any such N and L, we have that $\rho(M) = L$ if and only if $\varphi \in L$ if and only if $GMT(\varphi) \in M$ if and only if M is a modal companion of L.

To see the last statement, assume that Log(K) is a modal companion of Log(P). Then $\rho(Log(K)) = Log(P)$. Hence $Log(\rho(K)) = Log(P)$, so by algebraic completeness, $\rho(K) = P$.

The final map that appears in this context is usually called σ . Whereas, by the contents of the previous propositions, τ is the *least* modal companion, σ outlines the greatest. Its definition on algebras is thus as follows:

$$\sigma(\mathbf{K}) \coloneqq \mathbb{HSP}\{B(\mathbf{H}) : \mathbf{H} \in \mathbf{K}\}\$$

However, a careful analysis of the Blok-Esakia theory, reveals that the greatest modal companion is the one structure which heavily depends on properties of **S4** and **HA**. One fact which can be established generically is the following:

Proposition 4.1.4. For any $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$, $\mathsf{Log}(\sigma(\mathsf{Var}(L)))$ is the greatest modal companion of L.

Proof. First we note that this is a modal companion: assume that $\varphi \in L$. Since $\sigma(Var(L))$ is generated by $B(\mathbf{H})$ for $\mathbf{H} \in Var(L)$, if \mathbf{H} is such an algebra, then $\mathbf{H} \models \varphi$, so $B(\mathbf{H}) \models GMT(\varphi)$ (given that $(B(\mathbf{H}))_{\Box} \cong \mathbf{H}$. Hence $GMT(\varphi) \in Log(\sigma(Var(L)))$. Conversely, if $\varphi \notin L$, let $\mathbf{H} \in Var(L)$ be such that $\mathbf{H} \nvDash \varphi$; hence $B(\mathbf{H}) \nvDash GMT(\varphi)$. But since $B(\mathbf{H}) \in \sigma(Var(L))$ we have that $GMT(\varphi) \notin Log(\sigma(Var(L)))$.

To see that it is the greatest modal companion, suppose that M is an arbitrary modal companion of L. To show that $M \subseteq \text{Log}(\sigma(\text{Var}(L)))$ it suffices to show that $\sigma(\text{Var}(L)) \subseteq \text{Var}(M)$. In turn to show this, it suffices to show that $\{B(\mathbf{H}) : \mathbf{H} \in \text{Var}(L)\} \subseteq \text{Var}(M)$. So let $\mathbf{H} \in \text{Var}(L)$ be arbitrary. Since M is a modal companion of L, then $\rho(\text{Var}(M)) = \text{Var}(L)$. Hence $\mathbf{H} \cong \rho(\mathbf{B})$ for some $\mathbf{B} \in \text{Var}(M)$. Moreover, we know that:

$$B(\mathbf{B}_{\Box}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{B}$$

Maps injectively, via the counit map. Hence $B(\mathbf{B}_{\square}) \in Var(M)$. But then $\sigma(\mathbf{H}) \in Var(M)$, which shows the result.

Unlike the remaining maps, the fact that $\sigma : \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC}) \to \mathsf{NExt}(\mathsf{Grz})$ as defined above is a homomorphism on the lattice of varieties, or that its definition on varieties matches up with its definition on logics, requires using "Blok's lemma". This is the result which says that for each $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{Grz})$, that is, each subvariety of the variety of \mathbf{Grz} -algebras, \mathbf{K} is generated by its elements of the form $B(\mathbf{H})$ for $\mathbf{H} \in \mathbf{HA}$.

This result is quite particular to Heyting algebras and IPC, and to the properties of the **Grz** axiom. On the other hand, it is plain to see from the facts we have about τ and ρ , that the categorical properties we noted – the unit of the adjunction being an isomorphism, the counit being injective, etc – are already enough to allow some properties – like FMP, tabularity, or decidability - to transfer between logical systems.

4.2 Sober Translations

The recollections of last section should give us a good idea of how to generalise basic Blok-Esakia theory for a great number of contextual translations. For that purpose, assume that **X** and **Y** are quasivarieties, where **X** is an algebraic semantics of a logic $\vdash_{\mathbf{X}}$, with set of equations $\mu_{\mathbf{X}}(x)$ witnessing this fact, and **Y** is the equivalent algebraic semantics of $\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}}$, with sets $\mu_{\mathbf{Y}}(x)$ and $\Delta_{\mathbf{Y}}(x, y)$. Let $\Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$ and $\Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$ be the lattices of finitary extensions of the logics. We assume throughout that $\overline{\zeta} = \langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ is a selective translation from $\models_{\mathbf{X}}$ to $\models_{\mathbf{Y}}$. Correspondingly, let $\Lambda(\mathbf{X})$ and $\Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$ be the lattices of subquasivarieties of **X** and **Y**.

We also need a special assumption which is met in all cases we consider. This is that, essentially, the translation commutes with the algebraization. More concretely, given any formula $\varphi \in \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}}(\mathcal{VAR})$, we assume that:

$$\zeta^*(\mu_{\mathbf{X}}(\varphi)) = \mu_{\mathbf{Y}}(\zeta_*(\varphi))$$

Throughout, we use θ to refer to the right adjoint functor associated to this translation, and \mathcal{F} to denote the corresponding left adjoint functor.

First we will define two maps between $\vdash_{\mathbf{X}}$ and $\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}}$.

Definition 4.2.1. Let ρ be the following map: for $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$:

$$\rho(\vdash_{\ast}) \coloneqq \{ (\Gamma, \varphi) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}}(\mathcal{VAR}) : \zeta_{\ast}[\Gamma] \vdash_{\ast} \zeta_{\ast}(\varphi)] \}$$

Also, define τ as the following map, for $\vdash^* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$:

$$\tau(\vdash^*) \coloneqq \vdash_{\mathbf{Y}} \oplus \{(\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*(\varphi)) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}}(\mathcal{VAR}) : \Gamma \vdash^* \varphi\}$$

It is straightforward to see that τ as defined is a logic. These maps are related to the following definition:

Definition 4.2.2. Let $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$ and $\vdash^* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$. We say that \vdash_* is a ζ -companion of \vdash^* if:

$$\Gamma \vdash^* \varphi \iff \zeta_*[\Gamma] \vdash_* \zeta_*(\varphi)$$

Given any \vdash^* , we denote by $\zeta(\vdash^*)$ the collection of ζ -companions of this logic.

Correspondingly we define the following on algebras: for \mathbf{K} a subquasivariety of \mathbf{X} :

$$\tau(\mathbf{K}) \coloneqq \{\mathbf{A} : \theta(\mathbf{A}) \in K\}$$

The following is analogous to Proposition 4.1.2. Its proof follows mostly the same way, using the hypothesis of strong selectivity to exploit the fact that the unit is an isomorphism, and by Proposition 3.3.8, the right adjoint θ preserves surjective homomorphisms.

Proposition 4.2.3. Let $\vdash^* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$ and $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$. Assume that ζ is a strongly selective translation.

- 1. $\tau(\mathbf{K})$ is a quasivariety, and τ is a complete homomorphism on the lattices of quasivarieties.
- 2. $\tau(\operatorname{\mathsf{QVar}}(\vdash^*)) = \operatorname{\mathsf{QVar}}(\tau(\vdash^*))$. Hence $\tau(\operatorname{\mathsf{Log}}(\mathbf{K})) = \operatorname{\mathsf{Log}}(\tau(\mathbf{K}))$ and τ is a complete homomorphism on the lattice of logics.
- 3. $\tau(\vdash_*)$ is the least ζ -companion of \vdash_* .

Proof. (1) follows from the same arguments as before. For (2) assume that $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\mathsf{QVar}(\vdash^*))$, hence $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \in \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash^*)$. If $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in \vdash^*$, then $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \models (\Gamma, \varphi)$. Assume that $\mathbf{A}, v \models \mu_{\mathbf{Y}}[\zeta_*[\Gamma]]$. hence, by assumption, $\mathbf{A}, v \models \zeta^*[\mu_{\mathbf{X}}[\Gamma]]$. So since the translation is selective, we can transfer this valuation to obtain some valuation v', such that $\theta(\mathbf{A}), v' \models \mu_{\mathbf{X}}[\Gamma]$. By assumption, then $\theta(\mathbf{A}), v' \models \mu_{\mathbf{X}}(\varphi)$, which by the reverse arguments shows that $\mathbf{A}, v \models \mu_{classY}[\zeta_*(\varphi)]$. This shows that $\mathbf{A} \models (\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*(\varphi))$. Similarly, if $\mathbf{A} \in \mathsf{QVar}(\tau(\vdash^*))$, then we show that $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \in \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash^*)$ using the converse arguments. Similar arguments also show that:

$$au(\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K})) = \mathsf{Log}(au(\mathbf{K}))$$

For (3), left to right is obvious. Now for the converse, assume that $\Gamma \not\models^* \varphi$. Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash^*)$ witness this. Since the translation is strongly selective, we know that there exists some algebra \mathbf{B} such that $\theta(\mathbf{B}) \cong \mathbf{A}$. Hence, $\mathbf{B} \in \tau(\mathsf{QVar}(\vdash^*))$. By the same arguments as above, then $\mathbf{B} \not\models (\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*(\varphi))$. But by (2) we have that then $\mathbf{B} \in \mathsf{QVar}(\tau(\vdash^*))$, hence, by completeness, $(\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*(\varphi)) \notin \tau(\vdash^*)$.

Hence, all strongly selective translations admit a notion of a least ζ -companion. For such translations, for now, we cannot say much more. Hence we turn to the following definition:

Definition 4.2.4. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a strongly selective translation between **X** and **Y**. We say that $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ is a *sober translation* if it satisfies:

- (Injective Preservation) \mathcal{F} preserves injective morphisms;
- (Sobriety) The counit ε is pointwise injective.

In light of the previous section we have:

Proposition 4.2.5. The Gödel-McKinsey-Tarski translation is sober.

Proof. We have noted in Example 3.3.6 that the translation is strongly selective. The fact that the counit of the adjunction is injective, and the left adjoint preserves injective morphisms was noted in pp.49, and is shown in [23, Construction 2.5.7].

For sober translations we can show the following:

Proposition 4.2.6. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a sober translation. For $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$, let:

$$\rho(\mathbf{K}) = \{\theta_{\zeta}(\mathbf{A}) : \mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}\}$$

Then $\rho(\mathbf{K})$ is a quasivariety, and the map $\rho : \Lambda(\mathbf{X}) \to \Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$ is a surjective complete homomorphism.

Proof. The proof runs exactly the same way as (1) in 4.1.3, except we use Maltsev's ISP_R theorem, instead of Tarski's HSP theorem.

We also have the definition of ρ on logics, analous to the GMT case:

Proposition 4.2.7. For each $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$, $\rho(\vdash_*)$ is a logic in $\Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$. Moreover, $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$ is a ζ -companion of $\vdash^* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$ if and only if $\rho(\vdash_*) = \vdash^*$. Hence, for all $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$ and $\mathbf{P} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$ we have that if $\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K})$ is a modal companion of $\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{P})$ then $\rho(\mathbf{K}) = \mathbf{P}$.

Hence, for sober translations we have that all finitary extensions of $\vdash_{\mathbf{X}}$ have ζ -companions, and the syntactic maps witnessing this transformation have a concrete semantic meaning. Moreover, we also have the existence of greatest ζ -companions: for $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$, define:

$$\sigma(\mathbf{K}) \coloneqq \mathbb{ISP}_R\{\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{B}) : \mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{K}\}$$

Then we have the following:

Proposition 4.2.8. For any logic $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$, $\mathsf{Log}(\sigma(\mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*)))$ is the greatest ζ -companion of \vdash_* .

As noted, properties like FMP and tabularity now could be studied in the relationship between these two systems: for instance, if $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$ is generated by its finite elements, clearly $\rho(\mathbf{K})$ will be as well; if $\mathbf{P} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$ is generated by a single element, then $\tau(\mathbf{P})$ will be as well. In specific cases, a more detailed study could then be made paralleling the preservation results studied for the Blok-Esakia theory.

We conclude this section by showing that the KGG translation is not sober. First, we note that the following result is proven in [57, Lemma 4.2]:

Proposition 4.2.9. The unit of the adjunction $\mathcal{F} \vdash \mathsf{Reg}$, between Boolean algebras and Heyting algebras, is an isomorphism.

Hence the natural follow up question is whether such a translation is in fact sober. The following results would also easily follow from results at the end of this section; however the proof we provide illustrates some of the questions that we will encounter in Chapter 5, and so we opt to discuss it in greater detail.

For that purpose we recall some facts about the regularisation of a Heyting algebra. Throughout, given an Esakia space (X, \leq, τ) , and U a clopen in X, let $Max(U) = \{x \in U : \forall y \in X, \text{ if } x \leq y \text{ then } x = y\}.$

Lemma 4.2.10. Let H be a Heyting algebra, and X_H the dual Esakia space. Then:

- 1. For each $U \in \mathsf{ClopUp}(X_H)$, we have that $U = \varphi(a)$ is such that $a \in \mathsf{Reg}(H)$ if and only if: for all $x \in X_H$, if $\mathsf{Max}(\uparrow x) \subseteq U$, then $x \in U$.
- 2. For each $a, b \in \mathsf{Reg}(H)$ we have that a = b if and only if $\varphi(a) \cap \mathsf{Max}(X_H) = \varphi(b) \cap \mathsf{Max}(X_H)$.
- 3. The assignment $k : \operatorname{Reg}(H) \to \operatorname{Clop}(\operatorname{Max}(X_H))$ given by $k(a) = \varphi(a) \cap \operatorname{Max}(X_H)$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. (1) First assume that $a \in \text{Reg}(H)$. Let $U = \varphi(a)$. Assume that $\text{Max}(\uparrow x) \subseteq U$, but $x \notin U$. Hence since $U = \neg \neg U$, there is some $x \leq y$, such that whenever $y \leq z$, then $z \notin U$. Since X_H is an Esakia space, let $y \leq z$ be maximal element; then we get a contradiction to $\text{Max}(\uparrow x) \subseteq U$. Conversely, we show that $\neg \neg U = U$. Hence, assume that $x \in \neg \neg U$; hence whenever $x \leq y, y \leq z$ and $z \in U$. Hence in particular, this holds for all maximal elements seen by x, which implies by assumption that $x \in U$.

(2) The left to right direction is clear. If $a \neq b$, then by Esakia duality, $\varphi(a) \neq \varphi(b)$. Then without loss of generality, there is $x \in \varphi(a)$ such that $x \notin \varphi(b)$. Now if $\mathsf{Max}(\uparrow x) \subseteq \varphi(b)$, by regularity, $x \in \varphi(b)$, which does not hold. Hence, there is some y, such that $x \leqslant y$, and $y \notin \varphi(b)$, whereas obviously, $y \in \varphi(a)$.

(3) Now let $k : \operatorname{Reg}(H) \to \operatorname{Clop}(\operatorname{Max}(X_H))$ be the assignment $k(a) = \varphi(a) \cap \operatorname{Max}(X_H)$. Then k is injective, since if $a \neq b$, then $k(a) \neq k(b)$ by what we just showed. Moreover, this is easily seen to be surjective, and it is also a Boolean algebra homomorphism: $k(a \wedge b) = k(a) \cap k(b)$, and we can see that $k(\neg a) = \varphi(\neg a) \cap \operatorname{Max}(X_H) = \operatorname{Max}(X_H) - (\downarrow(\varphi(a)))$. Then we claim the latter is equal to $\operatorname{Max}(X_H) - \varphi(a)$. Indeed, if $x \in k(\neg a)$, then $x \notin \downarrow(\varphi(a))$. Since x is maximal, then $x \notin \varphi(a)$, hence, $x \in \operatorname{Max}(X_H) - \varphi(a)$. Conversely, if $x \in \operatorname{Max}(X_H) - \varphi(a)$, then if $x \leq y$, then x = y, so $y \notin \varphi(a)$. This shows the claim. Moreover, k preserves the bounds, which shows that k is an isomorphism of Boolean algebras.

Now let $\text{Reg} : \text{HA} \to \text{BA} : \mathcal{F}$ be the adjunction corresponding to the double negation translation. As far as we are aware, there are no descriptions of the left adjoint functor for this right adjoint² which are very explicit (but see [57] for an extended discussion). However, we can show that the translation is not sober using the above duality-theoretic properties.

Consider 2 the 2-element Boolean algebra. This is a Heyting algebra, and it is clear that Reg(2) = 2. Moreover, by Lemma 4.2.10, we obtain that any Heyting algebra which Esakia space has exactly two maximal elements (and only such Esakia spaces) will map via Reg to 2.

 $^{^{2}}$ By contrast, it is known that Reg is *left adjoint* to the full and faithful inclusion of Boolean algebras into Heyting algebras.

Now assume towards a contradiction that the translation is sober. Hence $\mathcal{F}(\text{Reg}(2))$ must be isomorphic to 2, since it is an adjunction: we know that $\text{Reg}(\mathcal{F}(\text{Reg}(2))) = 2$, by the fact that this is an idempotent adjunction (since it is strongly selective), and hence it must have two elements in the dual Esakia space. But now consider the Heyting algebra in Figure 4.1



Figure 4.1: Hasse Diagram of H(2)

Dually, this corresponds to the frame known as a 2-fork. It is clear to see that Reg(H) = 2 as well. By assumption on the adjunction we have a counit map $\varepsilon : \mathcal{F}(\text{Reg}(H)) \to H$, which is dually, a surjective p-morphism from the 2-fork to the space with 2 elements (since we assume that $\mathcal{F}(\text{Reg}(H)) = \mathcal{F}(2)$ is isomorphic to the 2-element Boolean algebra). But this is impossible, as can be obtained by inspecting the diagram in Figure 4.2, and noting that there cannot be a surjective p-morphism from a connected frame to a disconnected one.



Figure 4.2: Impossibility of P-morphism from 2-fork to 2-Boolean algebra

Hence we have shown:

Corollary 4.2.11. The KGG translation is not sober.

The former proof illustrates our choice of the term *sobriety*: dually, the space X_H as seen above is *not* "sober" in so far as it contains points which are redundant from the point of view of the adjunction. This will become a theme in later chapters.

4.3 Polyatomic Logics as Generalised Companions

Despite the notion of ζ -companion corresponding very naturally to that found in Blok-Esakia theory, it seems to have some flaws. For starters, we do not have an understanding of how many selective translations are strongly selective or sober. On the other hand, even for sober translations, the description we gave of the greatest modal companion is in a sense purely existential – we do not have any semblance of an axiomatisation of it on the basis of the original logic. Hence, one might ask whether some natural construction could exist which could match up with ζ -companions but also be defined for a much larger scope of translations.

To assist us in this task, we recall from [6] two crucial notions: that of the *least* and *great*est DNA-variant. It was proved that every intermediate logic has both of these variants. More concretely, the following was shown:

Definition 4.3.1. Let $L \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$. We say that L is:

- DNA-minimal if whenever S is an intermediate logic and $L^{\neg} = S^{\neg}$ then $L \subseteq S$.
- DNA-maximal if whenever S is an intermediate logic and $L^{\neg} = S^{\neg}$ then $S \subseteq L$.

Definition 4.3.2. Let L' be a DNA-logic. We define the *schematic fragment* of L', denoted Schem(L') as follows:

$$Schem(L') = \{\varphi : \forall \psi, \varphi[\psi/p] \in L'\}$$

In other words, the schematic fragment is the smallest fragment of the DNA-logic which is closed under substitution. It can be shown that this is an intermediate logic, and moreover:

$$\mathsf{Var}(Schem(L')) = \mathsf{Var}(\{\langle H_{\neg} \rangle : \mathbf{H} \in \mathsf{DNA} - \mathsf{Var}(L')\})$$

In other words, the variety generated by the schematic fragment is precisely the variety generated by the regularly generated subalgebras of those **H** which belong to the DNA-variety of L'. More importantly, we have the following:

Proposition 4.3.3. For each intermediate logic L, L is DNA-maximal if and only if $L = Schem(L^{-})$.

Hence, schematic fragments provide a concrete syntactic description of the greatest DNAvariant. This is not of course a very concrete decription - in fact, it is shown in [6] that the schematic fragment of \mathcal{IPC} is the well-known *Medvedev Logic*, which as far as we are aware has never been given a recursive axiomatisation. Nevertheless, knowing the properties associated to it can provide us with insight on the nature of the translation and the logics at play.

To see this, we first exemplify this for the GMT translation, once again. If indeed \Box -varieties and \Box -logics should serve as something like generalised modal companions, then we should hope that for this prototypical example they should coincide. Indeed, note that:

Proposition 4.3.4. For each variety $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{S4})$:

$$au(
ho(\mathbf{K})) = \mathbf{K}^{\uparrow}$$

Consequently, given two logics $M, N \in \mathbf{NExt}(S4)$ and a logic $L \in \Lambda(\mathcal{IPC})$, we have that M, N are both modal companions of L if and only if M and N have the same \Box -variant.

Proof. Indeed, if $\mathbf{B} \in \tau(\rho(\mathbf{K}))$, then $\mathbf{B}_{\Box} = \mathbf{C}_{\Box}$ where $\mathbf{C} \in \mathbf{K}$; hence, up to isomorphism, \mathbf{C}_{\Box} includes in \mathbf{B}_{\Box} , so $B(\mathbf{C}_{\Box})$ maps injectively into $B(\mathbf{B}_{\Box})$, which since the counit is injective, is a subalgebra of \mathbf{B} . Since $B(\mathbf{C}_{\Box}) \in \mathbf{K}$, then \mathbf{B} is a core superalgebra of $B(\mathbf{C}_{\Box})$, and so is in \mathbf{K}^{\uparrow} . Conversely, if $\mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{K}^{\uparrow}$, then $\mathbf{C} \leq \mathbf{B}$ where $\mathbf{C} \in \mathbf{K}$, and they share the same core; hence, $\mathbf{B}_{\Box} \in \rho(\mathbf{K})$, hence, $\mathbf{B} \in \tau(\rho(\mathbf{K}))$.

Now in light of the fact we just showed, $M^{\Box} = N^{\Box}$ (their Box variant) if and only if $\tau(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M))) = \tau(\rho(\mathsf{Var}(N)))$. Since τ is injective, this holds if and only if $\rho(\mathsf{Var}(M)) = \rho(\mathsf{Var}(N))$. This holds if and only if:

$$\operatorname{Var}(\rho(M)) = \operatorname{Var}(\rho(N))$$

Which by algebraic completeness holds if and only if $\rho(M) = \rho(N)$. The latter holds if and only if M and N are modal companions of L.

Hence, as expected, greatest modal companions should exactly correspond to the largest logic with the same \Box -variant. That is:

Proposition 4.3.5. If L is an intermediate logic, $\sigma(L) = Schem(\tau(L)^{\Box})$.

Proof. First note that $Schem(\tau(L)^{\Box})$ and $\tau(L)$ have the same \Box -variant by definition; hence, they are both modal companions of L. Moreover, since $Schem(\tau(L)^{\Box})$ is the greatest having $\tau(L)^{\Box}$ as a \Box -variant, it will also be the greatest modal companion. Hence since $\sigma(L)$ is moreover the greatest modal companion, we have that $Schem(\tau(L)^{\Box}) = \sigma(L)$.

If we now consider a world where we did not know the axiom Grz, we can imagine the possibilities of arriving to this axiom through the study of the schematic fragment. Namely, we could – as we will do in the next section – derive the following result:

Proposition 4.3.6. The lattice $\Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$ is isomorphic to $\Lambda^f(\mathsf{S4})$.

Let us exemplify this briefly: consider for instance the logic $\mathsf{LC} \in \Lambda(\mathsf{IPC})$, which is axiomatised by the axiom $p \to q \lor q \to p$. It can be shown by semantic methods that $\tau(\mathsf{LC}) = \mathsf{S4.3}$, the system $\mathsf{S4}$ together with the axiom $\Box(\Box p \to q) \lor \Box(\Box q \to p)$. The lattice of extensions of this logic has a countable, though somewhat complicated structure; by contrast, in light of the previous result, one has that $\Lambda(LC) \cong \Lambda^{\Box}(\mathsf{S4.3}) \cong \Lambda(\mathsf{Grz.3})$, which is known to be isomorphic to an infinite descending chain (see [14, pp.427]). Hence, the study of \Box -variant extensions could presumably, in a setting where the Grz axiom was not known, be carried out in a more straightforward fashion.

A similar but more striking example is the following: if one looks at CPC, its least modal companion is the system S5, which has infinitely many extensions. By contrast, $S5^{\Box}$ has no proper extensions.

In the next few sections, following the structure of [6], we outline how the notion of a "DNAlogic" can be carried out in general. We provide most of the proofs, since the change of setting brings some subtleties we would wish to take into consideration, but refer the reader to the article above for some facts which carry to our setting immediately.

4.4 Connecting Companions and Variants

In this section we conclude our discussion by establishing the connection between our discussion of ζ -companions and PAt-logics. Assume throughout a contextual translation $\overline{\zeta} = \langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$.

Proposition 4.4.1. Let $\overline{\zeta}$ be a strongly selective translation, and $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$. Then $\tau(\mathbf{K})$ is a PAt-quasivariety. Moreover, the assignment:

$$\tau: \Lambda(\mathbf{X}) \to \Lambda^{f}(\mathbf{Y})$$

is injective.

Proof. By Proposition 4.2.3, we know that $\tau(\mathbf{K})$ is a quasivariety. Moreover, it is easy to see that it is closed under core superalgebras: if $\mathbf{A} \in \tau(\mathbf{K})$, and $\mathbf{A} \leq \mathbf{B}$, where $\mathbf{A}^f = \mathbf{B}^f$, then $\theta(\mathbf{B}) \in \mathbf{K}$, so $\mathbf{B} \in \tau(\mathbf{K})$ by definition.

To see that τ is injective, notice that if $\mathbf{K} \neq \mathbf{K}'$, then let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}$ and $\mathbf{A} \notin \mathbf{K}'$ be arbitrary. Then $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}) \in \tau(\mathbf{K})$ by definition of τ and the fact that the unit is an isomorphism. By the same fact, we have $\mathcal{F}(A) \notin \tau(\mathbf{K}')$. So $\tau(\mathbf{K}) \neq \tau(\mathbf{K}')$.

Hence, we have that, semantically, for strongly selective translations, one can study least ζ companions as logics, or as PAt-logics. If moreover we assume that the translation is sober, we have
the following result:

Proposition 4.4.2. (PAt-Blok Esakia Isomorphism) Assume that $\overline{\zeta}$ is a sober translation. Then the assignment $\tau : \Lambda(\mathbf{X}) \to \Lambda^{f}(\mathbf{Y}) : \rho^{f}$ is a lattice isomorphism.

Proof. Let **K** be an arbitrary PAt-quasivariety in $\Lambda^{f}(\mathbf{Y})$. We will show that $\tau \rho(\mathbf{K}) = \mathbf{K}$. Indeed, first we see that if $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}$, then $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \in \rho(\mathbf{K})$, so by definition $\mathbf{A} \in \tau \rho(\mathbf{K})$. Conversely, if $\mathbf{A} \in \tau \rho(\mathbf{K})$, then $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \in \rho(\mathbf{K})$. By assumption, then $\theta(\mathbf{A}) = \theta(\mathbf{B})$ for some $\mathbf{B} \in K$. Hence note that $\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A})) = \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{B}))$. Since the translation is sober, by sobriety, $\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{B})) \leq B$, so $\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{B})) \in K$. But by sobriety again, $\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A})) \leq \mathbf{A}$, and so we get that \mathbf{A} is a core superalgebra of $\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{B})) - i.e$, $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}$, since \mathbf{K} is a PAt-quasivariety. This shows that τ is surjective.

The fact that τ is an injective homomorphism between these lattices follows from the commuting diagram of pp.45, and Proposition 4.4.1.

Corollary 4.4.3. If $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ is a sober translation, then $\Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}}) \cong \Lambda^{f}(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$.

This isomorphism can thus serve as a natural correspondence for the study of the relationship between two systems. In a sense, as noted in the introduction, it can be seen as "modding out" Blok's Lemma: since our Polyatomic Logics are by construction complete with respect to regularly generated algebras, this ensures the isomorphism goes through in that case. Nevertheless, this does not trivialise the situation – as we will have opportunity to see, sobriety is far from a straightforward property.

As a consequence of the former result, we also get for free that the Double Negation Translation could never be sober: it is trivial to observe that there is a single quasivariety of Boolean algebras, and correspondingly, a single logic, though it is known that there are infinitely many DNA-logics [6, Theorem 5.11].

For the rest of this section, we show that additionally, in the setting of sober translations we get that the natural counterpart of the map σ is defined. As we will see, we have a good grasp of it semantically:

Definition 4.4.4. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a sober translation between **X** and **Y**, inducing an adjunction $\theta : \mathbf{X} \to \mathbf{Y} : \mathcal{F}$. We define for each quasivariety $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$, the collection

$$\sigma(K) = \mathsf{QVar}(\{\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}) : \mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}\})$$

Definition 4.4.5. Let \vdash_f be a PAt-logic. We define $Schem(\vdash_f)$, its schematic fragment as:

$$Schem(\vdash_{f}) \coloneqq \{(\Gamma, \varphi) : \forall \psi \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{Y}}, \Gamma[\psi/p] \vdash_{f} \varphi[\psi/p]\}$$

In other words, the schematic fragment is the collection of all formulas for which the PAt-logic is closed under substitution. The following explains the main properties of this:

Lemma 4.4.6. For each PAt-logic \vdash_f , $Schem(\vdash_f)$ is a logic in $\Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$. Moreover, it is the greatest logic which has \vdash_f as a PAt-variant.

Proof. The verification that this is a logic is straightforward. It is also clear that the schematic fragment will have \vdash_f as its PAt-variant. Now suppose that \vdash_* has \vdash_f as a PAt-variant. Assume that $\Gamma \vdash_* \varphi$ is arbitrary, and suppose that ψ . Then for each ψ , we have $\Gamma[\psi/p] \vdash_* \varphi[\psi/p]$, hence, $\Gamma[\psi/p][f(q)/q] \vdash_* \varphi[\psi/p][f(q)/q]$. This means that $\Gamma[\psi/p] \vdash_f \varphi[\psi/p]$. Hence $(\Gamma, \varphi) \in Schem(\vdash_f)$.

Moreover, schematic fragments are also companions. To simplify notation, given \vdash_* , we denote by:

$$\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_{\ast}) \coloneqq Schem(\mathsf{Log}^{f}(\mathsf{QVar}(\tau(\vdash_{\ast}))))$$

Lemma 4.4.7. For each $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$ we have that $\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*)$ is a ζ -companion of \vdash_* .

Proof. Suppose that $\Gamma \vdash_* \varphi$. Then by definition, $(\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*[\varphi]) \in \tau(\vdash_*)$. Now suppose that ψ is any formula. We want to show that if $\mathbf{A} \in Var(\tau(\vdash_*))$, then $\mathbf{A} \models_f (\zeta_*[\Gamma][\psi/p], \zeta_*[\varphi][\psi/p])$. Hence by definition, we want to check that $\mathbf{A} \models (\zeta_*[\Gamma][\psi/p][f(q)/q], \zeta_*[\psi/p][f(q)/q])$. But we know that $\tau(\vdash_*)$ is a logic, and hence is closed under uniform substitution; so since $\mathbf{A} \models (\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*[\varphi])$, the result follows.

Conversely, suppose that $(\Gamma, \varphi) \notin \vdash_*$. Suppose that $\mathbf{A} \in \mathsf{QVar}(\tau(\vdash_*))$ is an algebra such that $\mathbf{A} \nvDash (\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*[\varphi])$ in the context of Θ , by Proposition 3.3.1. Hence, we can assume the valuation witnessing this to be regular, i.e, $\mathbf{A} \nvDash_f (\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*[\varphi])$, which by Lemma 3.4.7 means that $\langle A^f \rangle \nvDash_f (\zeta_*[\Gamma], \zeta_*[\varphi])$. But now by Corollary 3.4.8, we have that there is a substitution σ , such that $\mathbf{A} \nvDash_f (\zeta_*[\Gamma][\sigma(p)/p], \zeta_*[\varphi][\sigma(p)/p])$. This means that $(T[X], T[\varphi]) \notin \mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*)$.

We will now show that schematic fragments correspond exactly to the quasivarieties of the form $\sigma(\mathbf{K})$ as defined above.

Proposition 4.4.8. Let $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$. Then $\vdash_*^f = Schem((\vdash_*)^f)$ if and only if $\mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*) = \mathsf{QVar}(\mathcal{C})$ for some class \mathcal{C} of regularly generated algebras.

Proof. First we prove right to left. Suppose that \vdash_* is the logic of a class of regularly generated algebras. Note that by maximality of the schematic fragment amongst logics with the same variant, $\vdash_*\subseteq$ Schem $((\vdash_*)^f)$, so we focus on the other inclusion. Suppose that $\Gamma \not\vdash_* \varphi$. Hence by assumption, we can find **A**, a regularly generated algebra, such that $\mathbf{A} \not\models (\Gamma, \varphi)$; hence $\langle A^f \rangle \not\models (\Gamma, \varphi)$, so by Corollary 3.4.8, $\mathbf{A} \not\models_f (\Gamma[\sigma(p)/p], \varphi[\sigma(p)/p])$, and so $\mathbf{A} \not\models (\Gamma[\sigma(p)/p][f(q)/q], \varphi[\sigma(p)/p][f(q)/q])$. Hence, since **A** is an algebra in $\mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*)$, and by algebraic completeness, we have that $\Gamma[\sigma(p)/p][f(q)/q] \not\vdash_* \varphi[\sigma(p)/p][f(q)/q] \not\vdash_* \varphi[\sigma(p)/p][f(q)/q]$. Thus, $\Gamma[\sigma(p)/p] \not\vdash_*^f \varphi[\sigma(p)/p]$. Thus by definition:

$$(\Gamma, \varphi) \notin Schem((\vdash_*)^f)$$

As desired.

For the converse, assume that $\vdash_* = Schem((\vdash_*)^f)$. First define:

$$\mathsf{QVar}_{R}(\vdash_{*}) = \mathsf{QVar}(\{\langle B^{f} \rangle : \mathbf{B} \in \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_{*})\})$$

Then by definition:

$$\mathsf{QVar}_R(\vdash_*) \subseteq \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*)$$

So we show the other inclusion. For that purpose, we show that $Log(QVar_R)$ has \vdash_*^f as its PAt-variant. Indeed we have:

$$(\mathsf{Log}(\mathsf{QVar}_{R}(\vdash_{*})))^{f} = \mathsf{Log}^{f}(\mathsf{QVar}(\{\langle B^{f} \rangle : B \in \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_{*})\})^{\uparrow})$$
$$= \mathsf{Log}^{f}(\mathsf{QVar}^{f}(\vdash_{*}))$$
$$= (\vdash_{*})^{f}$$

Where the first inclusion follows by the commutativity of the operators, the second follows from the fact that every PAt-quasivariety is generated by its regular elements and the final is by definition. Hence we conclude that $Log(QVar_R(\vdash_*))$ has $(\vdash_*)^f$ as its PAt-variant, whence we know that $Log(QVar_R(\vdash_*)) \subseteq Schem((\vdash_*)^f)$. Hence $QVar(Schem((\vdash_*)^f)) \subseteq QVar_R(\vdash_*)$, which shows the result.

Lemma 4.4.9. Let $\mathbf{K} \in \Lambda(\mathbf{Y})$, and suppose that $\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K})$ is a ζ -companion of $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\mathbf{X})$. Suppose that $\mathbf{S} = \mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*)$. Then $\sigma(\mathbf{S}) \subseteq \mathbf{K}$.

Proof. It suffices to show that $\{\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}) : \mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{S}\} \subseteq \mathbf{K}$. By Proposition 4.4.2, we have that $\rho(\mathbf{K}) = \mathbf{S}$. Hence if $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{S}$, then $\mathbf{A} = \theta(\mathbf{B})$ for some $\mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{K}$. But then $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}) = \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{B})) \leq \mathbf{B}$, given the translation is sober. So indeed, $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{A}) \in \mathbf{K}$, as intended.

Lemma 4.4.10. Let $\mathbf{A} = \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{B})$. Then \mathbf{A} is regularly generated.

Proof. First note that $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \cong \mathbf{B}$, since the unit is an isomorphism. Hence, consider $\langle \mathbf{B} \rangle$, the subalgebra generated in \mathbf{A} by \mathbf{B} . Clearly we have that $\theta(\langle \mathbf{B} \rangle) \cong \mathbf{B}$. But then we have that $\mathbf{A} \cong \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{B})$ is a subalgebra of $\langle \mathbf{B} \rangle$, since the counit is injective.

Lemma 4.4.11. Suppose that **A** is regularly generated. Then $\mathbf{A} = \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A}))$.

Proof. Suppose that **A** is regularly generated. Then first note that $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A}))$, since $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \cong \theta(\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A})) \subseteq \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A})))$. Hence, $\mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A}))$ is a subalgebra of **A** which contains the regular elements; since **A** is regularly generated, $\mathbf{A} \cong \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A}))$.

Using all of these lemmas we conclude the following:

Corollary 4.4.12. Let $\langle \zeta, \Theta, f \rangle$ be a sober translation between **X** and **Y**, then for each $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$ there is a greatest ζ -companion. This is exactly $\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*)$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.4.7, we have that $\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*)$ is a ζ -companion. Moreover, by lemma 4.4.8, we have that $\mathbf{QVar}(\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*))$ is generated by a class of regularly generated algebras; hence in particular it is generated by all of its regularly generated algebras. By the previous lemma, we have that $\sigma(\mathbf{QVar}(\vdash_*)) \subseteq \mathbf{QVar}(\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*))$. Now note that the former are exactly the regularly generated algebras: if $\mathbf{A} \in \sigma(\mathbf{QVar}(\vdash_*))$ then $\mathbf{A} = \mathcal{F}(B)$, so by Lemma 4.4.10, it is regularly generated; and if \mathbf{A} is regularly generated, then by Lemma 4.4.11, $\mathbf{A} \cong \mathcal{F}(\theta(\mathbf{A}))$, and we have that $\theta(\mathbf{A}) \in \mathbf{QVar}(\vdash_*)$, so $\mathbf{A} \in \sigma(\vdash_*)$. Hence:

$$\mathsf{QVar}(\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*)) = \mathsf{QVar}(\sigma(\mathsf{QVar}(\vdash_*))),$$

but by Lemma 4.4.9, we have that $\sigma(\text{QVar}(\vdash_*)) \subseteq \mathbf{K}$ whenever \mathbf{K} is a quasivariety which logic is a PAt companion of \vdash_* . Hence for all such quasivarieties:

$$\mathsf{QVar}(\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*)) \subseteq \mathbf{K},$$

but then by completeness:

$$\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K}) \subseteq \mathsf{Log}(\mathsf{QVar}(\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*))) = \mathbf{Sch}(\vdash_*).$$

This shows that **Sch** is the greatest ζ -companion, as was to show.

We conclude with a tentative definition:

Definition 4.4.13. Let $\overline{\zeta}$ be a sober translation. We say this is a *BE-translation* if there is some logic $\vdash_* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$ such that for each $\Vdash \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{Y}})$, $\Vdash \in \Lambda(\vdash_*)$ if and only if there is some $\vdash^* \in \Lambda(\vdash_{\mathbf{X}})$ such that $\mathbf{Sch}(\vdash^*) = \Vdash$.

As discussed in 51, the GMT is a BE-translation, and it and its close progeny (the translaton for bi-intuitionistic logic, amongst others), are the only examples we are aware of this kind. We remark that in this discussion we have only provided tentative steps in using PAt-logics for exploring the connections between logical systems: for instance, in [6], it is shown that the lattice of inquisitive extensions of the system KP is isomorphic to the lattice of Boolean algebras ordered by the \leq order, where:

 $A \leq B \iff A$ is a homomorphic image of a subalgebra of B

Such connections are much more fine-grained than can be found in homomorphisms of varieties, and seem to more naturally be discussed in the setting of Polyatomic logics rather than companions.

In the rest of the thesis, for reasons of space, we will not be able to explore deeply PAt-logics for the cases we will study. Nevertheless, we expect that the results from this chapter can highlight the importance of this connection, and bring attention to the potential of such tools to study translation relations between logical systems.

As a visual summary of our discussions, we have the following picture, found in Figure 4.3, capturing the various kinds of translations and logical relationships studied.

These translations are some of those we have previously encountered, and they also witness the strictness of some of these inclusions: K_2 , the translation between Kleene algebras and Distributive lattices mentioned in [53], is a contextual translation but not selective (in any obvious sense). As we will see in the next chapter, the Goldblatt translation is selective, and it is not strongly selective. The double negation translation is strongly selective, and we showed above that it is not sober. The last class – BE-translations – is introduced to highlight the Blok-Esakia isomorphism, and its close progeny, through the GMT translation.

4.5 Chapter Summary

We summarise our contributions in this chapter as follows:

- Inspired by the GMT translation, we introduce the notion of a *sober translation*, for which a rich Blok-Esakia theory can be introduced.
- We show that the KGG translation is strongly selective, but not sober.
- We generalise the notions of schematic fragment and least DNA-variant to the Polyatomic case, and show that they correspond, for sober translations, to the least and greatest generalised companions.



Figure 4.3: Types of Translations and Examples

• We introduce the concept of a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism as a correspondence between logical systems, and show that it always holds for sober translations.

Chapter 5

Translations of Orthologic

In this chapter we investigate orthologic and the logics of ortholattices, through the lens of translations, adjunctions and PAt-logics developed in the previous chapter.

As noted in the introduction, this topic has received some attention, though not the same as either the KGG or GMT translations. Previous analysis which marked this topic were developed by Goldblatt [35, 36, 34] as well as Miyazaki [52], for general orthologic, and by several authors [18, 44, 48] for the special case of quantum logic.

In this and the next chapter, we take a close look at these developments, and relate them to our general picture. To do so, we begin by recalling the notions of orthologics, their associated algebraic semantics, and the duality associated to ortholattices. We recall in particular the investigations done by Miyazaki with respect to the *Goldblatt translation*, which relates orthologics and KTB normal modal logics. Using the proof of filtration introduced by Goldblatt, we are able to prove that the translation is selective.

We then turn to negative results. We first show – from basic facts since known about the lattices of orthologics and KTB logics – that a genuine Blok-Esakia theorem *cannot* hold between these two lattices. We then move further and show that the translation is not even sober, further evidencing the untractability of the translation. We conclude the chapter with an outline of the main difficulties found, through a discussion of the idea of sober algebras and spaces, and prepare our approach in the next chapter to overcome them.

5.1 Orthologics and Ortholattices

We begin with the notion of an *orthologic*, as introduced by Goldblatt [35]. Recall that \mathcal{L}_O , the language of ortholattices, is the same as the language of Boolean algebras, namely, the language with signature:

$$p \mid \neg p \mid p \land p \mid 0 \mid 1$$

Throughout, let \mathcal{VAR} be a fixed set of countably many proposition letters.

Definition 5.1.1. Let \vdash be a binary consequence relation in \mathcal{L}_O , i.e.:

$$\vdash \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{O}}(\mathcal{VAR})) \times \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{O}}(\mathcal{VAR})$$

Then we say that \vdash is an *orthologic* if it is closed under uniform substitution, and satisfies the following axioms, for all $\varphi, \psi, \chi \in \mathcal{L}_O$:

- 1. For finite $\Gamma \subseteq \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}), \Gamma \vdash \varphi$ if and only if $\bigwedge \Gamma \vdash \varphi$
- 2. $\varphi \land \psi \vdash \varphi; \varphi \land \psi \vdash \psi$
- 3. $\varphi \vdash \neg \neg \varphi; \neg \neg \varphi \vdash \varphi$

4.
$$\varphi \land \neg \varphi \vdash \psi$$

- 5. If $\varphi \vdash \psi$ and $\varphi \vdash \chi$, then $\varphi \vdash \psi \land \chi$
- 6. If $\varphi \vdash \psi$ and $\psi \vdash \chi$ then $\varphi \vdash \chi$
- 7. If $\varphi \vdash \psi$ then $\neg \psi \vdash \neg \varphi$

The former is exactly the concept as presented by Goldblatt. As we will note later, the peculiarities of this system will mean that the specific assumptions of our Chapter 3 might not be met, despite in all cases it being clear to see that the desired results could also be proved We will strive throughout to minimise such pathologies.

The following is an easy observation about orthologics:

Proposition 5.1.2. Let $(\vdash_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of orthologics. Then $\bigcap_{i \in I} \vdash_i$ is an orthologic.

Henceforth, we denote by O the minimal orthologic, and by O arbitrary orthologics. We denote by $\Lambda(O)$ the lattice of orthologics.

Definition 5.1.3. Let **O** be an ortholattice. We write $\mathbf{O} \models (\varphi, \psi)$ to denote: for each valuation $v: T_{\mathcal{L}_O} \to \mathbf{O}, v(\varphi) \leq v(\psi)$.

Definition 5.1.4. Let O be an orthologic. Consider all pairs $(\varphi, \psi) \in O$, and let:

$$\mathsf{Var}(O) \coloneqq \{\mathbf{O} : \mathbf{O} \models (\varphi, \psi)\}$$

In other words, we form Var(O) by taking the equational class containing $\varphi \leq \psi$ for $(\varphi, \psi) \in O$. Similarly, given a class **K** of ortholattices, we consider:

$$\mathsf{Log}(\mathbf{K}) \coloneqq \{(\varphi, \psi) \in \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR})^2 : \mathbf{K} \vDash (\varphi, \psi)\}$$

It is not hard to see that this is indeed an orthologic, since \mathbf{K} is a variety of ortholattices. Indeed, we have the next proposition which follows by usual arguments.

Definition 5.1.5. Let *O* be an orthologic. We consider $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR})$, the absolutely free algebra, and define an equivalence relation \equiv_O there by:

$$\varphi \equiv_O \psi \iff (\varphi, \psi) \in O \text{ and } (\psi, \varphi) \in O$$

Then consider $\mathbf{F}(O) \coloneqq \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}) / \equiv_O$. We call this the *Lindenbaum-Tarski ortholattice* associated to O.

Denote by $\Lambda(\mathbf{Ort})$ the lattice of varieties of ortholattices. Then we have, as usual:

Proposition 5.1.6. The operators $Var : \Lambda(\mathbf{O}) \to \Lambda(\mathbf{Ort}) : Log$ establish a dual isomorphism between the lattice of orthologics and the lattice of varieties of ortholattices.

The former provides, then, an algebraic semantics (in the loose sense) to ortholattices and their varieties. However, the key results of Goldblatt [35] made use of a dual representation. We turn to this in the next section.

5.2 Orthospaces and Duality

In this section we briefly recall the duality of ortholattices using the space of filters. This was initiated by Goldblatt [35], who provided the original representation theorem; Bimbó [8] established the functoriality of this, though she left a gap, that was noted by Dmitrieva [20], in line with previous work on choice-free duality (see [7] for the original developments, and see also [49]). As such we refer to this simply as orthospace duality throughout. We refer to all stated articles for proofs of the statements in this section.

Definition 5.2.1. Let (X, \bot) be a non-empty set, with \bot an irreflexive and symmetric relation. Then we say that this is an orthoframe.

Whenever $x \perp y$, we say that x is orthogonal to y. If $x \perp y$ for every $y \in Y$, we denote this by $x \perp Y$.

Definition 5.2.2. Let (X, \bot) be an orthoframe, and $A \subseteq X$. We define A^{\bot} as:

$$A^{\perp} = \{ x \in X : \forall y \in A, x \perp y \}$$

We say that A^{\perp} is the *orthogonal complement* of A. We denote by A^* the set $(A^{\perp})^{\perp}$, and call this the *orthogonal closure*. We say that a set is *regular* if $A = A^*$. We define an operator:

$$R: \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathcal{P}(X)$$
$$\mathcal{A} \mapsto \{A \in \mathcal{A} : A = A^*\}$$

Thus, we say that $R(\mathcal{A})$ is the set of regular sets inside \mathcal{A} .

Let A be a subset of X. We say that A is \perp -closed iff for all $x \in X$:

$$\forall y \in X, y \bot A \to y \bot x \implies x \in A$$

In other words, if $A^{\perp} \subseteq \{x\}^{\perp}$ then $x \in A$.

It is a general fact that a relation between two sets induces a Galois connection between the power sets of those sets. In our case, this Galois connection turns out to be between the set and itself, and because of symmetry, both polarities coincide. This translates to the following useful properties (see for example [1, pp.38]):

Proposition 5.2.3. Given (X, \bot) an orthoframe, and A, B subsets of X:

- 1. $A \subseteq B$ implies that $B^{\perp} \subseteq A^{\perp}$
- 2. $A \subseteq A^*$
- 3. $(A^*)^{\perp} = A^{\perp}$
- 4. $(\bigcup_{i \in I} A_i)^{\perp} = \bigcap_{i \in I} A_i^{\perp}$
- 5. A^{\perp} is \perp -closed. So A^* is \perp -closed as well.

The concept of an orthoframe had been known in the theory of orthomodular lattices for a long time (see [44] for a detailed account). It was also known that this provided a representation for *complete* ortholattices. The topologisation of this concept allowed Goldblatt[36] to extend the representation to *all* ortholattices:

Definition 5.2.4. Let (X, \leq, \perp, τ) be a space such that \leq is a partial order, \perp is an irreflexive symmetric order, and τ is a compact topological space. Denote by $\mathsf{Clop}(X)$ the set of clopen sets, $\mathsf{ClopUp}(X)$ the set of clopen upsets, and in line with the above definition, $\mathsf{RClop}(X)$ and $\mathsf{RClopUp}(X)$ the set of regular clopen sets and regular clopen upsets, respectively. We say that X is a maximal sober orthospace¹ if for all $x, y \in X$

- 1. $x \leq y$ implies that there exists $O \in \mathsf{RClop}(X)$ such that $x \in O$ and $y \notin O$
- 2. $x \perp y$ implies there exists $O \in \mathsf{RClop}(X)$ such that $x \in O$ and $y \in O^{\perp}$
- 3. $x \perp y$ and $x \leq z$ implies that $z \perp y$
- 4. $O \in \mathsf{RClop}(X)$ implies that O^{\perp} is in $\mathsf{RClop}(X)$
- 5. Whenever F is a filter in $\mathsf{RClop}(X)$, then there exists some $x \in X$ such that $F = F_x = \{O \in \mathsf{RClop}(X) : x \in O\}$.

If the structure satisfies 1-4, we call X simply an *orthospace*.

We note the following regarding the previous definition:

Definition 5.2.5. Let (X, \bot) be an orthoframe. Define $x \leq_{\bot} y$ as follows:

$$x \leq_{\perp} y \iff \forall z, x \perp z \implies y \perp z$$

Lemma 5.2.6. Let (X, \bot) be an orthoframe. Then $x \leq_{\bot} y$ is a quasi-order. Moreover, if (X, \leq, \bot, τ) is an orthospace, then $\leq = \leq_{\bot}$.

Proof. The relation is clearly reflexive, and transitive. To see that it is a partial order, suppose that $x \neq y$. Without loss of generality, then, $x \notin y$, so by Axiom 1, we have that there is some regular U such that $x \in U$ and $y \notin U$. by regularity, since $y \notin U$, there is some z such that $y \not\perp z$, and $z \in U^{\perp}$. Since $x \in U$, then $x \perp z$, which implies that $x \not\leq_{\perp} y$. Hence, by contraposition, we obtain that \leq_{\perp} is a partial order, and also that $\leq_{\perp} \subseteq \leq$. Conversely, if $x \leq y$, by Axiom 3, we have that $x \leq_{\perp} y$.

In this sense, the partial order is wholly induced by the irreflexive relation. This means that drawing the graphs corresponding to either the orthogonality or non-orthogonality relation canonically yields the partial order, so long as either relation corresponds to an orthospace.

We have the following fact:

Lemma 5.2.7. Given an orthospace $X = (X, \leq, \perp, \tau)$ the structure $(\mathsf{RClop}(X), \cap, \downarrow, \emptyset, X)$ is an ortholattice.

To move in the opposite direction, we make use of the space of filters:

Definition 5.2.8. Let O be an ortholattice. Denote by Fil(O) the set of all proper filters on O. We define an orthogonality relation on Fil(O) as follows:

$$F \perp G \iff \exists a \in O, a \in F \text{ and } a^{\perp} \in G$$

¹These are called in [4] orthosober orthospaces. Our change of name reflects our concerns in the thesis with condition 5.

Then we have the following:

Lemma 5.2.9. Let O be an ortholattice, and $X_O = \operatorname{Fil}(O)$. For $a \in O$, denote by $\varphi(a)$ the set $\{F \in \operatorname{Fil}(O) : a \in F\}$. Then $(X_O, \subseteq, \bot, \tau)$ forms an orthosober orthospace where τ is given by the topology with subbasis:

$$\{\varphi(a): a \in O\} \cup \{X_O - \varphi(a): a \in O\}$$

From now on, denote by R the complement of the orthogonality relation:

$$xRy \iff x \not \leq y$$

The morphisms of orthospaces are the following:

Definition 5.2.10. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between orthospaces. We say that this is an *orthospace morphism* when:

- 1. If xRy then f(x)Rf(y);
- 2. If f(x)Ry then there exists some $z \in X$ such that xRz and $y \leq f(z)$.

We further say the orthospace morphism is *strong* if the last inequality is an equality.

Readers familiar with modal logic but not familiar with the literature on duality for relevant logics might find the inequality in the back condition odd. However, we note that this is not spurious. For instance, consider the following structures, where the lines refer to the non-orthogonality relation:



It is not hard to see that these are two orthospaces, and that the map defined by f is an orthospace morphism. However, this is *not* a p-morphism with respect to the non-orthogonality relation: indeed, f(x)Ry, and indeed, z is such that xRz and $y \leq f(z)$; but no node maps to y.

We have the following:

Lemma 5.2.11. Let $f : O \to O'$ be an ortholattice homomorphism. Then $f^{-1} : X_{O'} \to X_O$ is an orthospace morphism. Conversely, if $g : Y \to Y'$ is an orthospace morphism, then $g^{-1} : \mathsf{RClop}(Y') \to \mathsf{RClop}(Y)$ is an ortholattice homomorphism.

The following is the actual statement of the duality:

Theorem 5.2.12. (Orthospace duality) The category of ortholattices with ortholattice homomorphisms is dually equivalent to the category of maximal sober orthospaces with orthospace morphisms.

We now collect some facts we will later make use of regarding orthospaces in general. The first is the condition which Bimbó originally proved as part of her analysis, regarding orthospaces in general: **Lemma 5.2.13.** Let (X, \leq, \perp, τ) be an arbitrary orthospace, and O be the dual ortholattice. Then X embeds into X_O through a topological embedding which both preserves and reflects the relation \perp .

Proof. See [8, Theorem 3.6].

We also have the following properties which will come useful later:

Lemma 5.2.14. Let (X, \bot, \leq, τ) be an orthospace. Then:

- 1. If U is a clopen regular, then $x \in U$ if and only if whenever xRy then there is some z such that yRz and $z \in U$.
- 2. Every clopen regular set is an upset; hence (X, \leq, τ) is a Priestley space.
- 3. The class of clopen regulars is closed under intersection.
- 4. Every clopen upset of (X, \bot, \leq, τ) is a union of clopen regular sets.

Proof. (1) This is simply a matter of unfolding the definition that $U = U^*$.

(2) Let U be a clopen regular set. Suppose that $x \in U$ and $x \leq y$. Now assume that yRz. Then by the third condition on orthospaces, xRz, so by the first part, there is some w such that zRw and $w \in U$. Hence $y \in U$.

(3) Follows from the above duality. To see (4) assume that V is a clopen upset. Suppose that $x \notin V$ is arbitrary. Then whenever $y \in V$, $y \notin x$; hence by the clopen regular separation property, there is some $U_{x,y}$ such that y belongs there and x does not. Hence:

$$V \subseteq \bigcup_{y \in V} U_{x,y}$$

By compactness we can obtain some $W_x = U_{x,y_0} \cup \ldots \cup U_{x,y_m}$ such that $V \subseteq W_x$. Then:

$$V = \bigcap_{x \notin V} W_x$$

So by compactness again, we obtain that:

$$V = W_{x_0} \cap \ldots \cap W_{x_n}$$

Now applying the distributivity of \cap and \cup in a judicious manner, one can write:

$$V = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \bigcap_{j=1}^{m} U_{x_i, y_j}$$

Since by (3) clopen regulars are closed under intersection this gives us the result.

5.3 Orthologic and KTB

As promised, we can use the structures we have just studied to provide a relational semantics to orthologics:

Definition 5.3.1. (Kripke semantics of Orthologic) Let (X, \bot) be an orthoframe. A valuation von this frame is a map $v : T_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}) \to \mathcal{P}(X)$ such that v(p) is a regular set for each $p \in \mathcal{VAR}$. We call $\mathfrak{X} = (X, \bot, v)$ a model, and define the satisfaction, at a point $x \in X$, as follows:

- $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash p$ iff $x \in v(p)$
- $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \varphi \land \psi$ iff $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \varphi$ and $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \psi$
- $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \neg \varphi$ iff whenever xRy, then $\mathfrak{X}, y \not\Vdash \varphi$.

We say that an orthoframe (X, \bot) validates a sequent (φ, ψ) if and only if for all models \mathfrak{X} on (X, \bot) , and all points $x \in X$, if $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \varphi$ then $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \psi$. This leads to the following:

Definition 5.3.2. Let *O* be an orthologic, and **K** a class of orthoframes. We say $Log(\mathbf{K}) = \{(\lambda, \psi) : \mathbf{K} \models (\lambda, \psi)\}$ is the *orthologic associated to* **K**.

As usual in modal logic, there is a Galois connection between logics and classes of frames.

Definition 5.3.3. Let O be an orthologic. We say that this is *Kripke complete* if there is a class **K** of orthoframes such that:

$$(\lambda, \psi) \in O \iff \mathbf{K} \models (\lambda, \psi)$$

All following results were shown by Goldblatt in [35]. First, we have the following adequacy theorem:

Lemma 5.3.4. Let **O** be an ortholattice, and $v : T_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}) \to O$ a valuation. Let Y be an orthospace such that $\mathsf{RClop}(Y) \cong \mathbf{O}$ via a map φ . Let $v' : T_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}) \to \mathcal{P}(Y)$ be the valuation given by $v'(p) = \varphi(v(p))$. Then $\mathbf{O}, v \models (\lambda, \psi)$ if and only if $Y, v' \models (\lambda, \psi)$.

Proof. Note that the above definition is sound, and by induction on the construction of formulas, and the duality, we get for each $\chi \in \mathcal{L}_O$:

$$v'(\chi) = \varphi(v(\chi))$$

Indeed, $v'(p) = \varphi(v(p))$, and for conjunctions, this is obvious. If this holds for χ , note that $v'(\chi^{\perp}) = v'(\chi)^{\perp} = \varphi(v(\chi))^{\perp} = \varphi(v(\chi)^{\perp})$. Now assume that $\mathbf{O}, v \neq (\lambda, \psi)$. Since $v(\lambda) \leq v(\psi)$ by duality, $\varphi(v(\lambda)) \notin \varphi(v(\psi))$; hence $v'(\lambda) \notin v'(\psi)$ so there is a point x in the first set, but not the second. Hence $(X_O, v'), x \Vdash \lambda$ but $(X_O, v'), x \nvDash \psi$. The converse follows by similar arguments.

Corollary 5.3.5. (Canonical Model of Orthologic) Let O be any orthologic. Then there is a model, $\mathfrak{M}_O = (W^O, \bot^O, v^O)$, such that $(\lambda, \psi) \in O$ if and only if for each $x \in W^O$ $\mathfrak{M}_O, x \Vdash (\lambda, \psi)$.

Proof. Let O be the arbitrary orthologic, and \mathbf{F}_O be the Lindenbaum-Tarski algebra associated to this orthologic. Let $v: T_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}) \to \mathbf{F}_O$ be the valuation mapping $v(p) = [p]_O$. Then it is clear to see that $(\varphi, \psi) \in O$ if and only if $\mathbf{F}_O, v \models (\varphi, \psi)$. Hence, by Lemma 5.3.4, we get the desired result by taking the orthospace dual of \mathbf{F}_O .

Corollary 5.3.6. The minimal orthologic is Kripke complete.

Proof. Soundness follows from verifying that the axioms outlined above in the definition of an orthologic are valid in the minimal orthologic. Completeness follows from Corollary 5.3.5.

Quite relevant for our purposes is the notion of *filtration*. This was shown by Goldblatt, and consists essentially of the following:

Theorem 5.3.7. Let $\Sigma \subseteq \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_O}$ be a finite collection of well-formed formulas which is closed under subformulas, and such that for each propositional variable $p_i, p_i \in \Sigma$ if and only if $p_i^{\perp} \in \Sigma$. Let $\mathfrak{X} = (X, \bot, v)$ be an orthomodel. Then there exists an orthomodel $\mathfrak{X}_f = (X/\sim, \bot^f, v^f)$, such that for each $x \in X$, and for each $\varphi \in \Sigma$, $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash \varphi$ if and only if $\mathfrak{X}_f, [x] \Vdash \varphi$.

Note that more is true: given a sequent (φ, ψ) where $\varphi, \psi \in \Sigma$, we have that $\mathfrak{X}, x \Vdash (\varphi, \psi)$ if and only if $\mathfrak{X}_f, [x] \Vdash (\varphi, \psi)$.

We are now ready to take on the main object of study of this chapter. We recall from Chapter 3 that the *Goldblatt translation* between Orthologic and KTB logic [36] is defined recursively as follows:

- 1. For each propositional variable $p, G(p) = \Box \Diamond p;$
- 2. $G(\psi \land \varphi) = G(\psi) \land G(\varphi)$
- 3. $G(\varphi^{\perp}) = \Box \neg G(\varphi)$

From these clauses and the DeMorgan laws of ortholattices one deduces semantically that $G(\varphi \lor \psi) \approx \Box \Diamond (G(\varphi) \lor G(\psi))$. Given a set of formulas Γ , define $G[\Gamma] := \{G(\varphi) : \varphi \in \Gamma\}$.

The first and foundational result about the Goldblatt translation was the following:

Theorem 5.3.8. (Goldblatt, 1975)[36] For any pair of formulas $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{L}_O$, we have that:

 $(\varphi, \psi) \in \mathsf{O} \iff G(\varphi) \to G(\psi) \in \mathsf{KTB}$

Proof. Suppose that $G(\varphi) \to G(\psi) \notin \mathsf{KTB}$. By Kripke completeness of **KTB**, there is then a Kripke model $\mathfrak{M} = (W, R, V)$, and a world $x \in W$ such that $\mathfrak{M}, x \models G(\Gamma)$ but $\mathfrak{M}, x \not\models G(\varphi)$. Now consider the orthoframe given by $\mathfrak{M}' = (W, \bot_R, V')$ where $x \bot_R y$ if and only if $\neg(xRy)$, and:

$$V'(p) = \Box \Diamond V(p)$$

It is not hard to see that regular subsets for \perp_R are exactly those of the form $\Box \Diamond U$ for some $U \subseteq W$. Hence, \mathfrak{M}' is an orthoframe model. Moreover, we can show by induction that:

$$V'(p) = V(G(p))$$

Which shows that then $\mathfrak{M}', x \Vdash \Gamma$ and $\mathfrak{M}', x \not\Vdash \psi$. Hence, by soundness of orthologic with respect to orthoframes, $(\varphi, \psi) \notin O$. The converse follows similarly, using Kripke completeness of orthologic.

We thus have that the translation is indeed correct. Later, Miyazaki [52] extended such results to a theory analogous to that of modal companions:

Definition 5.3.9. Let $O \in \Lambda(\mathsf{O})$ and $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{KTB})$. We say that L is a KTB-companion of O if:

$$(\varphi, \psi) \in O \iff G(\varphi) \to G(\psi) \in L$$

Theorem 5.3.10. [52, Theorem 21] The following hold:

- 1. For each $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{KTB})$, there is a logic $O \in \Lambda(\mathsf{O})$ such that L is the modal companion of O; this assignment preserves Kripke completeness, tabularity and FMP.
- 2. For each orthologic $O \in \Lambda(O)$ with the FMP, there is a logic $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{KTB})$ such that L is the modal companion of O; this assignment preserves tabularity and FMP.

The techniques used by Miyazaki to prove the first part mirror our functor θ , whilst for the second he uses a finite representation theorem, and arguments analogous to those used to establish orthospace duality. In light of our discussion of orthospaces, the correspondence can be captured in the following:

Proposition 5.3.11. Let (X, \bot) be a finite orthospace. Then (X, R) is a KTB-space, and additionally:

$$(X, \bot) \Vdash (\varphi, \psi) \iff (X, R) \Vdash G(\varphi) \to G(\psi)$$

Proof. The fact that (X, R) will be a KTB space is trivial: since (X, \bot) is finite, the space is discrete, hence every set is clopen, and since R is reflexive and symmetric, (X, R) will be a finite KTB space, i.e., a KTB frame. Given an orthomodel (X, \bot, v) , consider the same assignment in (X, R, v); hence $v(\chi) = v(G(\chi))$, by definition. Similarly, if (X, R, v) is a KTB model, define v' by letting $v'(p) = \Box \Diamond v(p)$. Then again we have that $v'(\chi) = v(G(\chi))$. This yields the result.

We will now move to approaching the Goldblatt translation as a contextual translation. The following is the basic result that we can expect:

Proposition 5.3.12. Let (\mathbf{B}, \Box) be a **KTB**-algebra. Then the set:

$$\mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{B}} \coloneqq \{ a \in B : \Box \Diamond a = a \}$$

Is an ortholattice with the operations induced by the Goldblatt translation. Moreover, for each set $\Phi \subseteq \mathsf{Eq}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}}}$ of equations, we have:

$$\mathbf{O}_B \models \Phi \iff \mathbf{B} \models G^*(\Phi)$$

Proof. The verification that the regular elements form an ortholattice is straightforward; see for instance that for conjunction:

$$\Box \Diamond (a \land b) \leq \Box (\Diamond a \land \Diamond b) \leq \Box \Diamond a \land \Box \Diamond b \leq a \land b \leq \Box \Diamond (a \land b)$$

Where the inequalities follow from usual modal logical reasoning. The second part follows by the same arguments as Proposition 3.3.1.

Now let $\Theta = \{x \approx \Box \Diamond x\}$. Note that mapping variables to $\Box \Diamond$, and considering all valuations, is the same as operating modulo the context Θ . Hence the former can be seen as a translation in the sense presented in Chapter 3. We thus have the following:
Proposition 5.3.13. The translation $\langle G, \Theta, \Box \rangle$ is a selective translation

Proof. Let Φ be a collection of equations in the language of ortholattices. By Proposition 5.3.12, we can prove the translation is contextual: indeed, assume that Φ is a set of equations in the language of KTB, and $G^*(\Phi) \not\models G_*(\lambda) \approx G_*(\psi)$. Let **B** be a KTB algebra, and v a valuation, such that $\mathbf{B} \models G^*(\Phi)$, and $\mathbf{B}, v \not\models G_*(\lambda) \neq G_*(\psi)$. Then by that Proposition, $\mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{B}} \not\models \lambda \approx \psi$, whilst it satisfies Φ , by Proposition 5.3.12.

Now conversely, assume that $\Phi \not\models \lambda \approx \gamma$. Hence, without loss of generality, $\Phi \not\models (\lambda, \gamma)$. Let **O** be an ortholattice such that $\mathbf{O} \models \Phi$ and $\mathbf{O} \not\models (\lambda, \gamma)$, and let v be a valuation. Hence, by Lemma 5.3.4, we have that $Y, v \not\models (\lambda, \gamma)$, for Y the dual orthospace of **O**, at a point x, and $Y, v \models (\mu, \iota), (\iota, \mu)$ for all $\mu \approx \iota \in \Phi$. Now consider:

$$\Sigma = \{G_*(\varphi) \le G_*(\psi) : (\varphi, \psi) \in \Phi\} \cup \{G_*(\lambda) \le G_*(\gamma)\}.$$

Let Σ_0 be a finite subset of Σ , say $\Sigma_0 = \{G_*(\varphi_i) \leq G_*(\psi_i) : i \leq n\} \cup \{G_*(\lambda) \leq G_*(\gamma)\}$. Let $F_0 = \{\varphi_i, \psi_i : G_*(\varphi_i) \leq G_*(\psi_i) \in \Sigma_0\} \cup \{\lambda, \gamma\}$, and F the subformula closure of F_0 . Let (Y_F, v_F) be the filtration of Y, v along F. Hence, by hypothesis on Y, we have that:

$$\forall G_*(\varphi_i) \to G_*(\psi_i), Y_F, v_F \Vdash (\varphi_i, \psi_i) \text{ and } Y_F, v_F \not\Vdash (\lambda, \gamma)$$

By Proposition 5.3.11, we have that $(Y_F, v_F) \Vdash G_*(\varphi_i) \to G_*(\psi_i)$, and $(Y_F, v_F) \nvDash G_*(\lambda) \to G_*(\gamma)$. By duality, this means that there is a valuation v on a KTB algebra **B**, such that $\mathbf{B}, v \models G_*(\varphi_i) \to G_*(\psi_i)$. By definition of satisfaction, this means that $\mathbf{B}, v \models G_*(\varphi_i) \leq G_*(\psi_i)$., and also $\mathbf{B}, v \nvDash G_*(\lambda) \leq G_*(\gamma)$. Hence, we can find a KTB algebra and a valuation satisfying Σ_0 .

By compactness of first order logic, we have that since each finite subset of Σ is satisfiable in a KTB algebra, the whole of Σ is. Hence, there is a KTB algebra **B**, such that $\mathbf{B} \models G^*(\Phi)$, and $\mathbf{B} \not\models G_*(\lambda) \approx G_*(\gamma)$. Hence, this implies that $G^*(\Phi) \not\models G_*(\lambda) \approx G_*(\gamma)$. This shows that the translation is faithful.

Finally, notice that the term $\Box \Diamond$ is a selector, essentially because $\Box \Diamond \Box \Diamond p = \Box \Diamond p$.

Having this established, we can define versions of the map τ : for $O \in \Lambda(\mathbf{O})$, $\tau(O) = \mathbf{KTB} \oplus \{G(\varphi) \to G(\psi) : (\varphi, \psi) \in O\}$; as well as ρ : $\rho(L) = \{(\varphi, \psi) : G(\varphi) \to G(\psi) \in L\}$. On algebras, we have $\tau(\mathbf{K}) = \{\mathbf{B} : \mathbf{O_B} \in \mathbf{K}\}$ and $\rho(\mathbf{M}) = \{\mathbf{O}_B : \mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{M}\}$. Using these, one can make many questions related to our discussion in Chapter 4. Given what we have discussed about Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphisms, we can naturally ask whether the Goldblatt translation is strongly selective, or even sober, and whether we can describe the schematic fragment of the PAt-variants as laid out above.

Our results from now on will be mostly negative, and we will seek to identify and emphasise the sources of problems. To work towards this, we begin by giving a dual description of the transformations we have encountered.

Definition 5.3.14. Let θ^* : **KTBS** \rightarrow **OrtS** be the assignment going from the category of **KTB**spaces with continuous p-morphisms, to the category of orthospaces with orthospace morphisms, defined as follows: given a KTB space (X, R, τ) take the relation, \leq :

$$x \leq y \iff \forall z \in X(yRz \implies xRz)$$

This forms a preorder. Let \equiv_{\leq} be the induced equivalence relation. Let \equiv_{\leq} be defined as:

$$[x]R_{\equiv}[y] \iff \exists x' \in [x], y' \in [y], x'Ry'$$

And similarly for \leq_{\equiv} . Then we denote by $X^* = (X / \equiv_{\leq}, R_{\equiv}, \leq_{\equiv}, \tau_{\equiv})$, where τ_{\equiv} is the quotient topology.

Lemma 5.3.15. Let (X, R, τ) be a KTB-space. Then X^* as defined above is an orthospace, when we define $[x] \perp [y]$ if and only if $\neg([x]R_{\equiv}[y])$. Moreover, the map $q: X \to X^*$, when X^* is understood as a KTB space, is a surjective p-morphism.

Proof. (Sketch) It is a straightforward, using the fact that the relation R is reflexive and symmetric, to see that the definitions given are sound. Now let $q: X \to X^*$ be the quotient map; to obtain the result, after observing that this preserves the relations, it suffices to show that the clopen regulars on X are saturated, i.e., if U is a clopen set and $\Box \Diamond U = U$, then $q^{-1}q(U) = U$. Indeed, if $x \in q^{-1}q(U)$, then q(x) = q(z) where $z \in U$; hence for some $x \equiv x'$ and $z \equiv z', z' \leq x'$; but then $z' \in U$, so $x' \in U$, i.e., $x \in U$ as well. Using this one can then show the axioms in a straightforward way.

The reader will have noted that the former transformation essentially only removes clusters associated to the induced quasi-order, and collapses them. This means that, for instance, a cluster of 2-elements in the modal logic sense will be collapsed to a single element, as exemplified in Figure 5.1:



Figure 5.1: Collapsing of clusters

We can also define the action of this transformation on morphisms:

Lemma 5.3.16. Let $f: X \to X'$ be a p-morphism between KTB-spaces. Then $f: \theta^*(X) \to \theta^*(X')$ defined by $[x] \mapsto [f(x)]$ is a strong orthospace morphism.

Proof. This is well-defined since f preserves the order \leq : if $x \equiv y$, suppose that f(y)Rz; then yRw where f(w) = z; then xRw, so f(x)Rz, i.e., $f(x) \leq f(y)$, and similarly, $f(y) \leq f(x)$, i.e., $f(x) \equiv f(y)$. It is easily seen to be continuous and order preserving since f is. It also satisfies the back condition: if f([x])R[y], there is some $x' \equiv f(x)$ such that x'Ry' and $y' \leq y$, i.e., f(x)Ry; then because f is a p-morphism, there is some z such that xRz, and f(z) = y. Hence [x]R[z] and [f(z)] = [y], i.e., f([z]) = [y].

More importantly, we get that this corresponds to the θ operation:

Proposition 5.3.17. Let **B** be an arbitrary **KTB** algebra and $X_{\mathbf{B}}$ its dual space. Then $\mathsf{RClop}(X_{\mathbf{B}}^*) \cong \mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{B}}$. Hence, $X_{\mathbf{B}}^*$ is an orthospace embedding into the orthospace dual of $\mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{B}}$. Moreover, if $f: \mathbf{B} \to \mathbf{B}'$ is a homomorphism, then $(f \upharpoonright_{\mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{B}}})^{-1} = f^{-1}$

Proof. For each $a \in \mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{B}}$, let $f(a) = \{[x] \in X_B^* : x \in \varphi(a)\}$. Note that because a is regular, this is a clopen regular subset of $X_{\mathbf{B}}^*$, and is well-defined: if $x \in \varphi(a)$ and $x \equiv y$, then $a \in x$; now if $a \notin y$, because a is regular, $\Diamond \Box \neg a \in y$; then yRz, and $\Box \neg a \in z$, but also, xRz, so zRx, a contradiction.

Additionally, this assignment is injective: if $a \neq b$ are both regular, let $a \in x$ and $b \notin x$ where $x \in X_{\mathbf{B}}$. Then we have that $[x] \in f(a)$ and $[x] \notin f(b)$, which shows that $f(a) \neq f(b)$. Moreover, if U is a clopen regular subset of $X_{\mathbf{B}}^*$, by definition of the quotient topology, $q^{-1}(U)$ is clopen, and since q is a p-morphism, also regular:

- First, note that $\Box \Diamond q^{-1}(U) = q^{-1}(\Box \Diamond U)$: if $q(x) \in \Box \Diamond U$, and xRy, then q(x)Rq(y), so by definition, q(y)Rz and $z \in U$; hence, there is some z' such that yRz', and q(z') = z. Hence, $x \in \Box \Diamond q^{-1}(U)$. Conversely, if $x \in \Box \Diamond q^{-1}(U)$, and q(x)Ry, by assumption, for some y', xRy', so y'Rz and $z \in q^{-1}(U)$; so q(y')Rq(z'), and $q(z') \in U$. So $x \in q^{-1}(\Box \Diamond U)$.
- Then notice that $\Box \Diamond q^{-1}(U) = q^{-1}(\Box \Diamond U) = q^{-1}(U)$, since U is assumed to be regular.

Hence, $q^{-1}(U) = \varphi(a)$, where *a* is a regular element. Thus, note that $f(a) = \{[x] : x \in \varphi(a)\} = q[\varphi(a)] = q[q^{-1}(U)] = U$, as intended. Finally, to see that this is a homomorphism, note that $f(a \wedge b) = f(a) \wedge f(b)$, clearly, and $f(a^{\perp}) = \{[x] : x \in \varphi(\Box \neg a)\} = \Box \neg \{[x] : x \in \varphi(a)\}$: if $x \in \varphi(\Box \neg a)$, then $\Box \neg a \in x$; so if $x \equiv x'$, since this is a regular element, also $\Box \neg a \in x'$. Similarly, if $y \equiv y'$, then $a \in y$ if and only if $a \in y'$ because this is regular. Hence, if [x]R[y], then for some $x' \equiv x$ and $y \equiv y'$ we have that x'Ry', so $\Box \neg a \in x'$, and hence, $a \notin y$. So $[y] \notin f(a)$. Conversely, if $[x] \in \Box \neg f(a)$, assume that $\Box \neg a \notin x$; hence $\Diamond a \in x$, so xRy, and $a \in y$; hence [x]R[y] and $a \in y$, so $[y] \in f(a)$, a contradiction. This shows the first statement. The second statement follows by similar arguments on the maps.

Using these transformations, we can highlight some aspects which distinguishes this translation from the GMT case. There, recall that the class of spaces such that the corresponding transformation ρ acts as an identity, is modally definable (by the **Grz** axiom), even whilst it is not elementary. However, we have:

Proposition 5.3.18. The class of KTB spaces such that θ^* acts as an identity is not closed under p-morphic images.

Proof. Consider the KTB frame, 3 - f, consisting of three points in a chain, and consider the map as drawn in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2: Collapse of frame

It is straightforward to verify that the map as defined is a p-morphism. But we see that the first frame does not have any clusters in the \leq -sense, whilst the second does.

Hence, our hopes that an isomorphism motivated by a natural axiom such as **Grz** might be diminished. So let us diminish them further, by removing the possibility of a more complicated isomorphism. To see this, consider the algebras corresponding to the **KTB**-algebra which is a single cluster, and the **KTB**-algebra which is a 2-cluster, as drawn above. As mentioned before, these will be identified by θ^* . Now we note the following two facts, respectively from ortholattice and KTB theory:

Fact 1. (cf. [11, Corollary 3.6]) The bottom of lattice of varieties of ortholattices consists of the following varieties: the trivial variety, covered by the Boolean algebras, covered by the variety generated by MO_2 , and the variety generated by Benzene.



Figure 5.3: MO_2 and Benzene

Fact 2. (cf. Miyazaki,[46, Theorem 2.2]) The top of the lattice of KTB logics consists of the following logics: the trivial logic, covered by the logic generated by a single reflexive point, covered by the logic generated by a 2-cluster.

By this latter fact, we have that the identification made by θ above collapses two algebras which come from distinct varieties. Hence, the map cannot correspond, in the top part, to an isomorphism. But what we noted from ortholattices implies more is true. Since any isomorphism would have to preserve the cover relation, the existence of such a map is impossible for purely combinatorial reasons.

Corollary 5.3.19. There is no logic $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathbf{KTB})$ such that there is an isomorphism between $\Lambda(\mathsf{O})$ and $\mathbf{NExt}(L)$.

This leaves the possibility that we could have a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism. We will now rule this possibility out. Recall that by a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism, we mean that the lattices $\Lambda(O)$ and $\Lambda^{\Box\Diamond}(\mathsf{KTB})$ are isomorphic through the specific maps τ and ρ , and it is assumed additionally that ρ is a homomorphism on the lattice $\Lambda(\mathbf{KTB})$ of varieties. We will prove that such a situation cannot happen.

To see this, consider the orthologic generated by *Benzene*, the ortholattice ocurring on the right hand side in Figure 5.3². Now consider the following two KTB frames: Note that θ^* acts as an identity on both of these frames (i.e, they contain no \leq -clusters), and both of them are dual to the Benzene ortholattice. The right hand side frame is the maximally sober orthospace frame

 $^{^{2}}$ This is a very well-known algebra in the theory of orthomodular lattices [11], since it is the forbidden subalgebra which characterises orthomodular lattices within ortholattices



Figure 5.4: Two Benzene frames

which is dual to Benzene, whilst the left hand side is another orthospace which has Benzene as the ortholattice of clopen regulars. Indeed, we have the following:

Lemma 5.3.20. The previous two frames are the only two orthospaces which have Benzene as the ortholattice of clopen regulars.

Proof. By inspection we see that the right hand side orthospace, call it X_{Be} is indeed the maximal sober one. By Lemma 5.2.13, we know that if Y is an orthospace with Benzene as the ortholattice of clopen regulars, then Y embeds through a topological embedding that both preserves and reflects the relation \perp (correspondingly the relation R) into X_{Be} . This means that the only possible orthospaces are those which remove a point and all relations from that point to the points it relates to. Now, manually, we can check that removing any point other than the central one from X_{Be} yields a frame which has a cluster, and hence cannot be an orthospace. So Y_{Be} is the only possible candidate.

Now let $L(X_{Be})$ and $L(Y_{Be})$ be the KTB-logics of each of these frames. Let O_{Be} be the orthologic generated by Benzene. Then we have the following:

Lemma 5.3.21. Both $L(X_{Be})$ and $L(Y_{Be})$ are KTB-companions of O_{Be} .

Proof. Suppose that (λ, ψ) is an arbitrary sequent in O_{Be} . Let v be a valuation on X_{Be} , respectively Y_{Be} ; then consider the valuation v' given by $v'(p) = \Box \Diamond v(p)$. Then we have that:

$$(X_{Be}, v'), x \Vdash (\lambda, \psi) \iff (X_{Be}, v), x \Vdash G(\lambda) \to G(\psi)$$

This follows easily by induction, and the definition of the translation. Moreover, by Lemma 5.3.4, we have that since $(\lambda, \psi) \in O_{Be}$, then $(X_{Be}, v'), x \Vdash (\lambda, \psi)$ for any x; and similar for Y_{Be} (we note that there we did not assume that the dual space was maximally sober). Hence $G(\lambda) \to G(\psi) \in L(X_{Be})$ and $L(Y_{Be})$.

Conversely, suppose that $(\lambda, \psi) \notin O_{Be}$. By assumption, then Be, the Benzene algebra, is such that $Be \not\models (\lambda, \psi)$. So $X_{Be} \not\models (\lambda, \psi)$, and $Y_{Be} \not\models (\lambda, \psi)$. Transferring this to KTB using the usual arguments then yields that $G(\lambda) \to G(\psi) \notin L(X_{Be}) \cup L(Y_{Be})$.

Moreover, one can see that these logics are distinct by using the following observation (see Miyazaki [51, Lemma 2.6] for a stronger result implying this):

Lemma 5.3.22. Every finite KTB algebra whose dual is a connected graph is a simple algebra (and hence, subdirectly irreducible).

This follows from the fact that by standard Jonsson-Tarski duality, generated subframes correspond to homomorphic images. Moreover, since the duals of KTB algebras have a symmetric relation, this means any generated subframe will necessarily encompass the whole frame.

Now, given this, we have that the two frames above are subdirectly irreducible, so by Jonssons' Lemma (see Preliminaries), noting that in the case of finite algebras ultraproducts disappear, if they were equal, we would have these would be p-morphic images of generated subframes of each other. Since all generated subframes are the frames themselves, they would have to be p-morphic images of each other – something which one can manually verify does not happen, in either case. Indeed, this implies that there is no p-morphism from X_{Be} to Y_{Be} or vice-versa, whether surjective or not.

Hence, by the above facts, if X is some KTB space and $\theta^*(X)$ is the dual of Benzene, then X is obtained by some cluster-expansion of either X_{Be} or Y_{Be} . Moreover, note that if X is arbitrary in such conditions, then either X_{Be} or Y_{Be} is a p-morphic of X, by Lemma 5.3.15.

Now assume that there is a greatest KTB-companion of the orthologic of Benzene. Let $L \in$ **NExt**(KTB) be such a logic, and Var(L) be the dual variety. Hence we have that:

$$\operatorname{Var}(L) \subseteq \operatorname{Var}(X_{Be})$$
 and $\operatorname{Var}(L) \subseteq \operatorname{Var}(Y_{Be})$.

Since it is a companion, and we assume that ρ is a homomorphism, we have that this is enough to get that $\rho(\operatorname{Var}(L)) = \operatorname{Var}(Be)$ (through arguments similar to those sketched in Chapter 4). Hence, there is some $\mathbf{B} \in \operatorname{Var}(L)$ such that $\theta(\mathbf{B}) \cong Be$, and this corresponds dually to some KTB space X.

Now if the first case holds, then X has X_{Be} as a p-morphic image, and we have a contradiction, since that would mean that X_{Be} would be in $Var(Y_{Be})$. A similar argument shows that Y_{Be} cannot be the p-morphic image of X. Hence, we have just proved:

Corollary 5.3.23. The Polyatomic Blok-Esakia fails for the Goldblatt translation.

From the previous proof one can extract, using a very similar idea, a stronger result:

Proposition 5.3.24. The Goldblatt translation is not strongly selective.

Proof. We make use again of Be and the two spaces above, X_{Be} and Y_{Be} . Let their algebras be denoted by A and B, respectively.

Now assume that the translation was strongly selective, and let $\mathcal{F}(Be)$ be the image under the left adjoint. Denote by Z the unique dual KTB space of this algebra. Since this is an adjunction, we have counit maps which are KTB homomorphisms:

$$\varepsilon_A : \mathcal{F}(Be) \to A \text{ and } \varepsilon_B : \mathcal{F}(Be) \to B$$

Dualising, this means that there are p-morphisms $f_A : X_{Be} \to Z$, and $f_B : Y_{Be} \to Z$. Now, since we assume the translation to be strongly selective, we have that $\mathbf{O}_{\mathcal{F}(Be)} \cong Be$. Hence, by Proposition 5.3.17, we have that $\theta^*(Z)$ is an orthospace which dualises to Be. By the above arguments, then Z must be a cluster expansion of either X_{Be} or Y_{Be} .

First assume that Z is a cluster expansion of X_{Be} . Hence, we have a p-morphism $k : Z \to X_{Be}$, which collapses all the clusters. Since $f_B : Y_{Be} \to Z$ is a p-morphism, note that then we have a p-morphism $k \circ f_B : Y_{Be} \to X_{Be}$. But as noted above, there is no p-morphism between these two structures. Similar arguments show that if Z is a cluster expansion of Y_{Be} , then we get a contradiction. Hence, by reductio, we conclude that the Goldblatt translation is not strongly selective.

At this point, the hope for a reasonable Blok-Esakia theory of the kinds we discussed in Chapter 4 seems very slim. Hence it might be good to take stock on the problems we have here encountered so far. These can be summarily divided into two classes:

- **Regularity problems**: In a (PAt-) Blok-Esakia theory one would want regularly generated algebras to form a nice enough class. This implies that the class should be modally definable, or at least, definable by some quasi-equation, universal formula or other such logical apparatus, over the target signature (e.g., modal algebras).
- Sobriety problems: In a (PA) Blok-Esakia theory, one would want the functors to lose as little information as possible.

We note that as far as regularity goes, very little seems to be possible to do in our current setting. The lack of closure under subalgebras of the class of regularly generated KTB algebras means that a genuine Blok-Esakia isomorphism would likely require some definition involving formulas of a higher complexity than universal ones.

As far as sobriety goes, the situation is rather peculiar. The proofs we gave showing that sobriety fails, made use of the fact that there were multiple KTB spaces which dualised to the same orthospace – just as in Corollary 4.2.11 regarding the KGG translation. However, unlike that case, we could establish some bounds, namely, the maximal sober orthospace as a universal frame embedding all other such frames.

As such, it seems there could be some hope to eliminate these extraneous frames through some logical expedient, and with that, obtain some form of isomorphism between logical systems. A natural choice, in light of this translation, could be to consider a suitably defined fragment of KTB consisting of all maximally sober KTB spaces; that is, consider only the KTB models which dualise to maximally sober orthospaces. This approach would be justified in having these models be somewhat analogous to the UV-spaces of choice-free duality [7, 49]. This can presumably be done if one can find an appropriate logical description of such a fragment in algebraic terms. We have not been able to do so.

Instead, in the next chapter we will take a different route, and look for *minimally sober* spaces. As we will see these present different challenges, and require us to rework our machinery. Nevertheless, we think that this approach is justified by recent approaches to duality of bounded lattices [30, 29], and might be independently interesting.

5.4 Chapter Summary

We summarise our principal contributions in this chapter as follows:

- We show that the Goldblatt translation is a selective translation.
- We develop the maps naturally corresponding to the adjunction induced by the Goldblatt translation in a dual setting, and use them to study KTB companions.
- We show the impossibility of an isomorphism of the same kind as in the classic Blok-Esakia theorem, in Corollary 5.3.19, that the Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism fails, in Corollary 5.3.23, and that the Goldblatt translation is not strongly selective in Proposition 5.3.24.

Chapter 6

Sober Representations and Orthoimplicative Logic

In this chapter we continue our investigations of chapter 5 into the logic of ortholattices, and the relationships this establishes with other logical systems.

As noted in the previous chapter, some of the difficulties faced in studying the translation of orthologics into other systems can be attributed to the duality these ortholattices hold with orthospaces - whether through the fact that maximal sobriety is required to get an actual duality, or the fact that ortholattices seem to lack syntactic resources to capture natural operations one can consider on the dual space. In this chapter, we outline an alternative dual representation. This makes use of a notion of *quasi-prime filter*, which provides some advantages, in our setting, over the orthospace one (e.g, it restricts to Stone duality in the Boolean algebra case). Using this notion, we construct a simple representation of the "distributive envelope" of an ortholattice [29]. We then study *compatible ortholattices*, which admit an implicative structure, relating these to the Weak Heyting algebras of Celani and Jansana [13]. We prove some basic properties of the resulting systems, exploiting the advantages of our representation.

We then turn our focus to the relationship between these new "orthoimplicative systems" and **KTB**. Motivated by our representation, we identify a fragment of the system KTB admitting a sober translation, which we call "sober KTB", and provide a translation, analogous to the Goldblatt translation, to these systems. This allows us to obtain a PAt-Blok-Esakia isomorphism between the lattice of orthoimplicative logics and the lattice of sober KTB.

6.1 Admissible joins and Quasi-Prime Filters

Let us take stock of the representation studied in the last section. We begin with an ortholattice, and get from it a dual space consisting of all filters. Now, since Boolean algebras are ortholattices as well, this means that the dual of a Boolean algebra will include many more filters than just the ultrafilters - indeed, what one gets is the so called *upper Vietoris space* (see [7], see also [49] for the case of ortholattices), which represents a Boolean algebra by *all* of its filters. Whilst having the advantage of being choice-free, it is somewhat unsatisfactory if one wants to connect this construction to the established Priestley and Stone-type dualities for distributive lattices.

Similar concerns have long been present in the duality of orthomodular lattices. Indeed, already in 1986 Iturrioz [42] proved a representation theorem for these lattices which made use of filters sharing the center of an orthomodular lattice, which is a Boolean algebra, and her representation does restrict to the Boolean algebra case. However, her approach does not seem easily adapted to the context of general ortholattices, since the notions of center and commuting elements are only truly valuable in the presence of orthomodularity.

Our approach stems from ideas developed by Gehrke and van Gool [29]. These authors studied the free distributive lattices generated by a (possibly non-distributive) bounded lattice. Naturally, in the case of non-distributive lattices, one cannot then expect for this extension to be a homomorphism, since it cannot preserve both joins and meets. However, the key observation of the authors, stemming from the theory of canonical extensions, was that in such a construction one needs to preserve as much of the original structure as possible. That is, if a join was already distributive, for example, if $a \lor b$ is such that for all c:

$$(a \lor b) \land c = (a \land c) \lor (b \land c),$$

then we would want this join to be preserved by the extension map.

We call a finitary – not necessarily just binary – join with this property an *admissible join*. A trivial, but important, case, is the order relation:

Lemma 6.1.1. If $a \leq b$ in a lattice, then the join $a \lor b$ is admissible.

Proof. Simply note that if c is arbitrary, then:

$$a \wedge c \leqslant b \wedge c$$

Hence $(a \land c) \lor (b \land c) = (b \land c) = (a \lor b) \land c$.

This motivates the following definition, introduced in [29]:

Definition 6.1.2. Let *L* be a lattice, and *F* a filter. We say that *F* is *quasi-prime* if whenever $M \subseteq L$ is a finite subset where $M = \{m_i : i \leq n\}$, and $\bigvee M \in F$ is an admissible join, then for some $i, a_i \in F$.

Example 6.1.3. Consider the lattice in Figure 6.1:



Figure 6.1: The lattice MO_2

It is easy to see that the space of all filters consists of all principal proper filters on this lattice. However, note that the filter $\{1\}$ is not quasi-prime: $\bigvee \{a, b, a^{\perp}, b^{\perp}\}$ is an admissible join, and is equal to 1, but the above filter contains no element from the set.¹

¹The former example also illustrates that, in general, binary admissible joins do not suffice.

In a distributive lattice, all joins will be admissible, so quasi-prime filters will simply coincide with prime filters. Hence, as we will see below, our duality will indeed simply become Stone-Priestley duality in the case of distributive ortholattices, i.e., Boolean algebras.

It is of course important that quasi-prime filters exist in a way that makes them useful. For that we will need one more definition:

Definition 6.1.4. Let **O** be an ortholattice and $I \subseteq O$ a downwards closed set. We say that I is an *admissible ideal* if whenever $M \subseteq I$ is a subset with an admissible join, then $\bigvee M \in I$.

Proposition 6.1.5. Let **O** be an ortholattice, and $S \subseteq O$ a downwards closed subset; then the smallest admissible ideal containing S exists, and is:

$$\mathsf{Adld}(S) := \{a \in O : \exists M \subseteq S, \text{ such that } \bigvee M \text{ is admissible and } a \leqslant \bigvee M\}$$

Proof. It is not hard to see by the definitions that the intersection of admissible ideals is an admissible ideal. Hence let $\mathsf{Adld}(S)$ be the least admissible ideal containing S. Let $K = \{a : a \leq \bigvee M, M \subseteq S, M$ has an admissible join $\}$; first note that this is an admissible ideal. It is clearly downwards closed. If $M \subseteq K$ is a subset with an admissible join, let $M = \{m_i : i \leq n\}$. For each i, by hypothesis, $m_i \leq \bigvee N_i$, where the latter is an admissible join. Hence:

$$m_i = m_i \land \bigvee N_i = \bigvee_j m_i \land n_j$$

Where the last equation uses admissibility. Moreover, note that $\bigvee_j m_i \wedge n_j$ is an admissible join:

$$(\bigvee_j m_i \wedge n_j) \wedge c = (\bigvee N_j) \wedge m_i \wedge c = \bigvee_j m_i \wedge n_j \wedge c$$

Since S is downwards closed, and $n_j \in S$, then $m_i \wedge n_j \in S$ as well. Thus:

$$\bigvee M = \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} \bigvee_{j} m_{i} \wedge n_{j}$$

Which is thus an admissible join of elements from S.

It is easy to show that K will be contained in every admissible ideal. Hence, $K \subseteq \mathsf{Adld}(S)$, which is least. This concludes the proof.

We are now ready to prove the appropriate version of the prime filter theorem for our purposes:

Theorem 6.1.6. (Quasi Prime filter theorem) Let **O** be an ortholattice, $F, I \subseteq O$. Assume that F is a filter and I is an admissible ideal, such that $F \cap I = \emptyset$. Then there exists some $H \subseteq O$, a quasi-prime filter, such that $F \subseteq H$ and $H \cap I = \emptyset$.

Proof. The proof is analogous to the proof of the prime filter theorem. Consider:

$$P := \{ G \subseteq O : G \text{ is a filter }, G \cap I = \emptyset \}$$

Note that this is non-empty since F is contained in it. Moreover, it is not hard to see that the set is inductive. So by Zorn's Lemma, let H be a maximal element there.

We check that H is quasi-prime. Indeed, suppose that $\bigvee M \in H$ is an admissible join, where $M = \{m_i : i \leq n\}$, but no m_i is in H. So consider in O, for each i:

$$H_{m_i} \coloneqq \bigwedge \{ m_i \land c : c \in H \}$$

Then since H was maximal, each of these filters must intersect with I. So for each i, there is some $c_i \in H$, such that $m_i \wedge c_i \in I$. Let $d = \bigwedge_{i=1}^n c_i$, and note that $d \in H$, hence $\bigvee M \wedge d \in H$. Now note that since $\bigvee M$ is admissible then so is $\bigvee_{i=1}^n m_i \wedge d$. Indeed, indeed if e is arbitrary:

$$(\bigvee_{i=1}^{n} m_i \wedge d) \wedge c = (\bigvee M) \wedge d \wedge c$$
$$= (\bigvee_{i=1}^{n} m_i \wedge d \wedge c)$$

So since I is an admissible ideal, and $m_i \wedge d \in I$, $(\bigvee_{i=1}^n m_i \wedge d) \in I$ as well. By admissibility, then, $\bigvee M \wedge d \in I$. But this is also in H, which is disjoint from I; contradiction.

We now make use of our quasi prime filters to provide the desired representation theorem. We note that the arguments proving the following are very similar to those given in [8], and hence, we give here the proof of the two cases where the quasi-prime filter representation deviates from orthospace duality. A detailed proof of the full duality can be found in the Appendix.

Definition 6.1.7. Let (X, \leq, R, τ) be an orthospace. We say that this is a *slim orthospace* if it satisfies the following condition:

• (Admissibility) For each finite subset $U_0, ..., U_n, C \in \mathsf{RClop}(X)$, if:

if
$$(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i)^* \cap C \subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i \cap C)^*$$
 then $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i)^* = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i$

In words, a slim orthospace makes precise the following intuition: if a join of a lattice is distributive, then it should be represented using the "real join" - where this means, through the idea that lattices are carved out of a power set lattice, the union. Using these ideas, we have the following:

Theorem 6.1.8. Let **O** be an ortholattice, and $X_{\mathbf{O}}$ its orthospace dual. Let $Y_{\mathbf{O}} := \{x \in X_{\mathbf{O}} : x \text{ is a quasi-prime filter}\}$. Then $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ with the subspace topology, the restriction to \bot , and the restriction of \leq , is a slim orthospace such that $\mathsf{RClop}(Y_{\mathbf{O}}) \cong O$.

Let $\varphi' : \mathbf{O} \to \mathsf{RClop}(Y_{\mathbf{O}})$ be the map taking U to $\{x \in Y_{\mathbf{O}} : U \in x\}$. Notice that since $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a subset of X, this will form a subbasis of the subspace topology. The point of the proof of orthospace duality which requires some more elaboration lies in the proof of compactness.

Lemma 6.1.9. The space $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ as defined above is compact.

Proof. We use Alexander's Subbase Lemma. So suppose that:

$$Y_O := \bigcup_{a \in C} \varphi(a) \cup \bigcup_{b \in D} Y_O - \varphi(b)$$

Suppose towards a contradiction that there is no finite subcover. Then, for each collection $a_0, ..., a_n \in C$ and $b_0, ..., b_m \in D$, we have:

$$Y_O \neq \bigcup_{i=1}^n \varphi(a_i) \cup \bigcup_{j=1}^m X - \varphi(b_j)$$

Hence, there exists some quasi-prime filter $F_{\overline{a},\overline{b}}$ in the first set which is not in the second. Spelling this out, all of the $b_i \in F_{\overline{a},\overline{b}}$ and none of a_i are there. Thus, consider:

$$\mathsf{Fil}(\{b : b \in D\})$$
 and $\mathsf{Adld}(\{a : a \in C\})$

We claim that these sets are disjoint. Indeed, suppose not. Then this means that:

$$b_0 \wedge \ldots \wedge b_n \leqslant \bigvee M$$

Where $M = \{m_i : i \leq k\} \subseteq \downarrow \{a : a \in C\}$, by Lemma 6.1.5, and the join is admissible. Thus, for each $i, m_i \leq a_i$ for some $a_i \in C$. Let $\overline{a} = (a_0, ..., a_k)$ be the elements in these conditions. Let $F_{\overline{a},\overline{b}}$ be the filter corresponding to this as well as the sequence $\overline{b} = (b_0, ..., b_n)$. By hypothesis, $b_0 \wedge ... \wedge b_n \in F_{\overline{a},\overline{b}}$. But then $\bigvee M \in F_{\overline{a},\overline{b}}$, so there is some m_i in that filter, by admissibility and the fact that this filter is quasi-prime. But then by upwards closure, there is some $a_i \in F_{\overline{a},\overline{b}}$, a contradiction.

Because these sets are disjoint, by the Quasi-Prime Filter theorem we have that there is some $x \in Y_O$ which extends $\{U : U \in C\}$, and is disjoint from the admissible ideal noted above. Hence, there is some x such that:

$$x \in \bigcup_{b \in D} \varphi(b) \cup \bigcup_{a \in C} Y_O - \varphi(a) = Y_O - \left(\bigcup_{a \in C} \varphi(a) \cup \bigcup_{b \in D} Y_O - \varphi(b)\right) = \emptyset$$

Which is a contradiction. Hence, by contradiction, we have that Y_O is compact.

We now move to checking that the function φ as defined above is an embedding preserving the orthocomplement. This follows essentially by the same arguments of Goldblatt in [36, Theorem 4]:

Lemma 6.1.10. The function $\varphi : \mathbf{O} \to \mathsf{RClop}(Y_{\mathbf{O}})$ is an embedding, and moreover, whenever $\langle a_i : i \leq n \rangle \subseteq O$ are such that $\bigvee a_i$ is admissible, then:

$$\varphi(\bigvee a_i) = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \varphi(a_i)$$

Proof. The fact that φ is injective follows from the quasi-prime filter theorem: if $a \leq b$, then consider $\uparrow a$ and $\downarrow b$. The former is clearly a filter, and the latter is an ideal, hence clearly an admissible ideal, and the two are disjoint. So by the Quasi-prime filter, we can separate them, i.e, $\varphi(a) \leq \varphi(b)$.

We now move to showing the orthocomplement is preserved, that is $\varphi(a)^{\perp} = \varphi(a^{\perp})$ (note we take the restriction of the operator \perp , so this ranges only over quasi-prime filters). One inclusion is clear: if $a^{\perp} \in x$, then if $a \in y$, clearly $x \perp y$. For the other inclusion, suppose that $a^{\perp} \notin x$. Then we show that:

$$\operatorname{Fil}(\{a\})$$
 and $\operatorname{Id}(\{c: c^{\perp} \in x\}$ are disjoint

Indeed, suppose not. Then $a \leq c_0 \vee \ldots \vee c_n$. But then by applying \perp to both sides we get:

$$c_0^{\perp} \wedge \ldots \wedge c_n^{\perp} \leqslant a^{\perp}$$

Since all the former are in x, a^{\perp} would also be in x, a contradiction. Hence by the Quasi-Prime filter theorem, there is some y containing a, such that whenever $a^{\perp} \in x$, $a \notin y$ - that is, xRy. This shows that $x \notin \varphi(a)^{\perp}$.

To show the last statement, note that since $a_i \leq \bigvee_i a_i$, whenever $a \in x$, then $\bigvee_i a_i$, so $\bigcup_{i=1}^n \subseteq \varphi(\bigvee_i a_i)$. On the other hand, if $\bigvee_i a_i \in x$, and the join is admissible, ten for some $i, x \in \varphi(a_i)$. This shows the result.

Moreover, we can prove surjectivity:

Lemma 6.1.11. The map φ is surjective, i.e, any clopen regular of $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is of the form $\varphi(a)$ for some $a \in \mathbf{O}$.

Proof. The proof is the usual one: if K is a clopen regular in $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$, and $K = Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ then $K = \varphi(1)$. Otherwise, let $x \notin K$. By regularity, let $y \in K^{\perp}$ such that xRy. Then for each $z \in K$ we have that there is some V_z such that $v_z \in z$ and $v_z^{\perp} \in y$. Then:

$$K \subseteq \bigcup_{z \in K} \varphi(v_z)$$

By compactness, $K \subseteq \varphi(v_{z_0}) \cup \ldots \cup \varphi(v_{z_n}) \subseteq \varphi(v_{z_0} \vee \ldots \vee v_{z_n})$. By contrast, $(v_{z_0} \vee \ldots \vee v_{z_n})^{\perp} \in y$. Since xRy, $(v_{z_0} \vee \ldots \vee v_{z_n}) \notin x$. Hence $x \in \neg \varphi(v_{z_0} \vee \ldots \vee v_{z_n}) \subseteq Y - K$. Let $Z_x = v_{z_0} \vee \ldots \vee v_{z_n}$. Then $Y - K = \bigcup_{x \notin K} \varphi(z_x)$. By compactness we can extract a finite subcover that will get us the desired representation of K.

Then we can finally show:

Lemma 6.1.12. The space $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a slim orthospace such that $\mathsf{RClop}(Y_{\mathbf{O}}) \cong \mathbf{O}$.

Proof. The proof that this space is compact has already been given. The two separation conditions follow by definition: if $x \perp y$ then $a \in x$ and $a^{\perp} \in y$, so $x \in \varphi(a)$ and $\varphi(a^{\perp}) = \varphi(a)^{\perp} \ni y$. The upwards closure condition is automatically satisfied. Finally, the admissibility condition is automatic by the fact that, as just showed, the lattice **O** and $\mathsf{RClop}(\mathbf{O})$ are isomorphic via φ .

The morphisms of slim orthospaces will just be orthospace morphisms. However, to get a duality, following [29], the algebraic morphisms need to be tweaked:

Definition 6.1.13. Let L and L' be lattices. Suppose that $f: L \to L'$ is a lattice homomorphism. We say that f is join-admissible if whenever $\bigvee M$ is an admissible join, then $\bigvee_{m \in M} f(m)$ is an admissible join.

These morphisms are discussed in [29, Example 3.11], where the authors show that the condition of preservation of admissibility is necessary. With it, we can obtain a duality:

Theorem 6.1.14. The categories \mathbf{Ort}^{ad} of ortholattices with admissible homomorphisms and **SOrtS** of slim orthospaces are dually equivalent.

Proof. See Appendix.

Moreover, the former results also have, as a corollary, that slim orthospaces are minimal amongst orthospaces representing a given ortholattice:

Proposition 6.1.15. Let **O** be an ortholattice, and X an orthospace representing **O**. Then $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ embeds into X through a continuous map that preserves and reflects the relation \perp .

Proof. See Appendix.

All of these results make use of the crucial notion of a *distributive envelope*. This is what motivated the above representation, and what we turn to now. Since in this chapter we will have to often consider the "distributive" join, we denote this as \cup , and reserve \vee for the join coming from the ortholattice, i.e., $\vee = (\cup)^{\perp \perp}$.

We begin by reviewing some ideas and facts proved by Gehrke and van Gool which we will make use of:

Definition 6.1.16. Let **L** be a bounded lattice, and **L** a bounded distributive lattice. Let $e : \mathbf{L} \to \mathbf{D}$ be an injective map preserving meets, admissible joins and the bounds. We say that (\mathbf{D}, e) is a (join)-distributive envelope if for each \mathbf{D}' , a bounded distributive lattice, such that $f : \mathbf{L} \to \mathbf{D}'$ is an injective map preserving meets, admissible joins and the bounds, there is some $g : \mathbf{D} \to \mathbf{D}'$ where $g \circ e = f$.

In other words, a distributive envelope is the free distributive extension of **L**. For an arbitrary lattice **L**, denote by $D^{\wedge}(L)$ the unique distributive envelope of **L**. Gehrke and van Gool [29] proved the existence (and uniqueness) of such a distributive envelope, and provided a topological duality for these. However, for arbitrary lattices, the representation requires making use of a topological polarity, connecting two Priestley spaces. The key observation simplifying this in our case is that for ortholattices, since the join can be defined in terms of the meet, we can afford this simpler representation.

The study by Gherke and van Gool reveals the distributive envelope is a functorial construction, enjoying nice properties:

Theorem 6.1.17. The map $^{\wedge}$: Lat \rightarrow DLat, between the category of bounded lattices with join-admissible homomorphisms and distributive lattices, assigning to each distributive lattice its distributive envelope, is a functor, left adjoint to the inclusion from DLat to Lat. Moreover, if $f: \mathbf{L} \rightarrow \mathbf{D}$ is a map from \mathbf{L} to a bounded distributive lattice \mathbf{D} which preserves all meets and admissible joins, the unique lift, $\hat{f}: D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{L}) \rightarrow \mathbf{D}$ is given by:

$$\hat{f}: D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{L}) \to \mathbf{D}$$

 $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i \mapsto \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} f(a_i)$

Moreover, they provided a very useful characterisation of the distributive envelope. For that, recall that we say that a map $e : \mathbf{L} \to \mathbf{L}'$ between bounded lattices is *join-dense* if every element in \mathbf{L}' can be written as a join of elements e(a) for $a \in \mathbf{L}$:

Proposition 6.1.18. Let **L** be a lattice and (\mathbf{D}, e) a distributive lattice, and a map $e : \mathbf{L} \to \mathbf{D}$. Then (\mathbf{D}, e) is the distributive envelope if and only if:

1. e is injective;

- 2. *e* preserves all meets and admissible joins;
- 3. e is join dense;

Proof. For a proof, see [29, Corollary 3.15].

With this we can obtain the following fact, capitalising on our representation theorem:

Proposition 6.1.19. Let Y be a slim orthospace. Then $\mathsf{ClopUp}(Y)$ is isomorphic to $D^{\wedge}(\mathsf{RClop}(Y))$.

Proof. Consider the inclusion of $\mathsf{RClop}(Y)$ into $\mathsf{ClopUp}(Y)$. By the same arguments as in the previous proposition, this is seen to be injective, preserve all meets, and by the slim orthospace condition, to preserve admissible joins. It is moreover join dense by Lemma 5.2.14. Hence by the universal property of the distributive envelope, the inclusion factors through the distributive envelope. More explicitly, we get a universal isomorphism:

$$\begin{split} h: D^{\wedge}(\mathsf{RClop}(Y)) &\to \mathsf{ClopUp}(Y) \\ & \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \varphi(U_i) \to \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i \end{split}$$

This was to show.

As such we get the following useful tool:

Lemma 6.1.20. Suppose that Y is a slim orthospace. If $U, V_0, ..., V_n$ are clopen regulars, and $U \subseteq V_0 \cup ... \cup V_n$. Then if x is a quasi-prime filter over $\mathsf{RClop}(Y)$, and $U \in x$, then there is some i such that $V_i \in x$.

Proof. Let x be an arbitrary quasi-prime filter over $\mathsf{RClop}(Y)$. Now, since $U \subseteq V_0 \cup \ldots \cup V_n$, this implies by the isomorphism in Proposition 6.1.19 that $\varphi(U) \subseteq \varphi(V_0) \cup \ldots \cup \varphi(V_n)$. If $U \in x$, then $x \in \varphi(U)$, so $x \in \varphi(V_i)$ for some i, hence, $V_i \in x$.

We now look a bit further into the properties of the functors at play here, and investigate their universal algebraic and categorical properties.

Definition 6.1.21. Let **D** be a bounded distributive lattice. We say that an operation $(-)^{\perp}$: **D** \rightarrow **D** is an *orthonegation* if it satisfies for every $a, b \in D$:

• $a \leq (a^{\perp})^{\perp}$ and $a^{\perp \perp \perp} = a^{\perp}$

•
$$(a^{\perp} \lor b^{\perp})^{\perp} = (a^{\perp})^{\perp} \land (b^{\perp})^{\perp}$$

• $(a^{\perp} \wedge b^{\perp})^{\perp} = ((a^{\perp})^{\perp} \vee (b^{\perp})^{\perp})^{\perp \perp}$

In this case we say that (\mathbf{D}^{\perp}) is an orthonogated lattice.

The following is immediate in virtue of our representation:

Proposition 6.1.22. If **O** is an ortholattice, then $(D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O}), \bot)$, where \bot is calculated in the dual Priestley space, is an orthonogated lattice.

Definition 6.1.23. Let $F : \mathbf{O}^{\wedge} \to \mathbf{PDLat}^{\wedge}$ be the map assigning to each ortholattice its distributive envelope with the associated orthonegation, and to each admissible morphism $f : \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{O}'$ the unique lift:

$$\hat{f}: D^{\wedge}(O) \to D^{\wedge}(O')$$
$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i \mapsto \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} f(a_i)$$

We call this the **Distributivisation** of **O**.

To check that the former makes sense, we will need a little fact about dualising maps:

Lemma 6.1.24. Suppose that $f: O \to O'$ is an admissible ortholattice homomorphism. Then $f^{-1}: Y_{O'} \to Y_O$ is an orthospace morphism.

Proof. See Appendix.

This allows us to show the following:

Lemma 6.1.25. The map F as defined above is a well-defined functor, which moreover preserves injective morphisms.

Proof. The following argument stems essentially from [29, Corollary 2.13], where we also check preservation of the orthonegation. The definition of F on objects is given. Now suppose that $f: \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{O}'$ is an ortholattice homomorphism. We check that the lift is well-defined. Indeed, suppose that $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} b_j$. Then by Lemma 6.1.20 this refers to $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \varphi(a_i) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} \varphi(b_j)$. So now suppose that $x \in Y_O$ is a quasi-prime filter, and $x \in \varphi(f(b_j))$. Hence $f(b_j) \in x$, so by the previous lemma, $b_j \in f^{-1}[x]$, so $f^{-1}[x] \in \varphi(b_j)$. But we have that:

$$\varphi(b_j) \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^n \varphi(a_i)$$

So $f^{-1}[x] \in \varphi(a_i)$ for some *i*. So $x \in \varphi(f(a_i))$. A similar argument shows the other inclusion, and shows the map is well-defined.

Now if f is injective: if $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} f(a_i) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} f(b_j)$, then suppose that $a_i \in x$; since f is injective, $x = f^{-1}[x']$, so $f(a_i) \in x'$; the rest of the argument then follows inverting the arguments above.

It is clear from the definition that this will be a distributive lattice homomorphism. To see that it also preserves pseudo-negation one can see that:

$$\overline{f}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i)^{\perp} = \overline{f}(\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} a_i^{\perp})$$
$$= f(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} a_i^{\perp})$$
$$= \bigwedge_{i=1}^{n} f(a_i)^{\perp}$$
$$= (\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} f(a_i))^{\perp}$$

Thus we can capture the following universal property of the distributive envelope, analogously to the work of Gehrke and van Gool, and which we will need later:

Corollary 6.1.26. If **O** is an ortholattice, and $f : \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{D}$ is a map to an orthonegated lattice, preserving meets, admissible joins and the orthonegation, then there exists a unique map $g: D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O}) \to \mathbf{D}$ such that $f = g \circ i$, where $i: \mathbf{O} \to D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ is the natural inclusion.

Proof. Simply note that the universal map given above will, according to the previous lemma, lift to a map preserving the pseudo-negation.

For future use, we also note an extra fact about categorical constructions and admissible homomorphisms:

Proposition 6.1.27. Let **O** and **O'** be ortholattices, and **D** and **D'** distributive lattices with a pseudo-negation:

- 1. Let $f: \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{O}'$ be a surjective homomorphism of ortholattices. Then f is admissible.
- 2. Let $f: \mathbf{O} \to \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{O}_i$ be a subdirect embedding. Then f is admissible.

Proof. First we show (1): suppose that $\bigvee M$ are some elements in **O** which form an admissible join, and let $c \in O$ be arbitrary. Then by surjectivity, c = f(d) for each $d \in D$. Hence:

$$(\bigvee_{m \in M} f(m)) \wedge c = (\bigvee_{m \in M} f(m)) \wedge f(d)$$
$$= f((\bigvee M) \wedge d)$$
$$= f(\bigvee_{m \in M} m \wedge d)$$
$$= \bigvee_{m \in M} f(m) \wedge f(d)$$

Where the equalities follow from the admissibility of M and.

To see (4) we use a similar argument. Suppose that M is an admissible subset. By subdirectness, for each $i \in I$, $\pi_i \circ f$ is surjective. Hence, using the same argument as above coordinatewise will get us the result.

Having these results, one is left with some natural questions. One line of inquiry runs as follows. Given an orthonegated lattice $(\mathbf{D},^{\perp})$, one can look at:

$$\mathbf{D}_{\perp} = \{ a \in D : a = a^{\perp \perp} \}$$

we can show that this is an ortholattice. This is essentially by the same arguments as in Proposition 5.3.12, where the conditions of an orthonegation ensure that \mathbf{D}_{\perp} satisfies the equations of an ortholattice. It is not hard then to conceive of this yielding a translation between orthologic and some logic of orthonegated lattices. So we can ask: could such a hypothetical translation in this setting have the above distributivisation functor as its left adjoint?

Consider the distributive lattice with a negation given in Figure 6.2:

Which we call the "2-Fork" algebra, L. Here we have that $\neg x = y$, and $\neg y = x$, whilst $\neg A = \neg 1 = 0$ and $\neg 1 = 0$. Then note that x, y, 0, 1 are all $\neg \neg$ fixed points, whilst A is not. Hence,



Figure 6.2: 2-Fork

if we take the ortholattice of fixed points, this turns out to in fact be a Boolean algebra. In such an algebra, all joins are admissible, trivially. However, the inclusion map cannot preserve all these joins: since $x \vee y$ in $\theta(L)$ will be 1, whilst in L it must be A. Hence there is no hope in general to return from the \neg -fixed points to the original algebra through a map which preserves all admissible joins.

A different question: we know that as a distributive lattice, $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ can be Booleanised. Since we know that the elements of $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ are finite unions of elements from \mathbf{O} , we also know the shape of the elements from $B(D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O}))$ - they are finite unions of finite differences of elements from \mathbf{O} . This is justified by, up to isomorphism, such elements being the clopens from the slim orthospace. However, there is no general guarantee that given an *arbitrary clopen* U, U^{\perp} is clopen as well. In other words, we do not know whether the orthonegation of $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ can be extended to $B(D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O}))$. This leads us to the following definition:

Definition 6.1.28. Let **O** be an ortholattice. We say that **O** is *compatible* if whenever $U \subseteq Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a clopen subset, then U^{\perp} is clopen as well.

In essence, this implicit question is, as we will see, intimately related to the question of how we can extend the expressive power of a logic of ortholattices by some operations. In the next sections we take a closer look at this question.

6.2 Orthoimplicative Systems

In this section we tackle the question of providing an algebraic structure which captures the notion of a compatible ortholattice in an algebraic way. As we will see, the underlying description is quite complicated, and requires heavy use of admissibility of specific joins. We do this essentially by providing a structure, which we deem an *orthoimplicative system*, which is deeply related to Weak Heyting algebras. Indeed, readers familiar with [13] will notice our proofs are essentially more complicated versions of the arguments found in that paper.

Additionally, the logical complexity of the class is somewhat unusual, in that these are "Inductive Rule" classes, i.e., axiomatised by Π_2 first order formulas. The latter have recently received attention in [2], in the effort to axiomatise a calculus for compact Hausdorff spaces; our work here relies heavily on these ideas.

To motivate our developments, we recall that the quest to find an adequate implication connective has long marked research into quantum logic (see [44, Chapter 14] for an extensive discussion). Most interest has focused on term-definable implications, though recent work has started to focus on signature expansions [27]. The key difficulties seem to be that the desiderata for implications are in many senses conflicting: one would want the implication to satisfy the residuation laws, as in the intuitionistic setting, but this is known to bring us back to Boolean algebras. Already in 1981, Dalla Chiara in [18] noticed that the Kripke semantic approach to ortholattices allowed for another connective, modeled as:

$$\Box(U \to V)$$

Where U and V are propositions, and \Box is the induced operator from the non-orthogonality relation. This was noted to have many if not all of the properties which were desired in such an implication; however, this was, as far as we are aware, not pursued further.

As it turns out, our goal to capture compatible ortholattices turns out to be the same as providing an axiomatisation of this implication relation, and its close relatives. Given the intricate nature of the technical details, we focused on keeping in the main text only the crucial details, and as before, direct the reader to the Appendix, where full proofs can be found.

Throughout, as before, we let R denote the non-orthogonality relation on any orthospace under consideration.

Definition 6.2.1. Let $\mathbf{O} = (O, \land, \lor, (\multimap_n)_{n \in \omega}, \downarrow, 0, 1)$ be an algebra with a family of implications. We say that \mathbf{O} is an *orthoimplicative system* if it satisfies:

- 1. $(O, \land, \lor, \downarrow, 0, 1)$ is an ortholattice.
- 2. For each $n, a \multimap_n (0, ..., 0) = a^{\perp}$
- 3. $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_m) \leq a \multimap_{n+1} (b_0, ..., b_m, c)$
- 4. $a \multimap_k (a, b_0, ..., b_{k-1}) = 1$
- 5. $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \land a \multimap_m (c_0, ..., c_m) = a \multimap_{n \times m} (b_i \land c_j)_{(i,j) \in n \times m}$
- 6. $(a \lor b) \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m) \leqslant a \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m) \land b \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m)$
- 7. $a \multimap_k (b, c_0, ..., c_{k-1}) \land b \multimap_m (d_0, ..., d_m) \leq a \multimap_{k+m} (d_0, ..., d_m, c_0, ..., c_{k-1})$
- 8. $a \land (a \multimap_1 b) \leq b$
- 9. $a \multimap_{n+1} ((a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n))^{\perp}, b_0, ..., b_n) = 1$
- 10. For each $i \leq n, a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_i, b_{i+1}, ..., b_n) = a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_{i+1}, b_i, ..., b_n).$
- 11. For each $n, a \multimap_{n+1} (c, c, b_0, ..., b_{n-1}) = a \multimap_n (c, b_0, ..., b_{n-1})$

As well as the *admissibility axioms*:

- (A1) Whenever $\bigvee M$ is an admissible join, then $(\bigvee M) \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m) = \bigwedge_{m \in M} n \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m)$
- (A2) Whenever $C = \{c_0, ..., c_n\}$ and $D = \{d_0, ..., d_k\}$ are such that $c_i = \bigvee_{j=1}^k c_i \wedge d_j$ and this is an admissible join, then for all $e \in O$:

$$e \multimap_n (c_0, ..., c_n) \leq e \multimap_k (d_0, ..., d_k)$$

• (A3) For all $a, b_0, ..., b_n$ if $a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_n) = 1$ then $a = \bigvee_{i=1}^k a \land b_i$ is an admissible join.

Example 6.2.2. Let $\mathbf{B} = (B, \wedge, \vee, \neg, 0, 1)$ be a Boolean algebra. Then for each n, and each $a, b_0, \dots, b_n \in B$ let:

$$a \multimap_n (b_0, \dots, b_n) \coloneqq \neg a \lor b_0 \lor \dots \lor b_n$$

Then **B** is an orthoimplicative system. Note that in this setting, the admissibility axioms are trivial, since every join is admissible.

Example 6.2.3. More generally, let **O** be a compatible ortholattice. Then by slim orthospace duality, $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is such that whenever U is clopen, U^{\perp} is clopen. Then define, for $a, b_0, ..., b_n \in \mathbf{O}$

$$\varphi(a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n)) \coloneqq \Box_R(\neg \varphi(a) \cup \varphi(b_0) \cup ... \cup \varphi(b_n))$$

where $\neg \varphi(a) = Y_O - \varphi(a)$ and $\square_R Z = \{y : \forall w(yRw \text{ implies } w \in Z\}$. Then $(\mathbf{O}, (\neg _n)_{n \in \omega})$ is an orthomplicative system.

The latter example is the example which guided our definitions, and as we will see, it encompasses all possible orthoimplicative systems.

Some remarks are in order. The former is, as the reader might suspect, obtained from the axioms of a Weak Heyting algebras by essentially splitting the right coordinate of a Weak Heyting implication into infinitely many connectives. Moreover, the former axiomatisation is *not* equational, due to the admissibility Axioms. (A3) is essentially a collection of quasi-equations, whilst (A1) and (A2), through a more careful writing, can be seen to be collections of Π_2 formulas, indeed, so-called special Horn Formulas: for example, (A2) says, for every *n*:

$$\forall c_0, ..., c_n, d_0, ..., d_k, e((c_i = \bigvee c_i \land d_j \& \forall f(f \land (\bigvee c_i \land d_j) \leqslant \bigvee (f \land c_i \land d_j))))$$
$$\implies e \multimap_n (c_0, ..., c_n) \leqslant e \multimap_n (d_0, ..., d_k))$$

We will later take stock of this situation. For now, we first define the following relation between filters:

$$xTy \iff \forall n \in \omega, \forall a, b_0, ..., b_n, a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in x \text{ and } a \in y \implies \exists i \leq n, b_i \in y$$

One can then show the following:

Proposition 6.2.4. Let **O** be an orthoimplicative system. Let $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ be the dual slim orthospace. Then:

$$\varphi(a \multimap_k (b_0, \dots, b_k)) = \Box_T(\neg \varphi(a) \cup \varphi(b_0) \cup \dots \cup \varphi(b_k))$$

Proof. See Appendix.

We also have that the relation T as defined above is simply the relation R:

Proposition 6.2.5. If **O** is an orthoimplicative system, and $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is the dual slim orthospace, then T is reflexive and T = R. Hence $\varphi(a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k)) = (\varphi(a) - \varphi(b_0) - ... - \varphi(b_k))^{\perp}$

Proof. (1) First suppose that $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in y$ and $a \in y$. By Axiom 9, we have that:

$$a \multimap_{n+1} ((a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n))^{\perp}, b_0, ..., b_n) = 1$$

By (A3), then:

$$\bigvee_{i=1}^{n} (a \wedge b_i) \lor (a \wedge (a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n))^{\perp})$$

Is an admissible join. Hence either one of $b_i \in y$, or $(a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n))^{\perp} \in y$; but since $(a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n)) \in y$, the latter would be a contradiction. So there is some *i* such that $b_i \in y$, as intended. Thus, we conclude that yTy.

(2) First suppose that xTy. Assume that $a \in x$. Then if $a^{\perp} \in y$, for any of the equivalent definitions of a^{\perp} , then since:

$$a^{\perp} = a \multimap 0$$

This would imply that $0 \in y$, a contradiction. So $a^{\perp} \notin y$. Hence xRy.

Conversely, assume that xRy, and $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in x$, and $a \in y$. Now, because xRy, we have that $(a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n))^{\perp} \notin y$. By Axiom 10, we have that:

$$a \multimap_{n+1} ((a \multimap_n (b_0, \dots, b_n))^{\perp}, b_0, \dots, b_n) \in \mathcal{Y}$$

So since by (1), yTy, we must have that for some $i, b_i \in y$. This was to show.

With these facts, we can show that the notion of orthoimplicative system axiomatises the compatible ortholattices. First, note that in light of the above, if an ortholattice admits an orthoimplicative system structure, it does so uniquely: if **O** was an ortholattice with two orthoimplicative structures, by duality they would yield two relations T_0 and T_1 . In light of the above proposition, $T_0 = R = T_1$. Hence, by duality, the derived operators \Box_{T_0} and \Box_{T_1} must be the same, meaning that the actions of the arrows must agree. Moreover, orthoimplicative systems are intimately related to special classes of Weak Heyting algebras:

Definition 6.2.6. Let $\mathbf{H} = (H, \land, \lor, \multimap, 0, 1)$ be a Weak Heyting algebra. We say that \mathbf{H} is a *WH-symmetric algebra*, if \mathbf{H} satisfies the reflexivity axiom, as well as:

$$a \leqslant (a \multimap b)^{\perp} \cup b$$

This allows us to prove the following characterisation theorem, which ensures that these are the appropriate notions to work with:

Theorem 6.2.7. (Characterisation of Compatible Ortholattices) Let **O** be an ortholattice. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. O admits an orthoimplicative system structure.
- 2. $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ admits a unique WH-symmetric algebra structure, with the dual relation being given by the non-orthogonality relation.
- 3. O is compatible.

Proof. See the Appendix.

For orthoimplicative systems, we can moreover explicitly describe the implications, using the distributive envelope structure: if **O** is such a structure, then for each $a, b_0, ..., b_k \in O$:

$$a \multimap (b_0, \dots, b_k) := \bigvee \{ c \in O : a \leqslant c^{\perp} \cup b_0 \cup \dots \cup b_k \}$$

Indeed, the symmetry axiom ensures that $a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_k) \leq \bigvee \{c \in O : a \leq c^{\perp} \cup b_0 \cup ... \cup b_k\}$. Conversely, if $a \leq c^{\perp} \cup b_0 \cup ... \cup b_k$, this means:

$$\varphi(a) \subseteq \varphi(c)^{\perp} \cup \varphi(b_0) \cup \dots \cup \varphi(b_k)$$

Hence:

$$\varphi(a) - \varphi(b_0) - \dots - \varphi(b_k) \subseteq \varphi(c)^{\perp}$$

And so:

$$\varphi(c) \subseteq (\varphi(a) - \varphi(b_0) - \dots - \varphi(b_k))^{\perp} = \varphi(a \multimap_k (b_0, \dots, b_k))$$

Which establishes the equation.

We saw in Proposition 6.1.26, that the distributive envelope enjoys a universal property. It is not hard to see that this extends to orthoimplicative systems and their corresponding WH-envelopes.

Corollary 6.2.8. Let **O** be an orthoimplicative system and **D** a WH-symmetric algebra and f: $\mathbf{O} \rightarrow \mathbf{D}$ an admissible map such that:

$$f(a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k)) = f(a) \multimap \bigcup_{i=1}^k f(b_i)$$

Then there is a unique WH-homomorphism $\overline{f}: D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O}) \to \mathbf{D}$ extending f such that $\overline{f} \circ i = f$ where $i: \mathbf{O} \to D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ is the inclusion.

Proof. We already know that the lift \overline{f} is a homomorphism of distributive lattices. Now given $\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} a_i$ and $\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} b_i$ note that:

$$\overline{f}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} a_{i} \multimap \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} b_{i}) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \overline{f}(a_{i} \multimap \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} b_{i})$$
$$= \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \overline{f}(a_{i} \multimap k \ (b_{0}, ..., b_{k}))$$
$$= \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} f(a_{i} \multimap k \ (b_{0}, ..., b_{k}))$$
$$= \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} f(a_{i}) \multimap \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} f(b_{i})$$
$$= \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} f(a_{i}) \multimap \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} f(b_{i})$$

This was to show.

We now look briefly at general questions of duality for this setting.

Definition 6.2.9. Let Y be a slim orthospace. We call (Y, T), where $T \subseteq Y \times Y$ is a point-closed binary relation (i.e., for each $x \in Y$, T[x] is closed), an *expanded orthospace*. We say that an expanded orthospace is *full* if T = R and additionally, whenever U is clopen, then U^{\perp} is closed.

The former definition is motivated by the following fact:

Lemma 6.2.10. Let $X = (X, \leq, R, \tau)$ be an orthospace and $U \subseteq X$ a closed set. Then U^{\perp} is open.

Proof. Suppose that $x \in U^{\perp}$. Then for each $y \in U$, by the separation axioms of orthospaces, there is some $W_{x,y}$ such that $x \in W_{x,y}$ and $y \in W_{x,y}^{\perp}$, where $W_{x,y}$ is a clopen regular. Hence:

$$U \subseteq \bigcup_{y \in U} W_{x,y}^{\perp}$$

Since U is closed, by compactness, we can extract a finite subcover, i.e.

$$U \subseteq W_{x,y_0}^{\perp} \cup \ldots \cup W_{x,y_n}^{\perp}$$

Hence, $W_{x,y_0} \cap \ldots \cap W_{x,y_n} \subseteq U^{\perp}$, which is an open set, and $x \in W_{x,y_0} \cap \ldots \cap W_{x,y_n}$. This establishes that U^{\perp} is open.

As far as the converse proposition – that whenever U is open, then U^{\perp} is closed – we see that the above proof carries out under the additional hypothesis that U is regular. The general case appears to require further analysis.

We recall that an orthospace morphism $f: X \to X'$ is called *strong* if it satisfies for all $x, y \in X$:

- *R*-forth: if xRy then f(x)Rf(y)
- *R*-back: f(x)Ry implies that $\exists z, xRz$ and f(z) = y

For orthoimplicative systems, strong orthospace morphisms are indeed the right duals to homomorphisms:

Proposition 6.2.11. Let $f : \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{O}'$ be a homomorphism between orthomplicative systems. Then $f^{-1}: Y_{\mathbf{O}'} \to Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a strong orthospace morphism. Conversely, if $g: Y \to Y'$ is a strong orthospace morphism between full orthospaces, then $g^{-1}: \mathsf{RClop}(Y') \to \mathsf{RClop}(Y)$ is a homomorphism between orthomplicative systems.

Proof. See Appendix.

We conclude with some logical problems associated to this class of structures. The axiomatisation we have given of orthoimplicative systems uses Π_2 -formulas which are also special Horn sentences. This is outside most classical formalisms dealing with algebraic logic and universal algebra, but has not gone undiscussed. Notably, work related to the symmetric calculus of subordination algebras [2] and some specific investigations of these structures [3] have marked some recent analysis of such settings. This setting is also a particularly well-behaved (in being Π_2) fragment of so-called *geometric theories*, heavily studied in categorical logic [47] and more recently in proof theory [54].

We begin by recalling some classic concepts from model theory:

Definition 6.2.12. Let φ be a first order formula. We say that φ is a *Horn formula* if φ is in prenex normal form and:

$$\varphi = Q_0 x_0 \dots Q_n x_n \Big(\bigotimes_{i=1}^k \psi_i \Big)$$

Where each Q_i is a quantifier, and ψ_i is a formula of the form:

$$\chi_0 \vee \ldots \vee \chi_n$$

in which each χ_i is atomic or negated atomic, and at most one χ_i is atomic.

Definition 6.2.13. Let φ be a first order formula. We say that φ is a *Special Horn formula* if it is of the form:

$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^n \forall \overline{x} (\varphi_i \to \psi_i)$$

where each φ_i is positive, and each ψ_i is atomic.

Proposition 6.2.14. Let **K** be an elementary class (of algebras). Then:

- K is axiomatised by Horn formulas if and only if it is closed under reduced products.
- K is axiomatised by special Horn sentences if and only if it is closed under subdirect products.

Proof. See for instance [15, pp.418-419].

Since we are mostly interested in equational classes of orthoimplicative systems, we would want to work with something approximating varieties. However, naturally, the fact that we carry three inductive rules with us implies closure under homomorphic images or subalgebras cannot be expected in general. The notion we are looking for is that of a *relative variety*:

Definition 6.2.15. Let **K** be an elementary class of algebras, and $\mathbf{S} \subseteq \mathbf{K}$ another class. We say that **S** is a *relative variety* with respect to **K**, if **S** is closed under subdirect products and homomorphic images which belong to **K**.

Given a theory T in first order logic, We say that **S** is a *relative equational class* with respect to T, if there exists a collection of equations Φ in the language, such that for each **A** a model of T, **A** \in **S** if and only if **A** $\models \Phi$.

Note we work with subdirect products, rather the more usual subalgebras and products combination, in light of Hall's theorem (see preliminaries), and in light of the pathologies associated to subalgebra embeddings, such as the fact that they may not be admissible. We make the connection explicit in the case we are interested in. We recall a small universal algebraic fact:

Lemma 6.2.16. Let **K** be any class. Then for some cardinal κ , if $|X| \ge \kappa$, then $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{K}}(X) \in \mathbb{IP}_{S}(\mathbf{K})$.

Proof. See for instance [12, Theorem 11.11].

Theorem 6.2.17. The collection $\Lambda_A(OIS)$ of relative varieties of orthoimplicative systems forms a complete lattice. This is dually isomorphic to $\Lambda(OIL)$, the lattice of relative equational classes, relative to the axiomatisation given above.

Proof. First we show that a class is a relative variety if and only if it is a relative equational class. The if part is clear: if \mathbf{K} is a relative equational class, then since subdirect products and homomorphisms preserve equations, we have that it is a relative variety. For the converse, we use a standard argument, together with the lemma above. If \mathbf{K} is a relative variety, then consider:

Eq(K)

The set of equations satisfied by all members of **K**. Then clearly if $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbf{K}$, $\mathbf{A} \models \mathsf{Eq}(\mathbf{K})$. Now if **B** is an orthoimplicative system, assume that $\mathbf{B} \models \mathsf{Eq}(\mathbf{K})$. Let κ be a sufficiently large cardinal to satisfy the former lemma, and X a set such that $|X| = \max(|B|, \kappa)$. Hence, let

$$f: X \to B$$

be an arbitrary surjective map. By the universal mapping property, f has a lift to $\overline{f} : \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{OIS}}(X) \to \mathbf{B}$. Since $\mathbf{B} \models \mathsf{Eq}(\mathbf{K})$, then this factors through the algebra $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{K}}(X)$, i.e., there is a surjective homomorphism $g : \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{K}}(X) \to \mathbf{B}$. By the above lemma, we have that $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{K}}(X) \in \mathbb{IP}_{S}(\mathbf{K})$, and by assumption the class is closed under subdirect products. Hence we have that \mathbf{B} is a homomorphic image of that algebra, ensuring that $\mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{K}$ by closure under homomorphic images.

We have thus laid all of the groundwork for our return, in the next section, to the relationship between Ortholattices and KTB. We close this section with some remarks about compatibility of ortholattices and the naturality of the structures so discussed.

What we have proved in this section is that we can axiomatise compatibility in a stronger signature, but have not discussed how such structures can be found in ortholattices. It is obvious by the notion of compatibility that finite ortholattices will be compatible, and it can be shown that compatible ortholattices are closed under products (See Appendix), though we have not managed to prove or refute closure under homomorphic images or subalgebras.

However, it might be that many natural structures will admit an orthoimplicative system structure. As an encouraging example, the most paradigmatic orthomodular lattice – the lattice of closed subspaces of a Hilbert space – can be seen to admit an implication satisfying the equational axioms above, using the explicit definition we outlined. We leave the details of whether this means such a lattice forms a genuine orthoimplicative system, and a proof that such a space indeed forms a compatible ortholattice, for further work.

6.3 Orthoimplicative Logic and Sober KTB

In this brief section, we outline how the structures we met in the previous section can be described logically. We show that such systems are conservative over many classes of orthologies – such as those with the FMP – which ensures that our results still extend those of Miyazaki. We then explain how the developments of the previous chapter can be paralleled in the case of KTB, and construct a calculus for KTB, where the models are exactly the soberly generated **KTB**-algebras. We discuss logical admissibility of Π_2 -rules, and provide natural examples of KTB-extensions which are conservative (such as the whole logic **KTB**) and others which are not (such as tabular logics generated by non-sober KTB frames).

Definition 6.3.1. Let \mathcal{L}_{OIS} be the language consisting of $(\land, (\multimap_n)_{n \in \omega}, 0, 1)$. We say that O, a set of pairs (φ, ψ) of formulas in $\mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{OIS}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ is an orthomplicative logic if:

- 1. O is an orthologic;
- 2. For each axiom from 1-11 of an orthoimplicative system, of the form $\lambda \approx \gamma$, O contains the pairs (λ, γ) and (γ, λ) ;
- 3. O is closed under uniform substitution.
- 4. O is closed under the admissibility rules:
 - (a) For each finite subset Φ , if for each formula ψ , $(\bigvee \Phi) \land \psi \vdash \bigvee_{\varphi \in \Phi} \varphi \land \psi$ (we say that Φ is admissible) then $\bigvee \Phi \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m) \dashv \vdash \bigwedge_{\varphi \in \Phi} \varphi \multimap_m (b_0, ..., m)$
 - (b) For each pair of finite subsets Φ and Ψ , if $\varphi \in \Phi$ is such that $\varphi \dashv \vdash \bigvee_{\psi \in \Psi} \varphi \land \psi$ and Φ is admissible, then for each $\chi \ \chi \multimap_n (\varphi_0, ..., \varphi_n) \vdash \chi \multimap_k (\psi_0, ..., \psi_k)$.
 - (c) For all $\varphi, \psi_0, ..., \psi_n$ if $\top \dashv \vdash \varphi \multimap_n (\psi_0, ..., \psi_n)$ then $\varphi \dashv \vdash \bigvee_{\psi \in \Psi} \psi \land \varphi$ and $\{\psi \land \varphi : \psi \in \Psi\}$ is admissible.

Where we write $\varphi \vdash_O \psi$ to mean, as usual, $(\varphi, \psi) \in O$.

It is trivial to see that arbitrary intersections of OIL (Orthoimplicative Logic) will again be OIL. More interestingly, the Lindenbaum-Tarski techniques can still be applied.

Lemma 6.3.2. Let $\operatorname{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{OIS}}(\mathcal{VAR})$ be the term algebra on the signature of orthomplicative systems, and O an orthomplicative logic. Then $\mathbf{F}(\mathcal{VAR}) := \operatorname{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_{OIS}}(\mathcal{VAR}) / \equiv_O$, the algebra quotiented by the equivalence relation generated by interderivability in the logic, is an orthomplicative system.

Proof. First notice that with this definition, \equiv_O is still a congruence of the algebra. We know this will be an ortholattice, and by usual arguments, it will be clear that it will satisfy axioms 1-10. The fact that it satisfies the admissibility axioms follows from the admissibility rules. We prove (A1), and the arguments for the others are wholly similar.

Suppose that $\bigvee [\Phi]$ is an admissible join. Hence, for each ψ a formula, we have that:

$$\bigvee [\Phi] \land [\psi] \leqslant \bigvee_{\varphi \in \Phi} [\varphi] \land [\psi]$$

Hence, since the relation is a congruence:

$$[(\bigvee \Phi) \land \psi] \leqslant [\bigvee_{\varphi \in \Phi} \varphi \land \psi]$$

Hence, this means, by the lattice structure:

$$\bigvee \Phi \land \psi \vdash \bigvee_{\varphi \in \Phi} \varphi \land \psi$$

Since this holds for all ψ , by the A1-rule, then we get that:

$$\left[\bigvee \Phi \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m)\right] = \left[\bigwedge_{\varphi \in \Phi} \varphi \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_m)\right]$$

To provide an algebraization result, we make use of our work from last section:

Lemma 6.3.3. Let O be an orthoimplicative logic. Then Var(O), the class of algebras validating this, is a relative variety of orthoimplicative systems.

Proof. Immediate, since such a logic will extend the basic orthoimplicative logic by some sequents of the form (φ, ψ) , and these are simply equations of the form $\varphi \wedge \psi = \varphi$.

Corollary 6.3.4. Every orthoimplicative logic is sound and complete with respect to the relative variety of orthoimplicative systems validating the logic.

We now reserve the symbol OIL for the minimal orthoimplicative logic. We also note the following fact connecting orthologics and orthoimplicative logics:

Definition 6.3.5. Let O be an orthomolicative logic. We define \overline{O} , the orthologic reduct, to be:

 $\overline{O} := \{ (\varphi, \chi) : \varphi, \chi \in \mathbf{Tm}_{\mathcal{L}_O}(\mathcal{VAR}), (\varphi, \chi) \in O \}.$

It is clear by definition that every orthoimplicative logic is conservative over its orthologic reduct. Conversely, given an axiomatic extension $O \oplus T$, where T is a collection of ortholattice formulas, we can consider $OIL \oplus T$. Then we get the following:

Corollary 6.3.6. For each orthologic $O = O \oplus T$, Var(O) is a variety generated by compatible ortholattices if and only if $OIL \oplus T$ is conservative over O.

Proof. The left to right direction of this is clear. Conversely, suppose that $\mathsf{OIL} \oplus T$ is conservative over $\mathsf{O} \oplus T$. Then for each $(\varphi, \psi) \notin \mathsf{O} \oplus T$, let A_{φ} be an orthoimplicative system satisfying $\mathsf{OIL} \oplus T$ but not (φ, ψ) . Consider $S = \{A_{\varphi} : (\varphi, \psi) \notin \mathsf{OIL} \oplus T\}$ be the collection of ortholattice reducts of these structures. Then look at the orthologic of S. If $(\varphi, \psi) \in O$, then $(\varphi, \psi) \in \mathsf{OIL} \oplus T$, hence it is valid on all A_{φ} ; conversely, if $(\varphi, \psi) \notin O$, by construction this fails in some A_{φ} . Thus, $\mathsf{Log}(S) = O$, so the variety of O is generated by S.

We now move to a discussion of *sober* KTB algebras and their logic. Recall that in Chapter 5 that we showed that the Goldblatt translation could not be full by showing that there were two logics which both mapped to the same logic - namely, two logics generated by different representations of Benzene. There, we claimed that in Figure 5.4, the right hand side was the maximally sober frame; it is now not hard to see that the left hand side is the minimally sober one, i.e, the slim orthospace dual. If we want to pick only the minimally sober ones, it turns out it is enough to require closure under a collection of Π_2 -rules:

Definition 6.3.7. Let (B, \Box) be a KTB algebra. We say that **B** is *sober* if it satisfies the following:

• (KTB-sob) If $M = \{m_0, ..., m_k\}$ is a subset of B such that for all $b \in B$:

$$\Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{m \in M} \Box \Diamond m) \land \Box \Diamond b \leqslant \Box \Diamond (\bigvee \Box \Diamond m \land \Box \Diamond c)$$

Then $\Box \Diamond \bigvee_{m \in M} \Box \Diamond m = \bigvee_{m \in M} \Box \Diamond m$.

Lemma 6.3.8. Let B be a sober KTB algebra. Then:

- 1. $O_{\mathbf{B}}$ embeds into **B** through a map which preserves meets and admissible joins.
- 2. $X_{\mathbf{B}}^*$ is a slim orthospace.

Proof. (1) is clear: the fact that the inclusion preserves meets is obvious by definition of $O_{\mathbf{B}}$, whilst preservation of admissible joins follows from the rule KTB-sob.

To see (2), let $[x] \in X_B^*$. We will show that this is a quasi-prime filter with respect to $O_{\mathbf{B}}$. So let $\bigvee M$ be admissible in $O_{\mathbf{B}}$, and assume that $\bigvee M \in [x]$; by (1), then, $i(\bigvee M) \in B$, the mapping through the inclusion, sends this to $\bigcup_{m \in M} m$ understood as an element of **B**. Since $\bigvee M \in [x]$, then by definition $\Box \Diamond (\bigcup M) \in x$; but by assumption, $\bigcup_{m \in M} m = \Box \Diamond (\bigcup M)$, hence, there is some $m \in M$ such that $m \in [x]$. This was to show.

The former thus repairs one of the issues we had found with the previous situation in **KTB**: we could start with a **KTB** algebra, turn it into a **KTB** space, translate it into an orthospace, and then obtain the induced ortholattice; but if we took the dual of that ortholattice, the orthospace obtained need not be the same. Since we know that slim orthospaces are unique, and minimal, this cannot happen for sober **KTB** algebras.

Definition 6.3.9. Let **K** be a class of KTB algebras. We say that **K** is *sober* if all $\mathbf{B} \in \mathbf{K}$ are sober.

We note that again, given the underlying formula is a special Horn sentence, the class of sober KTB algebras will be closed under subdirect products. Moreover similar arguments to those sketched in the previous section yield:

Proposition 6.3.10. There is a dual isomorphism between the lattice of relative varieties, relative to sober KTB algebras, and relative equational classes relative to the theory of sober KTB algebras.

Moreover, adding the admissibility rule to the calculus of KTB yields a logic, which we denote KTB^s . Using similar arguments to those of this section, we have that the relative varieties are dual to the logics extending KTB^s . Hence we have a perfect parallelism between orthoimplicative logic and sober KTB logic, which will be the focus of our next, and last, section.

Before that, we turn to a natural question which is better discussed in the setting of KTB sober algebras, given the availability of tools and literature. The rule we just added states, explicitly, for a given logic L:

• If M is a subset which is admissible, in the sense that for each ψ we can prove that:

$$\vdash_{L} (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi) \land \Box \Diamond \psi \to \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi \land \Box \Diamond \psi)$$

then:

$$\vdash_L \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi) \leftrightarrow \bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi.$$

Now we note the following which uses similar ideas to Corollary 6.3.6:

Lemma 6.3.11. Let $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{KTB})$ be arbitrary such that $L = \mathsf{KTB} \oplus T$. The following are equivalent:

• Var(L) is generated by sober KTB algebras;

- $L^s = \mathsf{KTB}^s \oplus T$ is conservative over L
- The KTB-sob rule is admissible in L.

Proof. The equivalence of (1) and (2) is essentially as in the above corollary. Now we show that (1) implies (3): assume that we have $\vdash_L (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi) \land \Box \Diamond \psi \to \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi \land \Box \Diamond \psi)$. Let $A \in Var(L)$ be a sober generator. Then for each valuation v:

$$A \vDash (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond v(\chi)) \land \Box \Diamond v(\psi) \to \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond v(\chi) \land \Box \Diamond v(\psi)) \approx 1$$

Hence by definition in A:

$$(\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond v(\chi)) \land \Box \Diamond v(\psi) \leqslant \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond v(\chi) \land \Box \Diamond v(\psi))$$

Since this holds for all valuations, given any valuation v, we can let p' be a proposition letter not ocurring in any $\chi \in M$, and let v'(p') be any element in A, with the same result. Since A is sober, then:

$$\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond v(\chi) = \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond v(\chi))$$

Hence, since the sober elements generate Var(L):

$$\vdash_L \bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi \leftrightarrow \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{\chi \in M} \Box \Diamond \chi)$$

This was to show.

Conversely, assume that the KTB-sob rule is admissible in L. Then $\mathsf{KTB}^s \oplus T = \mathsf{KTB} \oplus T$, since we know that no application of the rule can yield new theorems. Hence (3) implies (2).

These rules can be put into a very specific shape, as discussed in [2, 3]:

Definition 6.3.12. A Π_2 -rule is a rule of the form:

$$(\rho) \frac{F(\overline{\varphi}/\overline{x},\overline{p}) \to \chi}{G(\overline{\varphi}/\overline{x}) \to \chi}$$

Where $F(\overline{x}, \overline{p})$, $G(\overline{x})$ and χ are formulas, possibly with open variables, in the language of modal algebras.

To see that our KTB rules are of this shape, consider the following formulas

$$F(x_0, ..., x_n, y) \coloneqq \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{i=1}^n \Box \Diamond x_i) \land \Box \Diamond y \to \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{i=1}^n \Box \Diamond x_i \land \Box \Diamond y) \text{ and}$$
$$G(x_0, ..., x_n) \coloneqq \Box \Diamond (\bigvee_{i=1}^n \Box \Diamond x_i) \leftrightarrow \bigvee_{i=1}^n \Box \Diamond x_i$$

In [3], a series of techniques were used to recognise admissibility of Π_2 -rules. We recall one of the ones used. For it, recall that a modal logic L is said to have the interpolation property if, whenever $\vdash_L \varphi \to \psi$, then you can find a formula $\chi \in Lang(\varphi) \cap Lang(\psi)$, (where $Lang(\chi)$ denotes the set of all terms involving variables from χ) the shared language, such that $\vdash_L \varphi \to \chi$ and $\vdash_L \chi \to \psi$. **Theorem 6.3.13.** Let L be a modal logic system with the interpolation property. Then a Π_2 -rule ρ as above is admissible if and only: whenever $\vdash_L F(\varphi/x, p) \land G(\varphi/x) \to \chi$ then $\vdash_L G(\varphi/x) \to \chi$.

Proof. See [3, Theorem 3.2].

We apply this theorem to our case:

Corollary 6.3.14. Let $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{KTB})$ be a system with the interpolation property. Then the KTB-sob rule is admissible in L.

Proof. Assume that $\vdash_L F(\overline{\varphi}, p) \land G(\overline{\varphi}) \to \chi$, for some χ and $\overline{\varphi}$, where these formulas are the ones defined above. Let **A** be an algebra in Var(L), and v any valuation. Now, by assumption, then:

$$\mathbf{A} \models F(\overline{\varphi}, p) \land G(\overline{\varphi}) \to \chi$$

Now, notice that in **A**, for any valuation, $G(\overline{\varphi}) \leq F(\overline{\varphi}, p)$: indeed, if the join is distributive, then the statement of F follows, regardless of the value taken by the extra parameter. Hence:

$$A, v \models G(\overline{\varphi}) \to \chi$$

This shows conservativity. Hence by Theorem 6.3.13, we have that L admits the rule.

Corollary 6.3.15. The variety of KTB algebras is generated by sober KTB algebras.

With these preliminaries, we are ready to tackle the question of the relationship between orthologic and KTB logic.

6.4 The Goldblatt Translation Revisited

Definition 6.4.1. Let \mathcal{L}_{OIS} be the language of orthoimplicative logic, and \mathcal{L}_{KTB} the language of KTB logic. Define the second Goldblatt translation as follows:

- 1. $G_2(0) = 0$
- 2. $G_2(p) = \Box \Diamond p$ for any proposition p;
- 3. $G_2(\varphi \land \psi) = G_2(\varphi) \land G_2(\psi)$
- 4. $G_2(\varphi \multimap_n (\psi_0, ..., \psi_n)) = \Box (\neg G_2(\varphi) \lor G_2(\psi_0) \lor ... \lor G_2(\psi_n))$

From this translation we obtain the semantically equivalent clauses $G_2(\varphi^{\perp}) = \Box \neg G_2(\varphi)$ and $G_2(\varphi \lor \psi) = \Box \Diamond (G_2(\varphi) \lor G_2(\psi))$. Let $\Theta = \{x \approx \Box \Diamond x\}$. Then we have:

Proposition 6.4.2. The tuple $(G_2, \Theta, \Box \Diamond)$ satisfies the conditions of being a contextual translation between the relative equational consequence of orthoimplicative systems and sober KTB algebras, and has a selector term.

Proof. It is not hard to see that the Θ equations are compatible with the equational consequence, and the proposed term is a selector. Moreover, the translation is contextual: if $G_2[\Phi] \not\models G_2(\lambda) \approx$ $G_2(\gamma)$, for some collection of equations $\Phi \cup \{\lambda \approx \gamma\}$ in the language of orthoimplicative systems, let Bbe a sober KTB algebra witnessing this. Then by arguments we have seen before, $O_{\mathbf{B}} = \{a : \Box \Diamond a\}$, equipped with the induced operations, is an ortholattice with an implication which refutes the equation in some valuation. Moreover, we have that $O_{\mathbf{B}}$ is orthoimplicative, because \mathbf{B} is sober and in **KTB**: if $\bigvee M$ is an admissible join in $O_{\mathbf{B}}$, by definition, then $\Box \Diamond (\bigvee M)$ is admissible in B; hence $\bigvee M = \bigcup M$, whereby the axioms (A1) and (A2) follow as easy properties of Boolean algebras with modal operators. Axiom (A3) as well as Axioms 8 and 9 follow from the fact that the modality is symmetric and reflexive.

Our work in the previous chapters now allows us to explicitly describe the adjunction which is related to this translation.

Definition 6.4.3. Let **OIS** be the category of orthoimplicative systems with implicative maps, and **KTBsob** the category of sober KTB algebras with admissible homomorphisms. Let **KTBSsob** be the category of sober KTB spaces with p-morphisms, and **OrtS** be the category of slim orthospaces with strong orthospace morphisms. We define a functor:

$\theta : \mathbf{KTBs} \to \mathbf{OIS}$

Which takes **B** to $O_{\mathbf{B}}$, and acts as the restriction on maps. Similarly, we have its dual:

$$\theta^* : \mathbf{KTB} \to \mathbf{OrtS}$$

Which takes a sober KTB space X to X^* , and acts as the induced map on maps.

We also define a functor:

$$BD(-): \mathbf{OIS} \to \mathbf{KTBsob}$$

Which on objects takes an orthoimplicative system O to the Boolean envelope of $D^{\wedge}(O)$, its distributive envelope, and on maps, takes the unique lift of all maps involved. Dually, we have:

$BD^*: \mathbf{OrtS} \to \mathbf{KTBSsob}$

Which acts by sending a slim orthospace to its Boolean space reduct, and acts as the identity on maps.

We have already studied the maps θ and θ^* and have that they are duals by Proposition 5.3.17 and Lemma 6.3.8. We will thus concentrate for now on showing that the other two maps are well-defined functors and that they are duals of each other.

Lemma 6.4.4. The maps BD and BD^* defined above are well-defined functors. Moreover, we have that:

- If **O** is an orthoimplicative system, then $X_{BD(O)} \cong Clop(BD^*(Y_{\mathbf{O}}))$
- If Y is a slim orthospace, then $Clop(BD^*(Y)) \cong BD(\mathsf{RClop}(Y))$

Proof. First we show that BD is a functor. Given **O**, note that $BD^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ is a well-defined Boolean algebra. By what we proved in Section 5.1, and facts mentioned in the preliminaries, $BD^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ will be isomorphic to the set of clopens of $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$. Hence its elements are of the form:

$$a = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{k} c_i \vee -d_i^0 \vee \ldots \vee -d_i^j$$

where $c_i, d_i^k \in O$. Hence we define:

$$\Box a = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{\kappa} c_i \multimap_j (d_i^0, ..., d_i^j)$$

L

We have that \Box will be a symmetric and reflexive modality (since the relation R is reflexive and symmetric), hence, it is a KTB algebra. Dually, the space $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ seen as a Boolean space with the non-orthogonality relation R, is a modal space, since R is point closed, and when U is clopen in Y_O , $\Box U$ is clopen (and regular).

It is clear to see that the proposed definitions on maps make BD and BD^* into functors. Now suppose that **O** is an arbitrary orthoimplicative system. Then by what we just mentioned, $BD(\mathbf{O})$ is isomorphic to the clopens of $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$. The second statement is similar.

We now consider two candidate maps:

Definition 6.4.5. Let $\eta_{\mathbf{O}} : \mathbf{O} \to \theta(BD(\mathbf{O}))$ be the map sending $a \in O$ to $a \in \theta(BD(O))$ for \mathbf{O} an orthomorphicative system. Let $\varepsilon_{\mathbf{B}} : BD(\theta(B)) \to B$ be the unique map induced by the inclusion of $\theta(B)$ into B.

Lemma 6.4.6. η and ε are natural transformations. Moreover, η is a natural isomorphism, and ε is pointwise injective.

Proof. The proof of naturality is straightforward once we show the remaining facts (for η this is trivial, since it is an isomorphism, and for ε this follows from the universal property of Booleanisation and Distributivisation). To see that η is a well-defined isomorphism, note that if $a \in O$, then $a \in BD^{\wedge}(O)$, and moreover, $\Box \Diamond a = a^{\perp \perp} = a$. Moreover, if $a \in BD^{\wedge}(O)$ and $a = \Box \Diamond a$, then by duality, $\varphi(a)$ is a clopen regular in $BD^*(Y_O)$; but by construction, then $a \in O$. Hence we have that η is bijective, and it is clearly a homomorphism.

To see the statement for ε , consider $i: \theta(B) \to B$ the inclusion. Since B is sober, this inclusion preserves all meets and admissible joins. Hence, by the universal property of the distributivisation, there is a unique lift $\overline{i}: D^{\wedge}(\theta(B)) \to B$ which is injective, since i was injective. In turn, as proved in the preliminaries, this means that there is a unique lift $\hat{i}: BD^{\wedge}(\theta(B)) \to B$ which is again injective. This is what we define ε_B to be, and hence the result follows.

With this we can now show that θ and BD form an adjunction:

Theorem 6.4.7. The maps BD : **OIS** \rightarrow **KTBsob** : θ form an adjunction, where moreover BD preserves injective maps, ε is pointwise injective, θ preserves surjective maps and η is an isomorphism.



Figure 6.3: Left Adjoint Triangle Identity

Proof. To see this forms an adjunction it suffices to check the triangle identities on the maps η and ε . To see that:

Simply note that by uniqueness of the map $\varepsilon_{BD(\mathbf{O})}$, and the fact that $\eta_{\mathbf{O}}$ is an iso, we have that $1_{BD(\mathbf{O})} \circ (BD(\eta_{\mathbf{O}}))^{-1} = \varepsilon_{BD(\mathbf{O})}$, which immediately yields equality.

Similarly, to see as in Figure 6.4:



Figure 6.4: Right Adjoint Triangle Identity

Note that if $a \in \theta(B)$, then $\eta_{\theta(B)}(a) = a$, and since the counit maps is an inclusion, $\theta(\varepsilon_B) \circ \eta_{\theta(B)}(a) = a$.

Hence, we have that the extended Goldblatt translation is sober, in the sense developed in Chapter 4. Hence, carrying out minimal changes for the case of relative varieties, we get a theory of companions for this setting, and a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia theorem. We briefly spell out what this amounts to, where proofs will proceed exactly as in Chapter 4:

Definition 6.4.8. Given an orthoimplicative logic O and a sober KTB logic $L \in \mathbf{NExt}(\mathsf{KTB}^s)$ we say that O is a *Goldblatt companion* of L if:

$$O \vdash (\varphi, \psi) \iff L \vdash G_2(\varphi) \rightarrow G_2(\psi)$$

We define the maps ρ , τ and σ on relative varieties of algebras as before; we also define the maps ρ and τ on logics, in the same way as described on Chapter 5. We denote by $L^{\Box\Diamond}$ the $\Box\Diamond$ -variant of the sober KTB logic L. Carrying out all arguments from Chapter 4 relativised to the sobriety condition, we then have finally:

Corollary 6.4.9. (PAt-Blok Esakia Theorem for OIL and KTBs) The following hold:

- The map ρ is a surjective homomorphism on varieties of algebras.
- The map τ is an isomorphism between the lattice of orthoimplicative logics and the lattice of □◊-variants of sober KTB-logics.
- The greatest Goldblatt companion of an orthoimplicative logic is the sober logic generated, as a relative variety by:

$$\{\sigma(\mathbf{B}): \mathbf{B} \in Var(L)\}$$

We thus have the sought out PAt-Blok Esakia theorem. Using the results from the previous section, we also note that this result encompasses all of the results found in the literature: since all varieties of ortholattices with the FMP are compatibly generated, all of them are conservatively translated to orthoimplicative logic, and hence the second Goldblatt translation extends the first. This recovers Theorem 5.3.10 by Miyazaki, and shows that our result is a genuine extension of the work done so far on the theory of KTB companions.

6.5 Chapter Summary

We summarise our principal contributions in this chapter as follows:

- We use the notion of quasi-prime filter to provide a new representation for ortholattices. This is done with the novel notion of a slim orthospace, which is shown to be minimal amongst orthospaces. This also yields a universal *distributivisation* functor.
- We study orthoimplicative systems as algebras with natural slim orthospace duals. We provide an axiomatisation of these using Π_2 -formulas, and study the descriptions of these in model theoretic terms. We introduce Orthoimplicative Logic, which corresponds on the logic side to these structures.
- We introduce a sober version of KTB, and discuss the context of applicability of these systems. We discuss admissibility of the non-standard rules in this case, and show that the key rule is admissible in the case of KTB and other systems.
- We provide explicit descriptions of the adjunction witnessing the second Goldblatt translation in the case of orthoimplicative systems and sober KTB algebras.
- We show that the second Goldblatt translation is sober, and prove a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism between Orthoimplicative Logic and Sober KTB.

Chapter 7

Conclusions and Further Work

In this thesis, we introduced the concepts of Polyatomic logics, and initiated a generalised study of "Blok-Esakia theory" for a large class of translations. Building on ideas from [53] and [6], we presented a framework for this study, outlining the concepts of selective, strongly selective, and sober translations, developing the concept of Polyatomic logics, and proving algebraic completeness theorems for such logics. Using these tools, we undertook a systematic study of the Goldblatt translation, finding that it fails to induce a classic Blok-Esakia isomorphism and fails to have the Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism. We then identified an adequate conservative expansion of minimal orthologic – orthoimplicative logic – as well as a conservative expansion of KTB – sober KTB – which are connected by a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism.

The work presented provides only the basics of the underlying theory, and leaves many natural continuations for this research. We highlight some of these below.

We did not elaborate the study of the \Box \diamond -logics associated to the Goldblatt translations, and did not investigate many natural properties of orthoimplicative systems and their logics. Properties such as FMP, Kripke completeness, canonicity, for both Orthoimplicative Logic and the dual \Box \diamond logics, would be the first natural continuation of the work presented here. We expect that standard techniques could be adapted to this case, with the role of the distributive envelope and Weak Heyting algebras should be emphatic in establishing these. In a similar vein, *preservation results* are an important theme of the GMT translation which we did not touch on here. Whilst certain properties follow from our results immediately (e.g., FMP and tabularity being preserved by the maps σ or ρ in the extended Goldblatt translation), others might require more careful analysis (e.g., Kripke completeness being preserved by the three maps). More broadly, for other polyatomic logics, including DNA-logic, the development of techniques like universal models and Jankov-De Jongh formulas can be expected to provide useful insights.

Related to all of these questions, the investigation of the regularly generated sober KTB algebras seem like a natural continuation of the research from chapter 6. The existence of a Polyatomic Blok-Esakia isomorphism leaves open the question of whether this translation is in fact BE-translation – that is, whether we can axiomatise the greatest companions. In this sense, we expect that the methods from [17] could be useful in establishing possible isomorphisms, though more work is necessary to understand the classes of sober and regularly generated KTB frames (i.e., the order theoretic reducts of slim orthospaces).

In addition to the contributions to the study of translations, in Chapter 5 we presented a new duality for ortholattices, which can be exploited further. For instance, we have the important case of *orthomodular lattices* – which we notably did not discuss throughout the thesis – and the associated systems of Quantum Logic. For instance, we have that the elements of the center, that is, those elements $a \in \mathbf{O}$ such that for every $b \in \mathbf{O}$:

$$a = (a \land b) \lor (a \land b^{\perp})$$

are such that $a \vee a^{\perp}$ is an admissible join. This implies that quasi-prime filters behave with respect to these elements in a way similar to ultrafilters. A broad research topic would be to look into the applicability of these ideas to the study of orthomodular lattices, modular ortholattices and Quantum Logics, which have various longstanding open problems [11]. In a similar vein, these methods should be applicable to modal ortholattices [41], and could allow for representations connecting these systems with classical modal logic.

Many questions which are naturally related to those in this thesis can be asked for adjacent translations, and we expect, can be addressed by methods such as the ones presented. One example is the following questions: intuitionistic logic embeds into classical logic (through an inclusion), and classical logic embeds into intuitionistic logic (via the KGG translation); orthologic embeds into classical logic (through an inclusion); so in what way should classical logic embed into orthologic? An intuitive idea, inspired by our Kripkean approach, is that this should somehow "collapse" the various states representing compatible options, making the phenomenon classical. We believe that a translation into specific *modal* orthologics, should be possible, so as to capture this intuition.

Finally, one could pursue a research program into Inductive Rule classes, which have the same kind of axiomatisation as Orthoimplicative Logic. This seems like a broad setting in which to develop algebraic logic, as its complexity is just above that of universal sentences, whilst preserving some of the universal algebraic desiderata (notably, Lindenbaum-Tarski constructions). We expect that a systematic investigation of this could unify and generalise many studies [58, 37, 54, 3] in the use of rules for axiomatising non-classical logical systems, and shed new light on the expressive power of such axiomatisations.
Bibliography

- Clifford Bergman. Universal algebra. Chapman & Hall Pure and Applied Mathematics. Caithness, UK: Whittles Publishing, 2011.
- [2] Guram Bezhanishvili, Nick Bezhanishvili, Thomas Santoli, and Yde Venema. "A strict implication calculus for compact Hausdorff spaces". In: Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 170.11 (2019), p. 102714. ISSN: 0168-0072. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apal.2019.06.003.
- [3] Nick Bezhanishvili, Luca Carai, Silvio Ghilardi, and Lucia Landi. Admissibility of Π_2 -Inference Rules: interpolation, model completion, and contact algebras. Version 1. 2022. arXiv: arXiv: 2201.06076.
- [4] Nick Bezhanishvili, Anna Dmitrieva, Jim de Groot, and Tommaso Moraschini. *Positive (Modal)* Logic Beyond Distributivity. Version 2. 2022. arXiv: arXiv:2204.13401.
- [5] Nick Bezhanishvili, Gianluca Grilletti, and Wesley H. Holliday. "Algebraic and Topological Semantics for Inquisitive Logic via Choice-Free Duality". In: Logic, Language, Information, and Computation. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2019, pp. 35–52. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-59533-6_3.
- [6] Nick Bezhanishvili, Gianluca Grilletti, and Davide Emilio Quadrellaro. "An Algebraic Approach to Inquisitive and DNA -Logics". In: *The Review of Symbolic Logic* (2021), pp. 1–41.
- [7] Nick Bezhanishvili and Wesley H. Holliday. "Choice-free Stone Duality". In: The Journal of Symbolic Logic 85.1 (2020), pp. 109–148.
- [8] Katalin Bimbó. "Functorial Duality for Ortholattices and De Morgan Lattices". In: Logica Universalis 1.2 (2007), pp. 311–333. DOI: 10.1007/s11787-007-0016-9.
- [9] Patrick Blackburn, Maarten de Rijke, and Yde Venema. *Modal logic*. Vol. Cambridge tracts in theoretical computer science. 53. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- [10] Willem J. Blok. "Varieties of interior algebras". PhD thesis. Universiteit van Amsterdam, 1976.
- [11] Gunter Bruns and John Harding. "Algebraic Aspects of Orthomodular Lattices". In: *Current Research in Operational Quantum Logic*. Springer Netherlands, 2000, pp. 37–65.
- [12] Stanley Burris and H.P. Sankappanavar. A Course in Universal Algebra. New York: Springer, 1981.
- [13] Sergio Celani and Ramon Jansana. "Bounded distributive lattices with strict implication". In: Mathematical Logic Quarterly 51.3 (2005), pp. 219–246.
- [14] Alexander Chagrov and Michael Zakharyaschev. *Modal Logic*. Oxford Logic Guides. Oxford, England: Clarendon Press, 1997.

- [15] Chen Chung Chang and H Jerome Keisler. *Model theory*. 3rd ed. Dover Books on Mathematics. Mineola, NY: Dover Publications, 2012.
- [16] Ivano Ciardelli and Floris Roelofsen. "Inquisitive Logic". In: Journal of Philosophical Logic 40.1 (2010), pp. 55–94. DOI: 10.1007/s10992-010-9142-6.
- [17] Antonio Maria Cleani. "Translational Embeddings via Stable Canonical Rules". MA thesis. Universiteit van Amsterdam, 2021.
- [18] Maria Luisa Dalla Chiara. "Some Metalogical Pathologies of Quantum Logic". In: Current Issues in Quantum Logic. Springer US, 1981, pp. 147–159. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4613-3228-2_11.
- [19] Brian A. Davey and Hilary A. Priestley. Introduction to Lattices and Order. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002, pp. 175–200.
- [20] Anna Dmitrieva. "Positive modal logic beyond distributivity: duality, preservation and completeness". MA thesis. Universiteit van Amsterdam, 2021.
- J. J. Dukarm. "Morita equivalence of algebraic theories". In: Colloquium Mathematicum 55.1 (1988), pp. 11–17. DOI: 10.4064/cm-55-1-11-17.
- [22] Ryszard Engelking. *General Topology*. Sigma Series in Pure Mathematics. Berlin, Germany: Heldermann Verlag, 1989.
- [23] Leo Esakia. *Heyting Algebras: Duality Theory.* Ed. by Guram Bezhanishvili and Wesley Holliday. English translation of the original 1985 book. Springer, 2019.
- [24] Leo Esakia. "On Modal Companions of Superintuitionistic Logics". In: VII Soviet symposium on logic (Kiev, 76). 1976, pp. 135–136.
- [25] Josep Maria Font. Abstract algebraic logic An introductory textbook. London: College Publications, 2016.
- [26] Peter Freyd. "Algebra valued functors in general and tensor products in particular". eng. In: Colloquium Mathematicae 14.1 (1966), pp. 89–106.
- [27] Wesley Fussner and Gavin St. John. "Negative Translations of Orthomodular Lattices and Their Logic". In: *Electronic Proceedings in Theoretical Computer Science* 343 (2021), pp. 37– 49. DOI: 10.4204/eptcs.343.3.
- [28] Nikolaos Galatos, Peter Jipsen, Tomasz Kowalski, and Hiroakira Ono. Residuated lattices: An algebraic glimpse at substructural logics: Volume 151. 151st ed. Studies in logic and the foundations of mathematics. London, England: Elsevier Science, 2007.
- [29] Mai Gehrke and Sam van Gool. "Distributive Envelopes and Topological Duality for Lattices via Canonical Extensions". In: Order 31.3 (2013), pp. 435–461. DOI: 10.1007/s11083-013-9311-7.
- [30] Mai Gehrke and Sam van Gool. Topological duality for distributive lattices, and applications. Version 2. 2022. arXiv: arXiv:2203.03286.
- [31] Gerhard Gentzen. "Die Widerspruchsfreiheit der reinen Zahlentheorie". In: *Mathematische Annalen* 112.1 (1936), pp. 493–565. DOI: 10.1007/bf01565428.
- [32] Jean-Yves Girard. "Linear logic". In: Theoretical Computer Science 50.1 (1987), pp. 1–101.
 ISSN: 0304-3975. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3975(87)90045-4.

- [33] Kurt Gödel. "Eine Interpretation des intuitionistischen Aussagenkalküls". In: ed. by Martin Davis. Vol. 55. 1. Cambridge University Press, 1990, pp. 346–346. DOI: 10.2307/2274985.
- [34] Robert Goldblatt. "Orthomodularity is not elementary". In: Journal of Symbolic Logic 49.2 (1984), pp. 401–404. DOI: 10.2307/2274172.
- [35] Robert Goldblatt. "Semantic analysis of orthologic". In: Journal of Philosophical Logic 3.1-2 (1974), pp. 19–35. DOI: 10.1007/bf00652069.
- [36] Robert Goldblatt. "The Stone Space of an Ortholattice". In: Bulletin of the London Mathematical Society 7.1 (Mar. 1975), pp. 45–48. DOI: 10.1112/blms/7.1.45. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1112/blms/7.1.45.
- [37] Valentin Goranko. In: Studia Logica 61.2 (1998), pp. 179–197. DOI: 10.1023/a:1005021313747.
 URL: https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1005021313747.
- [38] Gianluca Grilletti and Davide Emilio Quadrellaro. "Lattices of intermediate theories via ruitenburg's theorem". In: *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*. Lecture notes in computer science. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2022, pp. 297–322.
- [39] Andrzej Grzegorczyk. "Some relational systems and the associated topological spaces". In: Fundamenta Mathematicae 60.3 (1967), pp. 223–231.
- [40] Chrysafis Hartonas. "Modal translation of substructural logics". In: Journal of Applied Non-Classical Logics 30.1 (2020), pp. 16–49.
- [41] Wesley H. Holliday and Matthew Mandelkern. The Orthologic of Epistemic Modals. Version 3. 2022. arXiv: arXiv:2203.02872.
- [42] Luisa Iturrioz. "A representation theory for orthomodular lattices by means of closure spaces". In: Acta Mathematica Hungarica 47.1-2 (1986), pp. 145–151.
- [43] Peter T. Johnstone. Sketches of an Elephant: A Topos Theory Compendium. Oxford Logic Guides. Oxford, England: Clarendon Press, 2002.
- [44] Gudrun Kalmbach. Orthomodular Lattices. London Mathematical Society Monographs. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, 1983.
- [45] Andrey Kolmogorov. "On the Principle of the Excluded Middle". In: From Frege to Gödel : a source book in mathematical logic, 1879-1931. Ed. by Jean van Heijenoort. Source Books in the History of the Sciences. London, England: Harvard University Press, 1990.
- [46] James Koussas, Thomas Kowalski, Yutaka Miyazaki, and Michael Stevens. "Normal Extensions of KTB of codimension 3". In: *Advances in Modal Logic 12*. College Publications, 2018.
- [47] Michael Makkai and Gonzalo Reyes. First order categorical logic. Lecture notes in mathematics. Berlin, Germany: Springer, 1977.
- [48] Jacek Malinowski. "Strong versus weak quantum consequence operations". In: Studia Logica 51.1 (1992), pp. 113–123. DOI: 10.1007/bf00370334.
- [49] Joseph McDonald and Kentarô Yamamoto. "Choice-free duality for orthocomplemented lattices by means of spectral spaces". In: Algebra universalis 83 (Nov. 2022). DOI: 10.1007/ s00012-022-00789-y.
- [50] Ralph McKenzie. "An algebraic version of categorical equivalence for varieties and more general algebraic categories". In: *Logic and algebra*. Routledge, Oct. 2017, pp. 211–243. DOI: 10.1201/9780203748671-10.

- [51] Yutaka Miyazaki. "A Splitting Logic in NExt(KTB)". In: Studia Logica: An International Journal for Symbolic Logic 85.3 (2007), pp. 381–394. ISSN: 00393215, 15728730.
- [52] Yutaka Miyazaki. "Binary Logics, Orthologics, and their relations to Normal Modal Logics". In: Advances in Modal Logic. 2004, pp. 313–333.
- [53] Tommaso Moraschini. "A Logical and Algebraic Characterisation of Adjunctions between Generalised Quasi-Varieties". In: *The Journal of Symbolic Logic* 83.3 (2018), pp. 899–919.
- [54] Sara Negri. "Proof analysis beyond geometric theories: from rule systems to systems of rules". In: Journal of Logic and Computation 26.2 (2016), pp. 513–537. DOI: 10.1093/logcom/exu037.
- [55] Karl Krister Segerberg. An Essay in Classical Modal Logic. Uppsala: Filosofiska Studier -Uppsala Universitet, 1971.
- [56] Anne Sjerp Troelstra. Lectures on Linear Logic. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, May 1992. ISBN: 9780937073773.
- [57] Juan Soliveres Tur and Juan Climent Vidal. "Functors of Lindenbaum-Tarski, Schematic Interpretations, and Adjoint Cylinders between Sentential Logics". In: Notre Dame Journal of Formal Logic 49.2 (2008).
- [58] Yde Venema. "Derivation Rules as Anti-Axioms in Modal Logic". In: The Journal of Symbolic Logic 58.3 (1993), pp. 1003–1034.

Chapter 8

Appendix

The purpose of this appendix is to provide detailed proofs of some facts which are used in the thesis, but whose proofs are either standard or quite lengthy and unremarkable from the point of view of the main argument.

8.1 Slim Orthospace Duality

In Chapter 5, we proved the representation theorem of ortholattices inside slim orthospaces. We can show that this is in fact a full duality, by arguments analogous to those outlined in [8], which is what we do in this part of the appendix.

Our first focus will be on the method of working within distributive envelopes.

Lemma 8.1.1. The map ε defined above is a homeomorphism which preserves and reflects the \perp relation.

Proof. We begin by showing that indeed ε is well-defined, namely, that its image is a quasi-prime filter:

- (Filter): if $U \in \varepsilon(x)$ and $U \subseteq V$, then $x \in U$ implies that $x \in V$, so $V \in \varepsilon(x)$; similar for closure under conjunction.
- (Quasi-primeness): if $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i)^*$ is an admissible join, by the slim-orthospace property, $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i)^* = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i$. Hence if it belongs to $\varepsilon(x)$, then $x \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i$, so $x \in U_i$ for some i, i.e., $U_i \in \varepsilon(x)$.

Moreover, we see that it is continuous. For this it suffices to show that the pre-image of subbasic open sets is again open, and indeed we have, for $U \in RClop(Y_O)$:

$$\varepsilon^{-1}(\varphi(U)) = \{x : \varepsilon(x) \in \varphi(U)\}\$$
$$= \{x : U \in \varepsilon(x)\}\$$
$$= \{x : x \in U\}\$$
$$= U$$

And similar for X - U. Moreover, the map is injective: if $x \neq y$, then by Axiom 1 of an orthospace, there is some regular clopen set U such that $x \in U$ and $y \notin U$, hence $U \in \varepsilon(x)$ and $U \notin \varepsilon(y)$. It is

 \perp preserving and reflecting: by Axiom 2 $x \perp y$ if and only if there is some U such that $x \in U$ and $y \in U^{\perp}$, if and only if $U \in \varepsilon(x)$ and $U^{\perp} \in \varepsilon(y)$, if and only if $\varepsilon(x) \perp \varepsilon(y)$. Finally, we have that ε is surjective: suppose that $Y_{RClop(Y)} - \varepsilon(Y)$ is non-empty. Let z be an element there. Since this space is Boolean, by total disconnectedness, and the fact that $\varepsilon(Y)$ is closed, we can find a clopen set V such that $z \in V$ and $V \cap \varepsilon(Y) = \emptyset$. By usual representations, we may assume that:

$$V = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_{i} - B_{i}^{0} - \dots - B_{i}^{m}$$

Where A, B are all clopen regulars. Hence we may assume without loss of generality that $z \in \varphi(U) - \varphi(V_0) - \dots - \varphi(V_n)$. Hence we have that:

$$\varepsilon^{-1}(\varphi(U) - \varphi(V_0) - \dots - \varphi(V_n)) = \emptyset$$

Which implies that $U \subseteq V_0 \cup ... \cup V_n$. Bu by Lemma 6.1.20, this means that:

$$\varphi(U) - \varphi(V_0) - \dots - \varphi(V_n) = \emptyset$$

Which contradicts the fact that z is there.

Next we consider the case of the morphisms:

Lemma 8.1.2. Let $f: O \to O'$ be an admissible ortholattice homomorphism, and $g: Y \to Y'$ an orthospace morphism between slim orthospaces. Then:

- $f^{-1}: Y_{O'} \to Y_O$ is an orthospace morphism.
- $g^{-1}: RClop(Y') \to RClop(Y)$ is an admissible ortholattice homomorphism.

•
$$(f^{-1})^{-1} \cong f$$
 and $(g^{-1})^{-1} \cong g$

Proof. (1) Notice that because f is admissible, then f^{-1} is well-defined: it surely sends filters to filters, and moreover, if $x \in Y_{O'}$ is quasi-prime, then so is $f^{-1}[x]$: if $\bigvee a \in f^{-1}[x]$ is an admissible join, then $f(\bigvee a) \in x$, and by assumption, this is admissible as well.

It is straightforward to see that f^{-1} is continuous. Moreover, if xRy, then $f^{-1}[x]Rf^{-1}[y]$: if $a \in f^{-1}[x]$, then $f(a) \in x$, so $f(a)^{\perp} \notin y$, hence $a^{\perp} \notin f^{-1}[y]$ using preservation of \perp by f. To see the back condition, suppose that $f^{-1}[x]Ry$. Then look at:

$$Fil(f[y])$$
 and $Id(\{c^{\perp} : c \in x\})$

Note these must be disjoint; otherwise, for some $a_0, ..., a_n \in y$, $f(a_0) \wedge ... \wedge f(a_n) \leq c_0^{\perp} \vee ... \vee c_m^{\perp}$. Hence:

$$f(a_0 \wedge \dots \wedge a_n) \leqslant (c_0 \wedge \dots \wedge c_n)^{\perp}$$

Hence $c_0 \wedge \ldots \wedge c_n \leq f((a_0 \wedge \ldots \wedge a_n)^{\perp})$. Since the former is in x, so is the latter, so $(a_0 \wedge \ldots \wedge a_n)^{\perp} \in f^{-1}[x]$. But then $(a_0 \wedge \ldots \wedge a_n) \notin y$, which is a contradiction. So by the Quasi-prime filter theorem, there is some z such that $f[y] \subseteq z$, and whenever $c \in x$, $c^{\perp} \notin z$. So xRz, and moreover, $y \leq f^{-1}[z]$, as intended.

(2) To see that g^{-1} is an ortholattice homomorphism is clear. We show that it is admissible. If $\bigvee_{i=1}^{n} U_i$ is admissible, then by the slim orthospace condition, this is equal to $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i$. Then surely

 $g^{-1}[\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i] = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} g^{-1}[U_i]$ will be such that all clopen regulars distribute over it. (3) We show this fact for f, whilst for g this is analogous. Indeed, we show that if $a \in O$ is arbitrary, $\varphi(f(a)) = (f^{-1})^{-1}(\varphi(a))$. Suppose that $x \in \varphi(f(a))$. This is true if and only if $f(a) \in x$, if and only if $a \in f^{-1}(x)$, if and only if $f^{-1}(x) \in \varphi(a)$, if and only if $x \in (f^{-1})^{-1}(\varphi(a))$.

With this we have shown the following.

Theorem 8.1.3. The categories **Ort**^{*ad*} of ortholattices with admissible homomorphisms and **SOrtS** of slim orthospaces are dually equivalent.

The former also allows us to prove, as claimed in Chapter 5, that slim orthospaces are minimal:

Proposition 8.1.4. Let O be an ortholattice, and X an orthospace representing O. Then Y_O embeds into X through a map that preserves and reflects the relation \perp .

Proof. Let $x \in Y_O$ be arbitrary. Since X represents O, we can, without loss of generality, denote its clopen regulars by $\varphi(b)$ for $b \in O$. So consider in X the intersection $\bigcap_{a \in x} \varphi(a) \cap \bigcap_{b \notin x} X - \varphi(b)$. First we claim that this is non-empty. Indeed, if it were, by compactness, some finite subfamily would be empty, i.e. $\varphi(a_0) \cap \ldots \cap \varphi(a_n) \cap X - \varphi(b_0) \cap \ldots \cap X - \varphi(b_m) = \emptyset$. Hence:

$$\varphi(a_0) \cap \dots \cap \varphi(a_n) \subseteq \varphi(b_0) \cup \dots \cup \varphi(b_m)$$

By the above isomorphism Lemma, we get then that in the distributive envelope:

$$a_0 \wedge \ldots \wedge a_n \leq b_0 \cup \ldots \cup b_m$$

But then, we have that x contains all the a_i , so it must contain one of the b_i , a contradiction. Moreover, we claim that it can contain at most one element. Indeed, if x and y are both in that intersection, by assumption, there is some V a clopen regular such that $w \in V$ and $y \notin V$. I.e, $w \in \varphi(a)$ and $y \notin \varphi(a)$, so $a \in w$ and $a \notin y$, a contradiction. Hence mapping $\chi(x)$ to the unique element is well-defined.

Notice that the argument we have given now also shows that χ is injective. It is moreover continuous: $\chi^{-1}(\varphi(a)) = \{x : \chi(x) \in \varphi(a)\} = \{x : a \in \chi(x)\} = \varphi(a)$. And by similar arguments to those sketched above, we see that the map preserves and reflects the relation \bot .

Hence, we can genuinely talk about the space of quasi-prime filters as the *minimally sober* orthospace.

8.2 Axiomatisation of Orthoimplicative Systems

The purpose of this section is to provide proofs for many of the claims on orthoimplicative systems, which were introduced in Chapter 5. To work up to this, we will need to gather some tools relating the distributive envelope to the original ortholattice. Throughout, given any $H \subseteq D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$, define:

$$\overline{H} := \{a \in O : a \in H\}$$

We call the former the *restriction* of H to the ortholattice.

Proposition 8.2.1. Let **O** be an ortholattice, and $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ its distributive envelope. Suppose that $F \subseteq O$ is a subset, and $F = \overline{H}$, where H is an upwards closed subset of $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$. The following are equivalent:

- 1. H is a prime filter.
- 2. *H* is a filter which is prime with respect to admissible joins from F.
- 3. F is a quasi-prime filter.

Proof. (1) implies (2) since admissible joins in **O** coincide with the joins from $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$. To see that (2) implies (3), suppose that H is a filter which is prime with respect to admissible joins from O. Then it is straightforward to see that \overline{H} is upwards closed, since the order agrees, and closed under meets. Moreover, if $\bigvee M$ is an admissible join, then we know that $\bigvee M \in D^{\wedge}(O)$ is the same element, hence, if $\bigvee M \in H$ then $m \in H$ by the primeness assumption, so $m \in \overline{H}$.

Now to see (3) implies (1), note that by definition H is upwards closed. It is a filter, since if $a \leq \bigcup c_i$ and $b \leq \bigcup d_j$, where these are elements from $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$, then $a \wedge b \leq \bigcup c_i \wedge d_j$. Now we will show primeness. To see that, assume that for some $a_0, ..., a_n \in F$, $a_0 \wedge ... \wedge a_n \leq \bigcup_{i=1}^k c_i$. Since F is a filter, write the former as a. Then consider:

$$a = \bigvee_{i=1}^{k} a \wedge c_i$$

Then we claim that this is an admissible join. Indeed, if $e \in O$ is arbitrary, note that:

$$e \land \bigvee_{i=1}^k a \land c_i = e \land a$$

By duality:

$$\varphi(e) \cap \varphi(a) = \varphi(e) \cap \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \varphi(a) \cap \varphi(c_i) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \varphi(a) \cap \varphi(e) \cap \varphi(b_i)$$

Since this equality holds, and $\varphi(e) \cap \varphi(a)$ is clopen regular:

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \varphi(a) \cap \varphi(e) \cap \varphi(b_i) = \bigvee_{i=1}^{k} \varphi(a) \cap \varphi(e) \cap \varphi(b_i)$$

Which by duality again yields that $e \wedge a = \bigvee_{i=1}^{k} e \wedge a \wedge c_i$. This shows the desired equality. Now, since $a \in F$, and this is quasi-prime, then $a \wedge c_i \in F$ for some i; so since F is upwards closed, $c_i \in F$. Hence, $c_i \in H$, establishing that H is prime.

We now begin by proving some elementary properties of orthoimplicative systems:

Lemma 8.2.2. Let O be an orthoimplicative system.

- If $a \leq b$ then $c \multimap_k (a, d_0, ..., d_{k-1}) \leq c \multimap_k (b, d_0, ..., d_{k-1})$.
- If $a \leq b$ then $b \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_{k-1}) \leq a \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_{k-1})$

Proof. Assume that $a \leq b$. Then $a \wedge b = a$, so $c \multimap a = c \multimap (a \wedge b) = c \multimap a \wedge c \multimap b$, by Axiom 5. Next note that under the same hypothesis, we have that:

$$b \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_{k-1}) = (a \lor b) \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_{k-1})$$

$$\leqslant a \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_{k-1}) \land b \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_{k-1})$$

Which follows by Axiom 6. This shows the result.

Recall that we defined the following relation between filters:

$$xTy \iff \forall n \in \omega, \forall a, b_0, ..., b_n, a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in x \text{ and } a \in y \implies \exists i \leq n, b_i \in y$$

And we also have the following relation between filters in $D^{\wedge}(O)$:

$$x\tilde{T}y \iff \forall n \in \omega, \forall a, b_0, ..., b_n \in O, a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in x \text{ and } a \in y \implies \bigcup_{i=1}^n b_i \in y$$

The key tool we will use to produce prime filters is an adaptation from [13].

Definition 8.2.3. If **O** is an orthoimplicative system, $F, X \subseteq O$, we define:

$$D_F(X) := \{ c \in D^{\wedge}(O) : \exists c_0, ..., c_i \in O, \ c = \bigcup_{i=1}^n c_i \text{ and } \exists Y \subseteq X, \ Y \text{ is finite}, \ \bigwedge Y \multimap_n (c_0, ..., c_n) \in F \}$$

Lemma 8.2.4. For **O** an orthoimplicative system, $X \subseteq O$ a subset, and $F \subseteq O$ a quasi-prime filter, the following hold:

1. $D_F(X)$ is a filter.

2.
$$X \subseteq D_F(X)$$

- 3. $(Fil^{D(O)}(F), D_F(X)) \in \tilde{T}$
- 4. $D_F(\overline{D_F(X)}) = D_F(X)$

Proof. (1) Suppose that $c \in D_F(X)$, and $c \leq d$. Hence for some $Y \subseteq X$, $\bigwedge Y \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_n) \in F$. By arguments similar to Lemma 8.2.1, we have that since $c \leq d$, if $c = \bigcup c_i$ and $d = \bigcup_{j=1}^k d_j$, then $c_i \leq d$ and so $c_i = \bigvee_{j=1}^k c_i \wedge d_j$ is an admissible join. Hence, by Axiom A2, we have that:

$$\bigwedge Y \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_k) \leqslant \bigwedge Y \multimap_m (d_0, ..., d_m)$$

Since F is a filter, and $\bigwedge Y \multimap_k (c_0, ..., c_k) \in F$, then $\bigwedge Y \multimap_m (d_0, ..., d_m) \in F$. So $d \in D_F(X)$ by definition.

Now suppose that $c, d \in D_F(X)$, where $c = a_0 \cup ... \cup a_{k-1}$ and $d = b_0 \cup ... \cup b_{m-1}$. Then $\bigwedge Z \multimap_k (a_0, ..., a_{k-1}) \in F$, and $\bigwedge Y \multimap_m (b_0, ..., b_{m-1})$. By the same Lemma, then, $f = \bigwedge Z \land \bigwedge Y$ is such that:

$$f \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_{k-1}) \in F$$
 and $f \multimap_m (a_0, ..., a_{m-1}) \in F$

Hence their meet is in F. Hence by Axiom 5, we have that $f \multimap_{k \times m} ((d_i \wedge c_j))$. Since $d \cap c = \bigcup_{(i,j) \in k \times m} d_i \times c_j$, this shows that $d \wedge c \in D_F(X)$ as intended.

(2) Note that by Axiom 4, $X \subseteq D_F(X)$ obviously holds: if $a \in X$, then $a \multimap_1 a = 1$, which is in F.

(3) Let $a, b_0, ..., b_n \in O$ and $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F)$, and assume that $a \in D_F(X)$. Since $Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F)$ agrees with F on the ortholattice reduct (given that F is a filter), we have that $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in F$. Now by definition, since $a \in D_F(X)$ there is some $\bigwedge Y \multimap_1 a \in F$; so $\bigwedge Y \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in F$ by Axiom 7. Hence $\bigcup_{i=1}^n b_i \in D_F(X)$ by definition.

(4) Finally suppose that $a \in D_F(D_F(X))$. Then by assumption, there is $Y \subseteq D_F(X)$ such that $\bigwedge Y \multimap_k (a_0, ..., a_k) \in F$. In turn, by definition, $Y = \{y_0, ..., y_m\}$, and each $y_i \in D_F(X)$. Hence, for some finite $Z_i \subseteq X$, we have that $\bigwedge Z_i \multimap_1 y_i$. Hence, using Lemma 8.2.2, and letting $W = \bigwedge_{i=1}^m Z_i$, we have that:

$$W \multimap_1 y_i \in F$$

So, by Axiom 5, we have that $W \multimap \bigwedge Y \in F$. But then by Axiom 7 we obtain that $W \multimap_k (a_0, ..., a_k) \in F$, which implies that $\bigcup_{i=1} a_i \in D_F(X)$, as desired.

Lemma 8.2.5. (Existence Lemma for Orthoimplicative Systems) Let **O** be an orthoimplicative system, and F a quasi-prime filter, and I an ideal in $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ such that $D_F(X) \cap I = \emptyset$. Then there exists some G such that $D_F(X) \subseteq G$, G is a quasi-prime filter, $(F, G) \in T$, and $G \cap \overline{I} = \emptyset$.

Proof. Let as usual:

$$P = \{ H \subseteq D^{\wedge}(O) : H \text{ is a filter } (Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F), H) \in \tilde{T} \text{ and } H \cap I = \emptyset \}$$

Now by assumption, and the last lemma, we have that P is non-empty, and it is easily seen that such a set is inductive. So let H' be a maximal element in P, and let $H = \overline{H'}$. We claim that H' is closed under admissible joins from O. For suppose not. Then there is $M \subseteq O$ such that $M = \{m_0, ..., m_k\}$, $\bigvee M$ is admissible, $\bigvee M \in H'$, and for no i do we have that $m_i \in H'$. Note that for each $m_i \in M$, $D_{m_i} = D_F(H \cup \{m_i\})$ is such that $(Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F), D_{m_i}) \in \tilde{T}$: if $a \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n) \in Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F)$, and $a \in D_{m_i}$, then by definition, for some $z \in H$ (by closure under meets), we have $z \land m_i \multimap_1 a \in F$, and hence $z \land m_i \multimap_1 a \in Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F)$. So by Axiom 7, $z \land m_i \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n) \in Fil^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(F)$. This in turn implies, since F is a filter, that $z \land m \multimap (b_0, ..., b_n) \in F$, which by definition means that $\bigcup_{i=1} b_j \in D_{m_i}$.

Hence, for each such m_i , we have that $D_{m_i} \cap I \neq \emptyset$. Hence for some $c_{m_i} \in H$ (by closure):

$$c_{m_i} \wedge m_i \multimap_{k_{m_i}} (e_0, \dots, e_{k_{m_i}}) \in F$$

Where $\bigcup_{j=1}^{k_{m_i}} e_j \in I$. Since this is true for each *m* then, using repeatedly Axiom 3, we obtain that:

$$c_{m_i} \wedge m_i \multimap_p (l_0, ..., l_p) \in F$$

Where the latter is a list containing all sequences for each m_i . By Axioms 10 and 11, we know that it does not matter the order or the multiplicity in such a list. Moreover, let $c' = \bigwedge_{m_i \in M} c_{m_i}$. Then we have:

$$c' \wedge m_i \multimap_p (l_0, ..., l_p) \in F$$

For each m_i , and so:

$$\bigwedge_{m_i \in M} (c' \wedge m_i \multimap_p (l_0, ..., l_p)) \in F$$

Then we note that:

$$\bigvee_{m_i \in M} c' \wedge m_i$$

Is an admissible join, by arguments we have used before. So by Axiom A1:

$$\bigvee_{m \in M} (c' \land m) \multimap_p (l_0, ..., l_p) \in F$$

But then by admissibility:

$$\bigvee M \wedge c' \multimap_p (l_0, ..., l_p) \in F$$

But now we have that $\bigvee M \wedge c' \in H$, so $\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} l_i \in D_F(H)$. By Lemma 8.2.4, namely (3) and (4), we have that $D_F(H) = H'$ Hence $\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} l_i \in H'$. On the other hand, by assumption, for each $i, \bigcup_{j=0}^{k} e_j \in I$. So since I is an ideal, and $\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} l_i = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \bigcup_{j=0}^{k} e_j$, we have that $\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} l_i \in I$ - a contradiction to $I \cap H' = \emptyset$.

So finally consider H. Then by Lemma 8.2.1, and the fact that $H = \overline{H'}$, H is a quasi-prime filter, and $H \cap I = \emptyset$. We show that $(F, H) \in T$: whenever $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in F$, and $a \in H$, then $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in Fil^{D(O)}(F)$ and $a \in H'$, by assumption. Hence $\bigcup_{i=1} b_i \in H'$. Since by Lemma 8.2.1 we have that H' is a prime filter, there is some $b_i \in H'$, which shows that $b_i \in H$. This was to show.

To provide our characterisation, we briefly recall the concept of a WH-space ([13]):

Definition 8.2.6. Let (X, \leq, S) be a set equipped with a partial order \leq and a relation R. We say that (X, \leq, S) is a WH-frame if $\leq \circ S \subseteq S$.

We say that a relational topological space (X, \leq, S, τ) is a WH-space if:

- 1. (X, \leq, S) is a WH-frame;
- 2. (X, \leq, τ) is a Priestley space;
- 3. (X, \leq, S) is a Modal space.

We say that a map $f: X \to X'$ between WH-spaces is a WH-morphism if it is (1) continuous, (2) \leq -order preserving, (3) an R p-morphism.

For a proof of the following see [13]:

Theorem 8.2.7. The categories **WH** of Weak Heyting algebras with Weak Heyting homomorphisms and **WHS** of WH spaces with WH-morphisms are dually equivalent.

The following is an easy correspondence result:

Lemma 8.2.8. For each WH-algebra $\mathbf{H} = (H, \land, \lor, \multimap, 0, 1)$, we have that:

- 1. (B) $H \models a \leq ((a \multimap b) \multimap 0) \lor b$ if and only if R is symmetric.
- 2. (T) $H \models a \land (a \multimap b) \leq b$ if and only if R is reflexive.

Proof. First suppose that $\mathbf{H} \models a \leq (a \multimap b) \multimap 0 \lor b$. Suppose that xSy. We will show that ySx. Indeed, suppose that $a \multimap b \in y$ and $a \in x$. By the axiom and primeness, either b or $(a \multimap b) \multimap 0 \in x$; but if the latter was the case, then since xSY we would have $0 \in y$, a contradiction. So $b \in x$, as desired.

Conversely, suppose that $\mathbf{H} \not\models a \leq (a \multimap b) \multimap 0 \lor b$. Let x be a prime filter containing the first term but not the second. Then by our remark above, there must be some y such that xSy, $a \multimap b \in y$ and $0 \notin y$ (trivially); also $a \in x$, but $b \notin x$, hence $\neg(ySx)$.

The reflexivity axiom has a very similar argument.

All of this allows us to prove the following:

Proposition 8.2.9. Let **O** be an orthoimplicative system. Let $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ be the dual slim orthospace. Then:

$$\varphi(a \multimap_k (b_0, \dots, b_k)) = \Box_T(\neg \varphi(a) \cup \varphi(b_0) \cup \dots \cup \varphi(b_k))$$

Proof. One inclusion is obvious: if $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in x$, and xTy and $a \in y$, then by definition there is some i such that $b_i \in y$. Now assume that $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \notin x$. Consider:

$$D_x(\{a\})$$
 and $\mathsf{Id}^{D^{\wedge}(O)}(\{b_0,...,b_n\}).$

Indeed, we claim these must be disjoint subsets of $D^{\wedge}(O)$. If not, there is some $c \in D_x(\{a\})$ such that $c \leq b_0 \cup \ldots \cup b_n$. Since we have that $c = \bigcup_{j=1}^m c_j$, using the same argument as we have in prvious lemmas, we can show that $c_j = \bigvee_{i=1}^n c_j \wedge b_i$, and that this is an admissible join. Hence by Axiom A2:

$$a \multimap_m (c_0, \dots, c_m) \leqslant a \multimap_n (b_0, \dots, b_n)$$

Then since $a \multimap_m (c_0, ..., c_m) \in x$, this means we have that then:

$$a \multimap_k (b_0, \dots, b_n) \in x$$

Which is a contradiction. Hence, by Lemma 8.2.5, we have that there exists some y such that xTy, $a \in y$, and $b_i \notin y$ for any i. This means that $x \notin \Box_T(\varphi(a) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup \ldots \cup \varphi(b_k))$.

All of this work culminates, as presented in Chapter 5, in the following:

Theorem 8.2.10. (Characterisation of Compatible Ortholattices) Let **O** be an ortholattice. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. O admits an orthoimplicative system structure.
- 2. $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ admits a unique WH-symmetric algebra structure, with the dual relation being given by the non-orthogonality relation.
- 3. O is compatible.

Proof. To see that (1) implies (2), we define the structure on $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ using duality. Indeed, for each $U = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \varphi(a_i)$ and $V = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \varphi(b_i)$, clopen upsets in Y_O , let:

$$U \implies V \coloneqq \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \Box_{R}(\neg \varphi(a_{i}) \cup V)$$

By the above Proposition 6.2.4, this is a clopen regular element, and represents precisely $\bigwedge a_i \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k)$. By duality, this is a well-defined notion. It is not hard to see that this will yield a WH-implication structure on $D^{\wedge}(O)$. Moreover, because R is reflexive and symmetric, $D^{\wedge}(O)$ will be a WH-symmetric algebra by Lemma 8.2.8. The argument that shows that the structure is unique runs parallel to the Lemma above establishing that T = R.

The fact that (2) implies (3) follows because, if $D^{\wedge}(\mathbf{O})$ admits such a structure, by WH-algebra duality with WH-frames, we have that $Y_{\mathbf{O}}$, the dual WH-space, will be a modal space with respect to the relation R.

Finally, to see that (3) implies (1), it suffices to show that if O is compatible, then it admits an orthoimplicative system structure. We do so using duality. Indeed, define, for $a, b_0, ..., b_k \in O$:

$$\varphi(a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k)) \coloneqq \Box(\varphi(a) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup ... \cup \varphi(b_k))$$

The reader can easily check that this satisfies Axioms 1-7, 10 and 11. Axiom 8 is valid since the relation R is reflexive, and Axiom 9 is valid since R is symmetric. So we need to check the admissibility axioms:

• (A1) if $\bigvee_{m \in M} \varphi(m)$ is admissible, then $\bigvee_{m \in M} \varphi(m) = \bigcup_{m \in M} \varphi(m)$. Thus:

$$\varphi(\bigvee M \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k)) = \Box(\bigcup_{m \in M} \varphi(m) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup ... \cup \varphi(b_k))$$
$$= \Box(\bigcap_{m \in M} (\varphi(m) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup ... \cup \varphi(b_k)))$$
$$= \bigcap_{m \in M} \Box(\varphi(m) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup ... \cup \varphi(b_k))$$
$$= \bigcap_{m \in M} \varphi(m \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k))$$
$$= \varphi(\bigwedge_{m \in M} m \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k))$$

• (A2) Assume that $C = \{c_0, ..., c_n\}$ and $D = \{d_0, ..., d_k\}$ are in the stated conditions. Then note that this means simply that:

$$C \subseteq D$$

Hence the result follows by a straightforward calculation using the WH-implication and the fact that in WH-algebras, when $c \leq d$, then $e \multimap c \leq e \multimap d$.

• (A3) Assume that $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) = 1$. Dually, this means that:

$$\Box(\varphi(a) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup \dots \cup \varphi(b_n)) = Y_O$$

Since \Box is a reflexive modality, we have that:

$$\varphi(a) \to \varphi(b_0) \cup \dots \varphi(b_n) = Y_O$$

So by classical reasoning, $\varphi(a) \subseteq \varphi(b_0) \cup \ldots \cup \varphi(b_n)$. Then by an argument we have met before, $\bigvee a \wedge b_i$ is an admissible join, as it is equal to a.

This shows that **O** admits an orthoimplicative system structure, as desired.

We now show some of the facts mentioned in Chapter 5 related to morphisms.

Proposition 8.2.11. Let \mathbf{O}, \mathbf{O}' be orthoimplicative systems, Y, Y' full orthospaces. Then:

- 1. If $f : \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{O}'$ is a homomorphism between orthomorphicative systems, then $f^{-1} : Y_{\mathbf{O}'} \to Y_{\mathbf{O}}$ is a strong orthospace morphism.
- 2. If $g: Y \to Y'$ is a strong orthospace morphism between full orthospaces, then g^{-1} : $RClop(Y') \to RClop(Y)$ is a homomorphism between orthoimplicative systems.

Proof. (1) We already know, by the orthospace duality, that f^{-1} is an orthospace morphism. Now assume that xTy; if $a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k) \in f^{-1}[x]$. Then $f(a) \multimap_k (f(b_0), ..., f(b_k)) \in x$. Hence by definition, $f(b_i) \in y$, hence, $b_i \in f^{-1}[y]$. Next suppose that $f^{-1}[x]Ry$. Consider:

$$\mathsf{Fil}(f[x]) \text{ and } \mathsf{AdId}(f[O-y] \cup \{c : c^{\perp} \in x\}).$$

We claim these two sets are disjoint. For otherwise, we would have, for some $M \subseteq \downarrow (f[O-y] \cup \{c : c^{\perp} \in x\})$ which is an admissible join:

$$f(a) \leqslant \bigvee M$$

Now by assumption, for each $m \in M$, $m \leq f(b_i)$ or $m \leq c$, and the join is admissible. Hence, by duality:

$$\varphi(f(a)) \subseteq \bigcup_{m \in M} m \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \varphi(b_i) \cup \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} \varphi(c_j)$$

By similar arguments to what we showed before, then $f(a) = \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} f(a) \wedge f(b_i) \vee \bigvee_{j=1}^{k} c_j \wedge f(a)$ is an admissible join. Since **O** is orthoimplicative, then:

$$\bigwedge_{j=1}^{k} c_{j}^{\perp} \leq f(a) \multimap_{k} (f(b_{0}), ..., f(b_{n}))$$

Now since $\bigwedge_{j=1}^k c_j^{\perp} \in x$, then the latter is as well. But since f preserves the implication connective $f(a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k)) = f(a) \multimap_k (f(b_0), ..., f(b_k))$. Thus by hypothesis, the former is in x. Thus, $a \multimap_k (b_0, ..., b_k) \in f^{-1}[x]$. Since $a \in y$, by definition, for some $i, b_i \in y$. But this is a contradiction. By reductio, we obtain that the two sets above are disjoint, hence, by the prime filter theorem for distributive lattices, let z be such that $f[y] \subseteq z$ and $z \cap f[O - y] = \emptyset$, and whenever $c \in x$, then $c^{\perp} \notin z$. Thus finally look at \overline{z} . Then:

- \overline{z} is a quasi-prime filter, by Lemma 8.2.1.
- $xR\overline{z}$
- $f^{-1}[\overline{z}] = y$: indeed, if $a \in y$, then $f(a) \in f[y]$, hence $f(a) \in z$; but since $f(a) \in O'$, then $f(a) \in \overline{z}$, hence $a \in f^{-1}[\overline{z}]$. Conversely, if $a \notin y$, then $f(a) \in f[O y]$, so $f(a) \notin z$, hence clearly $f(a) \notin \overline{z}$.

This shows the result.

For (2), we show that:

$$g^{-1}[\varphi(a \multimap_n (b_0, \dots, b_n)] = \square_R(g^{-1}[\varphi(a)] \to g^{-1}[\varphi(b_0)] \cup \dots \cup g^{-1}[\varphi(b_n)])$$

Indeed, if $g(x) \in \varphi(a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n)$, then $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in g(x)$; because this is *R*-monotone, if xRy, then g(x)Rg(y), so if $a \in g(y)$, then for some $i, b_i \in g(y)$. Conversely, if $x \in \Box(g^{-1}[\varphi(a)] \to g^{-1}[\varphi(b_0)] \cup ... \cup g^{-1}[\varphi(b_n)])$, assume that g(x)Ry. Because this is a strong orthospace morphism, then for some z, xRz and g(z) = y. Hence, if $a \in y$, then $z \in g^{-1}[\varphi(a)]$, so $z \in g^{-1}[\varphi(b_i)]$ for some $i, i.e, b_i \in y$. We know that if $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \notin g(x)$, then by the Existence Lemma proved above, there would be some y such that g(x)Ry and $a \in y$ whilst $b_i \notin y$. Hence this is not possible, i.e, $a \multimap_n (b_0, ..., b_n) \in g(x)$. This shows the result.

8.3 Compatibility of Products

In this section we provide a direct proof that the product of orthoimplicative systems is again an orthoimplicative system. The arguments hereby contained are also useful to prove that structures such as the lattice of closed subspaces of a Hilbert space is a compatible ortholattice, hence, we provide full proofs as much as possible.

Let $(Y_{\mathbf{O}_i})_{i \in I}$ be a family of spaces of quasi-prime filters of the orthomplicative systems \mathbf{O}_i . Let $\mathbf{Z} := \bigsqcup_{i \in I} Y_{\mathbf{O}_i}$ be the disjoint union. Define a family $\operatorname{Reg}(\mathbf{Z})$ as follows: $S \subseteq Z$ is called regular if for each i, S(i) = W that is the *i*'th coordinate of this set, where $W \subseteq Y_{\mathbf{O}_i}$ is a clopen regular. Define a relation \perp' on this structure pointwise: given a subset $A \subseteq Z$, we let $x \perp' y$ if and only if x and y are in the same coordinate of $Y_{\mathbf{O}_i}$, and $x \perp_{Y_{\mathbf{O}_i}} y$. Using this relation, note that $\operatorname{Reg}(\mathbf{Z})$ forms an ortholattice, under intersection, pointwise orthocomplement, and the implication $\Box(x \to y_0 \cup \ldots \cup y_n)$, which we denote by \multimap_n . Then note the following:

Lemma 8.3.1. For any $U, V_0, ..., V_n \in \text{Reg}(Z)$ we have $(U \multimap_n (V_0, ..., V_n)) \in \text{Reg}(Z)$.

Proof. This follows almost by definition, once we note that because the elements have disjoint parts, the subtractions are also taken pointwise, i.e:

$$(U - V_0 - \dots - V_n) = \bigcup_{i \in I} U(i) - V_0(i) - \dots - V_n(i)$$

Now if $x \in (U - V_0 - \dots - V_n)^{\perp}$ then whenever $y \in (U - V_0 - \dots - V_n)$, and x and y are in the same coordinate, that is, $y \in U(i) - V_0(i) - \dots - V_n(i)$ for some i, we have $x \perp_{Y_{O_i}} y$. Thus $x \in \bigcup_{i \in I} (U(i) - V_0(i) - \dots - V_n(i))^{\perp}$. The converse is immediate since each x can be in a single coordinate.

It is moreover easy to see that:

Proposition 8.3.2. The algebras $(\text{Reg}(Z), \cap, (\multimap)_{n \in \omega}, \bot)$ and $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{O}_i$ are isomorphic.

Proof. Define the map $p: \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{O}_i \to \mathsf{Reg}(\mathbf{Z})$ which assigns to $(a_i)_{i \in I}$ the sequence $(\varphi(a_i))_{i \in I}$; by our definitions above this is seen to be an isomorphism.

To proceed, we will show that this structure allows us to work with $\operatorname{Reg}(Z)$ in our calculations. We denote by $\operatorname{Fin}(\operatorname{Reg}(Z))$ the set of all $U = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} U_i$ where $U_i \in \operatorname{Reg}(Z)$, and the union is taken over $\operatorname{Reg}(Z)$. Then we have:

Lemma 8.3.3. The structure $(Fin(Reg(Z)), \cup, \cap, \bot)$ is isomorphic to $D^{\wedge}(Reg(Z))$.

Proof. We apply Proposition 6.1.18. We have that the inclusion of $\operatorname{Reg}(Z)$ is injective and dense. We show it preserves admissible joins. Indeed, assume that $\bigvee_{j=1}^{k} U_j$ is admissible. Then we have that for each coordinate of the disjoint union $i \in I$, $\bigvee_{j=1} U_j(i)$ is admissible as well. Since the spaces are slim orthospaces, then $\bigvee_{j=1} U_j(i) = \bigcup_{j=1} U_j(i)$. So we can see that $\bigvee_{j=1}^{k} U_j = \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} U_j$.

Now let $\coprod_{i \in I} Y_{\mathbf{O}_i}$ be the space of quasi-prime filters on $(\mathsf{Reg}(Z), \cap, \Longrightarrow, \bot)$. We will now prove the following crucial lemma.

Lemma 8.3.4. Let U' and $V'_0, ..., V'_n$ be clopen regulars in $\coprod_{i \in I} Y_{\mathbf{O}_i}$, i.e., $U' = \varphi(U)$ and $V'_i = \varphi(V_i)$. Then:

$$(\varphi(U) - \varphi(V_0) - \dots - \varphi(V_n))^{\perp} = \varphi((U \multimap_n (V_0, \dots, V_n)))$$

Proof. Let $x \in \varphi(U \multimap_n (V_0, ..., V_n))$. Now suppose that $y \in \varphi(U) - \varphi(V_0) - ...\varphi(V_n)$. By the hypothesis, then $U \in y$ and $V_i \notin y$. Let \hat{y} be the prime filter extension. Now note that in Reg(Z) we have that $U \subseteq (U - V_0 - ... - V_n)^{\perp \perp} \cup V_0 \cup ... \cup V_n$. Indeed, note that:

$$(U - V_0 - \dots - V_n)^{\perp \perp} \cup V_0 \cup \dots \cup V_n \subseteq U^{\perp \perp} \cup V_0 \cup \dots \cup V_n$$
$$\subseteq U \cup V_0 \cup \dots \cup V_n$$
$$\subseteq (U - V_0 - \dots - V_n) \cup V_0 \cup \dots \cup V_n$$
$$\subseteq (U - V_0 - \dots - V_n)^{\perp \perp} \cup V_0 \cup \dots \cup V_n$$

Hence since clearly $U \subseteq U \cup V_0 \cup ... \cup V_n$ we have this fact. But now, since $U \in \hat{y}$, and $V_i \notin \hat{y}$, we must have $(U - V_0 - ... - V_n)^{\perp \perp} \in \hat{y}$; hence, since $(U \multimap_n (V_0, ..., V_n)) = (U - V_0 - ... - V_n)^{\perp} \in \text{Reg}(Z)$ by our previous lemma, clearly its orthogonal complement will be as well. But now, we must have that $x \perp y$. This shows one inclusion.

Conversely, suppose that $x \notin \varphi((U - V_0 - ... - V_n)^{\perp})$. Then we will have that over $D^{\wedge}(\operatorname{Reg}(Z))$:

$$\mathsf{Fil}(\{U\}) \cap \mathsf{Id}(\{C^{\perp} : C \in x\} \cup \{V_0, ..., V_n\}) \neq \emptyset$$

For otherwise, we will have that:

$$U \subseteq (C_0)^{\perp} \cup \ldots \cup (C_n)^{\perp} \cup V_0 \cup \ldots \cup V_n$$

Hence since these are sets:

$$U - V_0 - \dots - V_n \subseteq (C_0)^{\perp} \cup \dots \cup (C_n)^{\perp}$$

Applying \perp on each side:

$$(C_0)^{\perp \perp} \cap \dots \cap (C_n)^{\perp \perp} \subseteq (U - V_0 - \dots - V_n)^{\perp} = U \implies {}_n(V_0, \dots, V_n)$$

Since the former are in x by regularity, we have the latter is as well, since by the previous lemma, it is clopen regular. But this is a contradiction. So by the Prime filter theorem, we can find some prime filter y extending the above filter, and disjoint from the filter. Let \overline{y} be its restriction to a quasi-prime filter in O. Then whenever $C \in x$, $C^{\perp} \notin \overline{y}$, by our Proposition 8.2.1, so $xR\overline{y}$; also $U \in \overline{y}$ and $V_i \notin \overline{y}$ for any i. This shows that $x \notin (\varphi(U) - \varphi(V_0) - \ldots - \varphi(V_n))^{\perp}$.

Corollary 8.3.5. The following hold:

- 1. The structure $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{O}_i$ in the signature $(\land, \lor, (\multimap_n)_{n \in \omega}, 0, 1)$ is an orthomorphicative system so long as all \mathbf{O}_i are.
- 2. The structure $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{O}_i$ is the signature $(\wedge, \vee, \downarrow, 0, 1)$ is a compatible ortholattice so long as all \mathbf{O}_i are.

Proof. By the fact that the images under φ form a subbasis, and by compactness, we know that if A is a clopen subset of an orthospace, it is of the form:

$$A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} \varphi(U^j) - \varphi(V_0^j) - \dots - \varphi(V_k^j)$$

Also we know by definition of the \perp that:

$$A^{\perp} = \bigcap_{j=1}^{n} (\varphi(U^{j}) - \varphi(V_{0}^{j}) - \dots - \varphi(V_{k}^{j})^{\perp})$$

Now by Lemma 8.3.1 and Lemma 8.3.4, together with our hypothesis, we know that for each j:

$$(\varphi(U^j) - \varphi(V_0^j) - \dots - \varphi(V_k^j))^{\perp} = \varphi((U^j - V_0^j - \dots - V_k^j)^{\perp})$$

Hence, that each such is a clopen regular. Hence A^{\perp} is an intersection of clopens, and hence, a clopen. Thus, we have that $\prod_{i \in I} O_i$ is compatible as an ortholattice. Moreover, note that:

$$\varphi(U \multimap_n (V_0, ..., V_n)) = \Box(\varphi(U) \multimap_n \varphi(V_0) \cup ... \cup \varphi(V_n))$$

By Lemma 8.3.4. Hence the implication coincides with the reduct of the WH-implication from the extension of $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{O}_i$, i.e, the product is orthoimplicative.

The second statement follows easily from the above lemmas and a similar argument as the one.